# Drivers and barriers of successful climate commitment development in the fast-food industry

The case of MAX Burgers

# Bairma Damdinova

Supervisor

Matthias Lehner

Thesis for the fulfilment of the Master of Science in Environmental Sciences, Policy & Management (MESPOM) jointly operated by Lund University – University of Manchester -University of the Aegean – Central European University

Lund, Sweden, June 2020

Erasmus Mundus Masters Course in Environmental Sciences, Policy and Management





This thesis is submitted in fulfilment of the Master of Science degree awarded as a result of successful completion of the Erasmus Mundus Masters course in Environmental Sciences, Policy and Management (MESPOM) jointly operated by the University of the Aegean (Greece), Central European University (Hungary), Lund University (Sweden) and the University of Manchester (United Kingdom).

© You may use the contents of the IIIEE publications for informational purposes only. You may not copy, lend, hire, transmit or redistribute these materials for commercial purposes or for compensation of any kind without written permission from IIIEE. When using IIIEE material you must include the following copyright notice: 'Copyright © Bairma Damdinova, IIIEE, Lund University. All rights reserved' in any copy that you make in a clearly visible position. You may not modify the materials without the permission of the author.

Published in 2016 by IIIEE, Lund University, P.O. Box 196, S-221 00 LUND, Sweden, Tel: +46 – 46 222 02 00, Fax: +46 – 46 222 02 10, e-mail: iiie@iiiee.lu.se.

ISSN 1401-9191

# Acknowledgments

Thesis writing has been a tough, sometimes frustrating and challenging, but yet an enlightening, fun, and exciting experience. I would like to thank the immense support of many people who accompanied this journey.

I am enormously grateful to my supervisor Matthias Lehner for clear and critical guidance on the improvement of my research, for helping me establish contacts with the MAX Burgers management team, for always being there to help, and for words of encouragement and motivation. Thank you so much for such a kind and tolerant four-month supervision.

I want to thank the management team at MAX Burgers for your open mindset and willingness to share. I personally thank the Chief Sustainability Officer, Kaj Török, for helping provide all the contacts of people whose knowledge and experience contributed to shaping the research findings. Also, big thanks to the Sustainable Brand Manager, Frida Sjödin, for providing all the needed materials and resources. And to all the interviewees for their willingness to share perceptions and experiences of MAX's climate plan development.

I would also like to thank IIIEE's professors and teachers for always finding time and ways to support our academic endeavours. Special thanks to the group supervision instructions idea and my coordinator, Yuliya Voytenko, for organizing this opportunity and always giving careful comments and suggestions on the directions of each thesis chapter. These collaborative supervision sessions were of immense help that kept me disciplined and progressing on the delivery of each chapter.

My ineffable gratitude goes to the most two supportive persons in my life, my husband Abhimanyu and my mother, Zoya. Without your moral support, unconditional love, patience and care, I would not believe in myself and find the courage to walk this study journey with confidence, a healthy state, and mindfulness. I thank my caring parents-in-law, Meeta and Ashish, for always making sure that I stay encouraged and not feel lonely. And of course, to all my extended Buryat and Indian families for always reaching out to me and reminding that ancestors and guardian angels always protect me wherever I am.

My biggest gratitude goes to the EMJMD Board Committee for granting me the scholarship for two years of studies at MESPOM. This masters study journey was a life-changing experience for me with learning ups and challenging downs. My most profound respect and gratitude go to all of MESPOM's professors and teachers for creating a multi-disciplinary curriculum, providing us with the systems-thinking approach, and equipping us with the best knowledge and skills. Due to MESPOM's broad cultural and multi-background diversity, numerous field trips, and travelling opportunities, I met life-long friends and broadened my knowledge of this beautiful Earth for which we bear the responsibility of care. Thank you to my MESPOM groupmates for accompanying this study journey in Budapest, Mitilini, and Lund, creating great memories together, bringing your authenticity, and sharing your ethnic knowledge through all the discussions, classes, and events.

And finally, thank you to all my friends all over the world for constant support via video calls, zoom meetings, and messages that kept me feel delighted, energetic, and optimistic at this globally vulnerable time.

# Abstract

Despite the fast food industry's significant contribution to climate change, climate action plans are not common practice. Furthermore, there is a lack of academic works devoted to researching climate change issues within the fast-food industry. This thesis project examined the Swedish fast food chain MAX Burgers' involvement with climate responsibility. By applying an internal and external influences framework, this thesis analysed drivers and barriers regarding the development of MAX's climate commitment work. The thesis drew on empirical data from "grey literature" and seven in-depth interviews with MAX Burgers' former and current top management representatives and the company's external consultants on carbon footprint assessment and carbon compensating schemes. The findings suggested that MAX Burgers encountered eight key tipping point-events in its development that influenced and shaped its leadership position that pushes for carbon-reduction in the fast-food industry. Based on the narrative of MAX Burgers' climate responsibility development, the analysed drivers emerging from within the organisation, particularly top management and ethical motives, proved to be the strongest push toward the carbon-reducing initiatives. The external influences, such as the regulatory influence, served as both driving and challenging forces. The lack of clarity in Swedish tax regulations related to carbon offsetting costs challenged MAX Burgers and resulted in a four-year court case. However, driven by the poor governance in combination with the ethical motives "to be a role model" in the market, the fast-food chain contributed to the industry by enabling incentives for spending on voluntary carbon offsetting projects. Other external influences emerging from suppliers, the public, and technological advancements were found to challenge MAX's climate commitment development. Public concerns and criticism raised by Swedish researchers and other stakeholders have steadily been overcome, responded to, and endured by the fast-food chain. The company's transparency and consistent communications on their climate responsibility work gain the trust of their customers and the Swedish nation overall. For other fast-food chains in Sweden, it might be easier to implement the same carbon neutral and positive approach because MAX has already paid its share to change the tax regulations and pushed the market to comply with climate action plan requirements. For policymakers, research implies that there should be a separation between leaders and followers. Therefore, policymakers could create incentives based on the scale of efforts in a climate action plan.

Keywords: fast-food industry, business sustainability, climate action plan, climate responsibility

# **Executive summary**

The impact of food systems on the climate is immense and is estimated to be responsible for between 19-29% of all anthropogenic greenhouse gases (Poore & Nemecek, 2018). This amount accounts for about 9,8–16,9 billion tonnes of CO2e (Vermeulen et al., 2012) and is the third biggest GHG contributor after the transportation and energy sectors (IPCC, 2014; Röös, et al., 2014). The world's economies with their complex systems including governments, industries, and institutions, are urged to transition to low carbon models as fast as possible to keep the global mean temperature rise below 1.5°C relative to pre-industrial levels as recommended by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) in 2018 (IPCC, 2019b).

The Swedish agriculture sector has been estimated to account for a bit more than 13% of national GHG emissions, or 6,79 million tonnes of CO2e in 2018 (Statistics Sweden, 2019). However, eating activities alone were found to be responsible for nearly 19 million tonnes of CO2e (SEPA, 2008). The demand-side of the food sector, for example changing lifestyles and diets to low carbon options, challenge the implementation of carbon mitigation measures (IPCC, 2014). The food production and supply chain represented by suppliers, retailers, and restaurants bears responsibility for climate change mitigation mainly via voluntary, collective actions, activities, and partnerships with other businesses (Brennan & Owende, 2010; Chou, et al., 2016; Gadema & Oglethorpe, 2011; Hutchinson et al., 2012; Pinard et al., 2014b).

However, research and recent media updates show that the fast-food sector's environmental agenda is far from ambitious. The industry either does not include requirements for carbon footprint reduction or fails to develop the realization of claimed carbon reduction targets (Hutchinson, Singh, & Walker, 2012). Instead, the industry drags public and investor attention toward other aspects of environmental performance such as decreasing use of plastic, food waste and water consumption (Hutchinson et al., 2012; Shokri et al., 2014). Academic literature has given very little attention to addressing the fast-food industry's potential to develop GHG emissions reduction plans.

## Aim and research questions

This thesis was devoted to the fast-food industry's potential to develop a climate commitment path. This thesis focused on the Swedish fast-food restaurant chain MAX Burgers (MAX). Founded in 1968 in Sweden, MAX is a domestic family-owned fast-food chain with around 153 restaurants, approximately 6,000 employees worldwide, and a turnover of 330 million euro (MAX Burgers, 2018b). The fast-food chain has been committed to corporate climate action since 2008 and today is a leader in corporate climate action initiatives.

This research aims to explore the successful example of MAX Burgers and analyze drivers and barriers in developing a climate commitment path. The following research question was formulated to achieve the research objective:

RQ: How did MAX Burgers become a leader in the fast-food industry in developing a climate action plan?

## Research design, materials and methods

Thi qualitative research is a single case-study that allows developing a holistic, in-depth understanding (Eisenhardt, 1989; R. K. Yin, 2014) of the successful example of the Swedish fast-food chain MAX Burgers in developing climate commitment.

Informed by the research design, the thesis was approached with a qualitative research method (Creswell, 2007) and followed a mixed research approach (Blaikie & Priest, 2019). To address the thesis problem, the author explored the gap in previous research regarding other food

industry companies' practises in environmental sustainability. Then, the author analyzed the reasons and obstacles for the adoption of the environmental sustainability plan as there is a lack of studies on climate action plan development in the context of fast-food restaurants. Therefore, taking an abductive approach, the researcher assumed that investigated and analyzed motivations and challenges to environmental sustainability apply to the context of the adoption of carbon reduction strategies. Informed by the available theory, the author developed an analytical framework (chapter 2.5) that suggests distinguishing among four internal and seven external areas of influence (figure 2-1). The designed framework assisted the structure of the analysis of drivers and barriers during MAX's climate action plan development.

The thesis case study research primarily relied on two data sources for empirical data collection: semi-structured interviews conducted via the video conferencing software Zoom and document analysis of "grey literature." MAX's operations commenced in 1968 but its early climate commitment action efforts began in the early 2000s. Therefore, the research embraces the period of climate development starting from the 2000s to c.2020. Empirical qualitative data that was collected from the interviews focused on the respondents who worked for MAX Burgers during the last 20 years. As such, target interviewees included key individuals who were directly involved in MAX's climate action plan development. Respondents included former and current employees responsible for corporate sustainability, marketing, communications, and public relations, and operations and external specialists who assisted MAX Burgers with its carbon reduction plan. Thus, seven in-depth semi-structured interviews (appendix 3) were conducted with participants selected via expert sampling with following criteria:

- i. The respondent had a relevant and robust knowledge of MAX's climate commitment history.
- ii. The respondent has or had some level of influence on the decision-making processes for MAX Burgers.
- iii. The respondent currently works or worked with/for MAX Burgers within the last 20 years.

The empirical data as retrieved from grey literature (table 3-1) was chosen on following the mentioned time frame criteria. The target materials were selected based on their relevance to the concepts related to the company's environmental sustainability, sustainable value chain, product development, carbon labelling, climate reduction strategies, carbon footprint assessment, carbon offsetting, climate neutrality, carbon neutrality, and climate positive business.

## Main findings

Research showed that MAX worked to slowly but steadily improve the company's carbon emission work and that the company now advocates for beyond 100% climate neutrality. It has been 12 years of the climate development work for the fast-food chain. MAX has become corporate climate activists within its industry and promotes its carbon positivity, indicating GHG compensation of 10% more of what the fast-food chain already emits. Several critical moments had to be overcome as reported in the thesis (chapter 4 and table below). Climate action plan development is not a steady and smooth path but rather a continuous "roller coaster" ride experience where the company had to overcome stages of failures and difficulties (stages III, V, VI, VII in the table below or chapters 4.3, 4.5, 4.6, 4.7). The eight tipping-point events that were identified in the development process of climate action path by MAX Burgers are depicted in the table below.

1999-2006	I. Precursors of MAX's climate work: maturity, crisis, and time for changes
	- Restaurant business growth and change of management
	- Leadership gap and change in culture
	- Communications and gaining trust
2007-2008	II. The start of MAX's climate commitment work
	- MAX's owners' initiative
	- Establishing partnerships with sustainability consultants
	- Sustainability strategy formation
2007-2009	III. Carbon analysis and the launch of the carbon labelled menu
	- Carbon footprint analysis
	- Acknowledgement of supply chain significance in carbon assessment
	- The lack of customer awareness prevented acceptance of carbon labeled menu.
	- Limited communications and others telling MAX's story
2008-2020	IV. Time of climate commitment development strategy: reduction of carbon emissions
	- The competitive and financial advantage
	- Carbon-reducing activities
2009-2016	V. Climate impact reduction: failure of falafel burger and success of Green Family menu
2008-2018	VI. Climate neutrality and carbon offsetting projects' critique
2014-2018	VII. Court case: the battle for making voluntary carbon offsetting costs tax-deductible for
	Swedish businesses
2018-2020	VIII. Climate positivity and call for joining MAX's path

Table. MAX's climate development path depicted in the timeline.

Source: Author's findings

- The time component was found to be crucial in the research about the fast-food chain's leadership in climate action. From the beginning, MAX was committed to long-lasting climate responsibility. The company's growth, a gain of trust from the public, and solving leadership gaps by changing the company's culture were vital parts of the first efforts for initiating climate action plan. All growth occurred in the context of the company's core values. A clear position on the market and the importance of standing for it proved necessary for achieving the leadership especially when MAX started encountering external barriers emerging first from customers and suppliers and then from academia and regulatory bodies. The company's willingness to engage with these long-term processes, as depicted in table 6-1, to which MAX has committed enormous attention and resources continuously contribute to improvement and have had positive outcomes.
- Areas of influence such as ethical motives, competitiveness, and other external influences were found to constantly drive MAX's climate action plan development. Meanwhile, influences emerging from suppliers, the public, and technological advancements challenged MAX's climate commitment development. However, the areas that were found to both drive and challenge the fast-food chain in climate responsibility were the top management, employees, budget, regulatory influence, and customers.
- MAX relied on its core values and mission "to do the right things for the climate." MAX actively responds to criticism, whether it is raised by academia (chapters 4-6) or the media. Moreover, multistakeholder considerations or willingness to collaborate with research institutions, as mentioned in the literature, served as critical factors in developing corporate climate action (Chou et al., 2012). For example, MAX worked with researchers and several institutions to develop sustainable beef production (R6). MAX organizes stakeholder dialogues to build a basis for decision making for a particular climate-related initiative (Conrad & Thompson, 2013). Thus, as mentioned by all the respondents, the company's principles that emerged from its drivers of ethical considerations and core values such as transparency, sharing knowledge, and proactive communications with customers and the public are critical success factors for MAX's path in climate work development.
- The strongest driver for MAX's climate action development emerged from within the organization, particularly its owners who are also members of the company's board and top

management. It is important that MAX is privately owned, and the owners were willing to be a climate-committed company. The owners made the decisions, and they were aware of all the challenging dynamics the business had to overcome.

- Moreover, existing literature does not distinguish between privately or family-owned businesses and other types of business ownership. This has not been a focus of those researchers. However, this thesis indicates that ownership could be important distinguisher because long-term commitment often requires steady ownership. This implies for the research field that long-term commitment to something (such as climate responsibility) that does not immediately give economic benefits needs ownership that is on board and agrees with this. This research implies that there is a risk with publicly traded companies that have to report quarterly earnings to their shareholders and that there is not enough long-term commitment to climate responsibility.
- The methodological approach to answering the research question started by analysing the tipping point-events that influenced MAX's climate action development. The developmental narrative approach served as the basis for the analysis of drivers and barriers emerging from internal and external influences. This approach also helped identify and classify the drivers and barriers that belong to a particular timeline, simplifying the application of the analytical framework. Moreover, the methodology's clarity in the identification of drivers and barriers might be considered as the advantage of the chosen approach and is recommended for research of organizational changes in sustainability.

### Implications for non-academic audiences

The aspect of time is important. For managers, it is important to understand that setting longterm goals and long-term visions are crucial aspects of climate commitment. For other fast-food chains in Sweden, it might be easier to implement the same carbon neutral and positive approach because MAX has already paved the way by changing the tax regulations and pushing the market to develop climate work. Thus, they could also learn from a local competitor like MAX Burgers. For policymakers, this research implies that there should be a separation between leaders and followers. It is assumed some companies internally set up to lead and others are set up to follow. Therefore, policymakers could create incentives based on the scale of efforts in a climate action plan. Moreover, policymakers should help create new demand for products and services of more sustainable and climate-oriented organizations.

### Recommendations for future research

The thesis aimed to explore the leadership of a fast-food chain in the process of climate commitment via narrating the developmental process of climate action implementation and analysing of internal and externally emerged drivers and barriers. This thesis project could be complemented with a comparative study with more cases selected to provide broader contexts. Potential research also includes considerations of various hierarchy levels of participants, different geographical locations of MAX (for example, Norway, Poland, Denmark), and, perhaps, a broader range of internal and external stakeholders such as suppliers and line managers. Moreover, this research could be followed with quantitative research that could provide more information on the perceived significance of drivers and barriers by a broader range of interview sampling. Additionally, as it has been discussed earlier, the importance of ownership should be investigated for a company's commitment and engagement with issues such as climate action plans.

# **Table of Contents**

ABSTRACTI			
E	XEC	UTIVE SUMMARY	II
Ll	ST C	DF FIGURES	VII
Ll	ST C	DF TABLES	VIII
A	BBRI	EVIATIONS	VIII
1	IN	VTRODUCTION	1
	1.1	FOOD SYSTEMS AND CLIMATE CHANGE	1
	1.2	PROBLEMATISATION	2
	1.3	AIM AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS	4
	1.4	SCOPE AND LIMITATIONS	4
	1.5	AUDIENCE	5
	1.6	ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	5
	1.7	DISPOSITION	6
2	LI	TERATURE REVIEW	7
	2.1	BUSINESS SUSTAINABILITY	7
	2.2	FOOD INDUSTRY SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGIES AND PRACTICES	8
	2.	2.1 Environmental sustainability practices in the fast-food industry	8
	2.3	DRIVERS OF THE FAST-FOOD INDUSTRY'S ENGAGEMENT IN ENVIRONMENTAL COMMITMENT	Т 12
	24	PRACTICES	12
	2.4	13	111
	25	1.5 An analytical framework for identifying drivers and barriers to climate	
	2.9	COMMITMENT DEVELOPMENT	14
3	R	ESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY	19
	3.1	OVERALL RESEARCH DESIGN, PROCESS, AND COMPANY PROFILE	19
	3.2	CASE STUDY RESEARCH	20
	3.	2.1 Case-study design: strengths	20
	3.	2.2 Case-study design: limitations	21
	3.3	METHODS USED TO COLLECT DATA	21
	3.	3.1 Interviews	21
	3.	3.2 Grey literature	22
	3.4	DATA PROCESSING AND DATA ANALYSIS	23
4	FI	NDINGS	24
	4.1	PRECURSORS OF MAX'S CLIMATE WORK: MATURITY, CRISIS AND TIME FOR CHANGES	24
	4.2	THE START OF MAX'S CLIMATE COMMITMENT WORK	26
	4.3	THE CARBON ANALYSIS AND THE LAUNCH OF THE CARBON LABELLED MENU	29
	4.4	TIME OF CLIMATE COMMITMENT DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY: REDUCTION OF CARBON EMISS	IONS
	4.5	52 Climate impact reduction: failure of falafel burger and success of Green Fam	ILY
		MENU	33
	4.6	CLIMATE NEUTRALITY AND CARBON OFFSETTING PROJECTS' CRITIQUE	36
	4.7	COURT CASE: THE BATTLE FOR MAKING VOLUNTARY CARBON OFFSETTING COSTS TAX-	
		DEDUCTIBLE FOR BUSINESSES IN SWEDEN	37
	4.8	CLIMATE POSITIVITY AND URGENT CALL FOR JOINING MAX'S PATH	39

5	ANAL	YSIS OF DRIVERS AND BARRIERS	42
	5.1 INT	ERNAL DRIVERS AND BARRIERS	42
	5.1.1	Top management	42
	5.1.2	Employees	44
	5.1.3	Budget	45
	5.1.4	Ethical motives	45
	5.2 AN	ALYSIS OF EXTERNAL DRIVERS AND BARRIERS	46
	5.2.1	Suppliers	47
	5.2.2	Regulatory influence	47
	5.2.3	Customers	48
	5.2.4	Competitiveness	48
	5.2.5	Public society and media	49
	5.2.6	Technological advancement	51
	5.2.7	External influences: Other external influences emerged from stakeholders, events and conditions	51
6	DISCU	ISSION	53
	6.1 Dr	VERS FOR MAX'S COMMITMENT TO CLIMATE ACTION: THE IMPORTANCE OF LEADERS	нір.53
	6.2 Thi	E IMPORTANCE OF TIME AND TIPPING POINT-EVENTS	54
	6.3 BAH	RIERS TO MAX'S COMMITMENT TO CLIMATE ACTION: PATIENCE IS CRUCIAL TO WIN	
	STA	KEHOLDERS OVER	55
	6.4 Ref	LECTION ON THE METHODOLOGY AND RESULTS OF THE STUDY	56
7	CONC	LUSION	57
	7.1 Rec	COMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	58
В	IBLIOGR	АРНҮ	59
A	PPENDIX SUSTA	X 1. THREE-PART VALUE CHAIN CLASSIFICATION OF ENVIRONMEN INABILITY INITIATIVES IN THE FAST-FOOD SECTOR	TAL 66
	50511		
A	PPENDIX	<b>X 2. OVERVIEW OF INTERVIEW QUESTIONS</b>	68
A	PPENDIX	X 3. LIST OF INTERVIEWED RESPONDENTS	69
A	PPENDIX	<b>X 4. SUPPORTING TERMINOLOGY FOR CODING THE INTERVIEWS FO</b>	OR
	ANAL	YSIS OF AREAS OF INFLUENCE	70

# List of Figures

Figure 1-1. Global greenhouse gas emissions from food systems1
Figure 2-1 Internal and external influences that could drive or challenge corporate climate action. 18
Figure 3-1. MAX Burgers' profile19
Figure 3-2. Thesis project's working stages
Figure 4-1. The model for the change in culture applied for the risk reduction and profit improvement at MAX
Figure 4-2. The Victory model designed by Pär Larshans to reduce risks and improve the business profit
Figure 4-3. Core values of MAX Burgers
VII

Figure 4-4. The Natural Step ABCD model for sustainable business	28
Figure 4-5. MAX and sustainability	28
Figure 4-6. MAX's total climate footprint (scope 1, 2, and 3) expressed as grams ( per 1 USD in sales	CO2e 34
Figure 4-7. MAX's sales trend for red meat meals and non-red meat meals	35
Figure 4-8. MAX's climate work partnership	40
Figure 5-1. Internal areas of influence toward the development of climate action served as a driver and/or barrier.	1 that 46
Figure 5-2. External areas of influence toward the development of climate action served as a driver and/or barrier.	1 that 52

# List of Tables

Table 3-1. The categorised list of materials collected and analysed for the t22	nesis project.
Table 4-1. MAX's GHG-causing activities categorised into the GHG Proto framework.	col's scoping 29
Table 4-2. The categorised list of materials collected and analysed for the ti 41	hesis project.
Table 6-1. MAX's climate development path depicted in timeline.	54

# Abbreviations

CDM – Clean Development Mechanisms
CERs - Certified Emission Reduction units
CO2e – Carbon dioxide equivalents
EU ETS – European Union Emission Trading Scheme
GHG – Greenhouse gas
IPCC – Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
LCA – Life cycle assessment
MAX – MAX Burgers
SBMI – Sustainable business model innovation
TFGB – Trees for Global Benefit
UNFCCC - United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
UNEP – United Nations Environment Programme

# 1 Introduction

## 1.1 Food systems and climate change

A substantial body of research is devoted to the connection between food and climate change; most of this research has been explored from two angles. In one way, the literature views climate change as an impact on food systems. Therefore, the topic of food security is one of the most discussed concerns that analyses the effects on crop yields, the availability and accessibility of food, and the vulnerability of the food supply chain system (FAO, 2016; IPCC, 2019b; Lake et al., 2012; MacMahon et al., 2015; Myers et al., 2017). Another direction studies the impacts of the intensified production and consumption of food on the climate. Increase of production and consumption is primarily driven by rapid human population growth (IPCC, 2019a; World Bank, 2008). Moreover, according to Smith (2013), world production and consumption volumes will increase fourfold by 2030 due to the rise of a consuming middle class (Kharas, 2010). Changes in consumption habits (Pathak et al., 2010), shifts in dietary lifestyles (Stehfest et al., 2009), effects caused by urbanisation on the food system, and income distributions (Gill et al., 2010; Godfray et al., 2010; Harvey & Pilgrim, 2011; Jianyi et al., 2015; Lal, 2016) all substantially drive food production dynamics.

Food systems are the third most significant contributor to climate change after the transport and energy sectors (IPCC, 2014; Röös, Sundberg, & Hansson, 2014). Research suggests that food systems contribute between 19% and 29% of global human-induced greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions; in carbon dioxide equivalents (CO2e), these emissions account for 9,8–16,9 billion tonnes of CO2e (Vermeulen et al., 2012). Researchers estimated that in 2018, food contributed 13.6 billion tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalents, which accounted for 26% (figure 1-1) of that year's total global GHG emissions. The GHG sources in food systems (figure 1-1) vary and include land use (24%), crop production (27%), livestock and fisheries (31%), and supply chains (18%) (Ritchie, 2019).



Figure 1-1. Global greenhouse gas emissions from food systems.

#### Source: Based on data provided by Poore & Nemecek (2018).

Each of the four sources of food emissions (figure 1-1) represents a variety of activities where GHGs occur. The emissions directly accountable to the animal food industry are estimated to

account for 60% of food emissions. The direct GHG sources in animal food include cattle digestion or enteric fermentation in animals, manure management, pasture management, crops for animal feed, land-use change, cultivated organic soils, and Savannah burnings. The 60% figure does not account for emissions generated from activities such as transportation, packaging, retail, and food processing (Poore & Nemecek, 2018; Ritchie, 2019; Röös et al., 2014).

It is evident that human-caused activities, including food systems, represent substantial damage to the climate. However, the global scientific society has asserted that a transition to a low carbon global society may solve the issues arising from climate change. The adoption of the Kyoto Protocol in 1997 was an essential step in resolving global warming issues. However, Protocol's rules do not apply to the business sector, but rather to national states (Chu & Schroeder, 2010). In addition, in 2018, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) urged the world, including governments, industries, and institutions, to transition to low carbon models as quickly as possible to keep the global mean temperature rise below 1.5°C relative to pre-industrial levels (IPCC, 2019b).

Scientists estimated that in 2018, Sweden's agriculture sector accounted for just over 13% of national GHG emissions, or 6,79 million tonnes of CO2e (Statistics Sweden, 2019). However, eating activities were found to be responsible for nearly 19 million tonnes of CO2e (SEPA, 2008). Therefore, the sector has both a significant potential and necessity to advance low carbon transitions. However, this challenge involves a high-level complexities due to slow policy coordination and implementation challenges caused by governance issues (IPCC, 2014). In various degrees, the food supply industry, which is represented by suppliers, retailers, and restaurants, is active in carbon emissions mitigation activities mainly via collective actions and partnerships with other businesses (Chouet et al., 2012; Hutchinson et al., 2012; Pinard et al., 2014a). However, consumption components or the demand-side of the food sector (changing lifestyles, diets to low-carbon options) make it challenging to implement carbon mitigation measures (IPCC, 2014). It also drives the food supply industry to seek ways to reduce carbon emissions via voluntary initiatives and leadership (Brennan & Owende, 2010; Gadema & Oglethorpe, 2011).

To conclude, businesses in the food industry must take responsibility for contributing to climate change solutions. Food businesses have previously made individual efforts in implementing carbon reduction initiatives but certainly lack guidance, means and clear understanding on the ways of its achievements (Shokri et al., 2014). By advancing the available knowledge on the development and adoption of climate mitigation measures in the food industry, businesses will be able to implement low-carbon transition plans sooner.

## 1.2 Problematisation

Fast food has become an integral part of today's busy culture as it provides cheap food that is quickly served and meets the tastes of various customers. Fast food restaurants are also often conveniently located in both highly populated urban areas and their outskirts. Thus, the accessibility of fast food makes it even more preferable for a broad category of consumers in comparison to sit-down restaurants (Chou et al., 2012; FAO, 2018; Garza et al., 2016; Krishna & Somavarapu, 2017). With a global rise in population, especially among the middle- and low-income classes, the fast-food market is predicted to grow and reach 691 billion USD globally in 2022 (Zion Market Research, 2018). Besides, increased opportunities to eat out and increased passions for socialising are also drivers of consumer choices for fast food options (Chou et al., 2012; Garza et al., 2016; Krishna et al., 2017). Meanwhile, in the last few decades, the global scientific society has widely debated negative impacts linked to the fast-food industry, including

animal welfare, healthy diets, and environmental protection (Pinard et al., 2014a; Revell & Blackburn, 2007b; Vu et al., 2017). Such debates consequently raise people's awareness of negative impacts of the fast-food industry and enables them to make more conscious food choices (Campbell-Arvai et al., 2014; de Boer et al., 2007). As such, consumer purchasing behaviours have gradually shifted toward sustainable products and services (Jang et al., 2011; Perramon et al., 2014).

The fast-food industry has contributed to issues of deforestation, food waste, and plastic pollution (West, 2019) and has a tremendous carbon footprint (Busby, 2019; McGrath, 2019; Scott, 2019). The fast-food industry intensely depends on animal agriculture and dairy products, sectors that emit the highest portion of global GHG emissions alongside the transport and energy sectors. However, the fast-food industry has predominantly failed to account for carbon emissions reductions in its environmental agenda (Andersen et al., 2014; Busby, 2019; McGrath, 2019; Peters et al., 2010; Röös et al., 2014; Scott, 2019; Thornton et al., 2009). As a response, sometime in the early 21st century many food companies gradually started implementing environmental initiatives to get access to new market segments and achieve a competitive advantage (Han et al., 2011; Kincaid et al., 2010; Kleemann & Murphy-Bokern, 2014).

Following this trend, in January 2019, 80 large investors urged fast-food chain giants like McDonald's, Restaurant Brands International (who owns Tim Hortons, Burger King, and Popeyes), Yum Brands (which represents KFC, PizzaHut, Taco Bell, WingStreet, and The Habit Burger Grill) and Starbucks to develop carbon reduction plans (Busby, 2019; McGrath, 2019; Scott, 2019). As outlined by Hutchinson et al. (2012), recent research and media updates have shown that the environmental agenda of the fast-food sector is far from being ambitious. Fastfood businesses either do not include requirements for carbon footprint reduction or fail to develop the realisation of carbon reduction targets (Hutchinson et al., 2012). The fast-food industry drags public and investor attention about its environmental performance toward other aspects such as decreasing plastic, food waste, and water consumption (Hutchinson et al., 2012; Shokri et al., 2014). In other words, almost no efforts have been made so far by the global fastfood sector to reduce its carbon emissions (Chou et al., 2012; Folk, 2018; Hutchinson et al., 2012; Shokri et al., 2014). According to a literature review conducted by the researcher, academic literature gives little attention to addressing the fast-food industry's potential to develop a GHG emissions reduction plan. As such, this thesis explored the growing evidence on climate change issues linked to the fast-food industry via an analysis of its drivers and barriers.

The case of MAX Burgers. This thesis focuses on the case of the Swedish fast-food restaurant chain MAX Burgers (MAX). Founded in 1968 in Sweden, MAX is a domestic family-owned fast-food chain with 153 restaurants, approximately 6,000 worldwide employees, and a turnover of 330 million euros (MAX Burgers, 2018b). The company has been committed to corporate climate action since 2008 when MAX attempted to assess the total GHG emissions of its food production from farm to table. Then, the company followed by carbon labelling the menu, continuously reducing carbon emissions, and practicing 100% carbon offsetting. Ten years later, MAX went beyond its carbon neutrality by launching a new concept of a carbon positive business. Under the carbon positivity plan, the company indicated a GHG compensation commitment of 10% beyond what the company already emits. Today, the company advocates for climate reduction importance in the fast-food industry and beyond by urging other businesses to become climate positive. MAX Burgers is the only fast-food chain in the world that compensates its GHG emissions more than it emits (Piccard, 2019; Sustainable Brands, 2018; UNFCCC, 2019). The company has been the subject of academic research, especially in the field of corporate social sustainability management (Grebe et al., 2013), sustainable communications (Ohlsson & Riihimäki, 2015), effects of carbon labelling menu (Babakhani et al., 2020), social sustainability (Bohman et al., 2013), and transformative business sustainability (Wagner & Svensson, 2014). As MAX also urges other businesses to join their carbon mitigation path, it puts extra efforts to be as transparent and open as possible. Such a position enabled the accessibility of the company's representatives for this research project.

# 1.3 Aim and research questions

This research aimed to explore the successful example of MAX Burgers and map drivers and barriers for businesses in the food industry and beyond in developing climate commitment paths. The Swedish self-declared "carbon positive" fast-food chain MAX Burgers served as a case study to achieve this objective. The following research question was formulated to guide the research objective:

RQ: How did MAX Burgers become a leader in the fast-food industry in developing a climate action plan?

## 1.4 Scope and limitations

This thesis is a single case study based on the Swedish fast-food chain MAX Burgers' development of a carbon reduction commitment. Thus, the focal attention of the research was an analysis of the key events, policy changes, management decisions, and other details that have assisted MAX Burgers' development from being a traditional fast-food company with no climate action plan to becoming a leader focused on carbon reduction responsibility.

As the central research question of this study sought to understand the company's carbon emission reduction commitment, the focus of the empirical research was the motivations and drivers for the company as well as the challenges and barriers experienced while developing the MAX Burgers climate action plan.

MAX Burgers first initiated its climate action efforts in the early 2000s. Therefore, the research embraced the period of climate development from the early 2000s to 2020.

The empirical qualitative data included data collected via interviews with respondents who worked for MAX Burgers during the last 20 years. As such, target interviewees included the key individuals that were directly involved in the development of MAX Burgers climate action plan. Interviewees included former and current employees responsible for corporate sustainability, marketing, communications, public relations, and operations. Other interviewees included external specialists who assisted in the development of the MAX Burgers' carbon reduction plan. Seven in-depth semi-structured interviews were conducted with participants selected via expert sampling with the following criteria:

- i. The respondent had relevant and robust knowledge of MAX's climate commitment history.
- ii. The respondent had some level of influence on decision-making processes for MAX Burgers.
- iii. The respondent currently works for or worked with MAX Burgers within the last 20 years.

Appendix 3 provides a list of interviewees and descriptions of the background profiles of each respondent. The empirical data that was retrieved from grey literature have also been chosen on following the mentioned time frame criteria. The target materials were selected on the basis of their relevance to the concepts related to the company's environmental sustainability, sustainable value chain, product development, carbon labelling, climate reduction strategies, carbon footprint assessment, carbon offsetting, climate neutrality, carbon neutrality, and climate positive business.

Regarding delimitations, the thesis only covered the Swedish context and focused on a particular time, meaning that memory or documentation of events in the past might be deficient. The thesis research lacked the contribution of MAX Burgers' head chef and product developer, which may have provided insight into the area of low carbon food supply for the MAX Green Family menu. Furthermore, the data could be analysed by several researchers to reduce the researcher's bias.

# 1.5 Audience

The research conducted for this thesis potentially has several audience groups.

Firstly, as the Mistra Sustainable Consumption research programme inspired the thesis topic, the organisation may be interested in the thesis as it implicitly facilitated the research project.

Secondly, the findings and results may be essential for researchers conducting studies on low carbon transitions and the management of businesses that centralise their operations on transitions to carbon emission reductions. Also, the thesis might be interesting for researchers whose interests include topics of food supply, consumption governance, carbon reduction strategies, and organisational change management.

Thirdly, the results of the thesis may serve as a set example for businesses considering adopting strategies to reduce carbon emissions as it represents a big challenge for a wide variety of companies of different sectors and sizes. Moreover, the thesis also showcases a successful case of a growing company while retaining its environmental sustainability credentials in reducing its climate footprint. Therefore, it would be a valuable source for those companies challenged with meeting their sustainability goals due to continuous growth.

Additionally, the thesis results may also interest policymakers as they face challenges in decision making regarding achieving the carbon reduction goals set by various global and national public documents and agreements. The thesis may serve as a practical example for policymakers on how to encourage businesses to step in a path of achieving their climate goals without compromising business interests.

Certainly, MAX Burgers itself may be interested in this research as the company will learn about its climate commitment path from a developmental and influential perspective. This perspective will allow for a better understanding of how this climate commitment has come about and, thus, will potentially guide future decisions on climate-related activities.

Finally, a full range of professionals including sustainability experts, consultants, analysts, and specialists could also benefit from thesis research as it showcases the practical experience of a company's changes to becoming a low carbon fast-food company.

# 1.6 Ethical considerations

Honesty and personal integrity. This thesis is a project inspired by the Mistra Sustainable Consumption research programme. However, the research received no research funds. As such, the thesis author only followed the guidance of research directions delivered by the thesis supervisor. The supervisor, in turn, directly interacted with the Mistra Sustainable Consumption, and the thesis author had no direct interaction with the organisation. Additionally, the thesis author ensured that apart from the thesis supervisor, no outside parties were able to influence the analysis and conclusions.

*Ethical responsibilities to the subjects of research, such as consent, confidentiality, and courtesy.* The respondents' participation in the thesis research was entirely voluntary. All respondents who participated in the study consented to disclose their names in the thesis as well as citing their perceptional contributions to the research. All the participants agreed on having their names disclosed in the study. However, for space-saving purposes and reader-friendly representation of the thesis results, the author used shortened versions of references in the text by citing the interviewees as the "respondent N" where N is the assigned letter to a respondent based on the order of interviews.

*Ethics regarding the outcomes of the research.* The thesis author assures that none of the results or conclusions have the intention to harm the reputation, dignity, or privacy of MAX Burgers and its employees.

*Handling, storing, and/or making data records available.* The thesis does not include sensitive data provided by any of the respondents. Interview transcripts and recordings are stored on HappyScribe's servers under an agreement that guarantees accordance with the General Data Protection Regulation.

Research design has been reviewed against the criteria for research requiring an ethics board review at Lund University and has been found not to require a statement from the ethics committee.

## 1.7 Disposition

*Chapter 1* introduces the background of the thesis and states the problem addressed in the study. The content then presents the aim, intended research questions to be answered by the end of the research, and its scope and delimitations. It also provides a thesis outline, describes the potential audience, and discusses the ethical considerations of research.

*Chapter 2* presents an analysis of relevant academic literature and outlines the main gaps in the topic's research field. It also presents an analytical framework applied to the data analysis.

*Chapter 3* presents the research design, the nature of materials used for research, and methods chosen for answering the research questions and processing and analysing the data.

*Chapter 4* delivers the main findings and results of the study narrating the key events that served as tipping points for MAX Burgers' climate action development path. Findings were retrieved from empirical data such as participant interviews and a "grey literature" content analysis.

*Chapter 5* provides an analysis of the drivers and barriers based on the narrative provided in chapter 4 and structured in accordance with the analytical framework as outlined in chapter 2.

*Chapter 6* provides a critical discussion of the results. It also presents a reflection on the approached thesis methodology for answering the research question.

*Chapter 7* briefly concludes the main ideas made during the research, provides an explanation of the importance of the insights derived, and finally outlines areas for future research.

# 2 Literature review

This chapter aims to identify the previous research regarding the topics of business sustainability, environmental responsibility and strategies, and practices in food and fast-food industries as well as literature that seeks to explore the barriers and drivers of businesses to commit to climate impact reduction responsibility. In the end, the chapter suggests an analytical framework for identifying drivers and barriers to climate responsibility development.

### 2.1 Business sustainability

The business sector has been recognised as an essential contributor in the move to a more sustainable future. Since the 20th century, society has been gradually realising its responsibility toward the environment as human-caused impacts have been found to drive climate change and global warming and lead to other environmental damages such as loss of habitat and biodiversity (Hutchinson et al., 2012). Impacts from unsustainable practices of industries and businesses are immense and include air pollution, plastic pollution, food waste, and deforestation as well as exploitative working practices (Long et al., 2018). As the awareness for the need for sustainability is growing, many companies are beginning to acknowledge the interconnectedness of corporate success with meeting commitments to the economy, society, and especially the environment (Raworth, 2017; Rockström et al., 2009).

No single overarching understanding of business or corporate sustainability has been established to guide companies to define sustainability management within their operations. Yet, there are various approaches toward business sustainability due to the diversity of business types, sizes, supplied products, and services. Thus, every business's consideration of sustainability varies.

The very first mentioning of sustainability and the most widely accepted definition of sustainability has been given in the Brundtland Report prepared by the United Nations in 1987 which referred to it as "the development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs" (Brundtland, 1987; Hitchcock & Willard, 2009). This definition served as an orientation to business sustainability. The Institute for Sustainability has a slightly different definition of business sustainability that suggests a company's improvements in productivity and in the reduction of used resources should not jeopardise the quality of a product or service, competitiveness, and profitability while fulfilling the obligation to save the environment (Institute for Sustainability, n.d.). The Swedish Ministry of Enterprise and Innovation (2017), however, defined business sustainability from an innovation angle where business sustainability is a state of mind that drives companies to use innovation for contributing to sustainable consumption and production that improves a company's competitiveness, and to design solutions to tackle the challenges encountered by the whole society in a broad interaction. Furthermore, Smith (2013) found corporate sustainability as a set of business efforts intended to create values for economic, environmental, and social aspects of a business by being transparent and involving stakeholders in decision-making processes. Even though there are many definitions of corporate sustainability, they all agree on the need for contributing to society's prosperity and environmental conservation while gaining economic benefits.

As this thesis concentrates on the food industry's development of climate-related commitment or the ways food companies transition to sustainability and carbon reduction, the researcher found that academic literature barely covers this topic. The topic is being slightly discussed within the research of the environmental aspect of sustainability management. Environmental sustainability includes the processes in the company that enable it to reduce its environmental impacts (Jang, 2016; Szuchnicki, 2009; Tzschentke et al., 2008). Thus, the next subsection will discuss the environmental strategies and practices implemented within the food industry.

## 2.2 Food industry sustainability strategies and practices

The environmental strategies that aim at reducing GHG emissions in the food industry context of sustainability have not been clearly presented in literature but rather are covered under various concepts. Fields with existing research on the topic include sustainable practices (Vu et al., 2017), sustainability initiatives (Hutchinson et al., 2012), green practices (Chou et al., 2012; Perramon et al., 2014), environmental innovation strategies (Chou et al., 2012; Krozer, 2008), and environmentally friendly practices (Choi & Parsa, 2007).

Existing research suggests that companies usually integrate sustainability practices into policies that guide operations, production processes, and overall company management for improved environmental performance (Chou et al., 2012; Lefebvre et al., 2003; Noci & Verganti, 1999). In addition, available studies suggest companies to adopt and implement sustainable practices in a structured manner. Hu et al. (2010) referred to the international non-profit organisation, the Green Restaurant Association (GRA), whose guidelines assist restaurants in reducing their environmental impacts and improve their operational efficiency. The GRA's certification guidelines suggest the following seven considerations when greening restaurants: energy, water, waste, food, disposables, chemicals, building, and employee education (Hu et al., 2010). Restaurants' environmental sustainability can also be measured in indicators that analyse the progress of achieving a specific environmental goal (Freeman, 2011). Legrand et al. (2010) and Freeman (2011) developed restaurant sustainability indicators and found that the top four restaurant sustainability indicators include energy, water, waste, and food sources. Other indicators include building design, corporate social responsibility, plastics, paper, furniture, and fixings (Freeman, 2011; Legrand et al., 2010). Research conducted by Schubert et al. (2010) found that restaurants can engage in three major categories of sustainable practices: (1) green action, including energy, water, recycling, pollution prevention, and green building construction; (2) green foods, including organic and locally sourced; (3) green donation, including engaging in community events and contributing to green projects. However, Szuchnicki (2009) conducted a study of 28 restaurants' perceptions of what sustainability attributes they considered would be necessary for their customers. The study concluded that the most crucial restaurant operation practices for customers are those that promote conservation, the use of organic materials, and carbon footprint reduction. However, what has been found missing in the explored concepts and approaches is the driving idea around environmental sustainability management directed at tackling climate change issues; i.e. carbon-reducing elements throughout a company's value chain.

## 2.2.1 Environmental sustainability practices in the fast-food industry

The existing available scientific research is dominated by discussions on the sectors' tendency to serve healthier meals with lower fats, oils, and sugar as well as activities to enhance social wellbeing of the staff and communities (Currie et al., 2010; Jeffery et al., 2006; Stender et al., 2007). However, literature on the environmental sustainability practices of the fast-food sector is limited. Several studies have analysed environmental sustainability in the fast-food industry. These are studies conducted by Hutchinson et al. (2012), Pinard et al. (2014), Shokri et al. (2014), and Vu et al. (2017).

It is important to note that restaurants do not approach climate-related commitment as a comprehensive strategy for business operations. Environmental practices in the restaurant and fast-food industry are usually voluntary initiatives presented as single-aspect projects that focus

on a specific practice within restaurant operations, for example, energy-saving measures in the restaurants, water conservation, or plastic use reduction (Perramon et al., 2014). The examples presented in the following section represent single activities, practices, and strategies operating at a project scale rather than a companywide scale.

Tim Hortons is a large Canadian fast-food chain that specialises in doughnuts and coffee. Hutchinson et al. (2012) assessed the company's sustainability practices. They concluded that Tim Hortons lacked to specify its sustainability goals progress, which is challenging to evaluate. Tim Hortons made sustainability commitments such as reduction of carbon emissions in a corporate responsibility statement but then failed to report on their progress toward those goals. As a result, Hutchinson et al. (2012) recommended Tim Hortons to track the company's carbon footprint in a more thorough and detailed manner. Another research study conducted by Shokri and his colleagues (2014) evaluated the environmental sustainability initiatives of a wide range of local and national businesses involved in the fast-food supply chain in the UK that differed by size and type. The evaluation involved the fast-food industry's supplies, production, distribution, and sales that were divided into 3 clusters depending on the sustainability knowledge and its practice. Overall, companies possess some knowledge on the importance of sustainability but considerbly lack practicing it. The paper discussed the importance of GHG emissions considerations but concluded that it is challenging specifically for the fast-food sector due to the complex nature of the supply chain. Pinard et al. (2014) analysed the implementation of sustainable food practices by the top 20 chain restaurants in the United States. The main finding concluded that recent increases in public interest around the advantages of sustainable food practices caused a boom of programs with the concept of "farm where you are" among fast-food chains. The practices they analysed are related not only to food sourcing but procurement, marking, and the quality of food. Another study conducted by Vu and colleagues (2017) investigated the level of business sustainability of a fast-food company in the UK that has more than 700 restaurants in the country and serves around 12 million consumers daily in 109 countries. Thus, for addressing environmental issues in the UK, this fast-food company created an internal policy that encourages conservation of natural resources, recycling and source reduction as well as pollution control to ensure cleaner air and water and to reduce landfill wastes. However, the company's policy did not include GHG gas emissions considerations.

The environmental commitment practices in the fast-food industry that have been found in four research papers have been analysed below following the three-part model framework developed by Chkanikova and Mont (2011). This framework helps analyse the current state of the fast-food sector regarding the sustainability commitment practices and define the classification on the basis of the three value chain streams: (I) upstream from the suppliers, (II) in-house activities by the restaurant, and (III) downstream initiatives.

Among practices found in the literature that are implemented by fast-food businesses, the (I) activities of the first stream in the value chain applied to suppliers include decisions related to three areas (appendix 1). The first area is addressed in the requirements of ingredients, products, or materials. Companies usually apply "sourcing locally" policies in these instances (Shokri et al., 2014) or implement "farm where you are" concept programs (Hutchinson et al., 2012; Pinard et al., 2014b). Some companies practice food supply chain traceability to ensure that products were raised sustainably (Pinard et al., 2014b). A second area of practice was related to requirements in packaging material, which is evaluated to ensure correct sizing, weight, and packing efficiency. Or, businesses decide to purchase packaging with certain properties (such as reusable properties) that eventually help reduce costs (Hutchinson et al., 2012) or that are produced from 100% renewable and sustainable sources, 100% recyclable, biodegradable, and made in the country of operation (Vu et al., 2017). The last area covers decisions regarding the

implementation of internal management, policies, or protocols by a supplier. Several practices fall in this category, including: monitoring suppliers' internal codes of conduct; selecting suppliers by looking at key performance indicators of pest control, sanitation, operations and facility management, good manufacturing practices and product protection, recovery and food security system; testing a supplier's food safety and security practices; and looking for outstanding performance in the quality control of suppliers' management processes (Vu et al., 2017). Some companies require their suppliers to follow international environmental standards such as ISO 14000 (Shokri et al., 2014).

Sustainability practices of the second stream in the value chain of Chkanikova and Mont's (2011) three-part model framework (point II) include initiatives implemented by fast-food businesses within their operational scope, or simply put, direct in-house sustainability practices (see table 1-1). First, some companies develop and impose internal environmental policies or a set of rules that navigate actions to reduce climate impacts from various sources such as energy use efficiency. Academic researchers explored many measures that could be applied to the optimisation of energy use. For example, companies train their employees to use equipment only when required and remind employees to assure that equipment is switched off when not in use. Fast-food chains also try to install energy-saving technologies in restaurants (Shokri et al., 2014; Vu et al., 2017) such as variable-speed air compressors, industrial battery chargers for forklifts, and high-performance energy-efficient lighting. Companies also use large fans on ceilings to circulate heat and cooling, on-demand water heaters, variable-speed drives on some larger motors, and modified conveyors that only operate when required (Hutchinson et al., 2012). Second, some companies have implemented transportation policies regarding in-house sustainability practices. Fast-food companies have reduced the maximum speed of on-site vehicles, introduced anti-idling policies for all on-site vehicles that allow reducing petrol consumption and carbon emissions (Hutchinson et al., 2012), and implemented efficient route planning (Shokri et al., 2014). Third, some fast-food companies have addressed water use in their environmental practices, such as training the staff to use water responsibly (Vu et al., 2017). Restaurants have also installed consumption-reducing equipment. For example, dedicated fondant chillers reduce water per kilogram of coffee production (Hutchinson et al., 2012). Fourth, many fast-food restaurants committed to reducing their waste by switching from cardboard cartons to paper-based packaging materials (Vu et al., 2017) and by boosting recycling programs by classifying wastes and providing different disposal bins in restaurants (Pinard et al., 2014; Vu et al., 2017). Also, the giant fast-food company in the UK practices transferring leftovers from palm oil, animal fats, waste products into biofuel to power the vehicles that deliver company products to stores. For this purpose, the fast-food business conduct annual internal waste audits to identify waste streams and opportunities for reduction, reuse, and diversion of waste (Vu et al., 2017). In developed countries where deposit-return programs are available, restaurants participate for branded beverage containers and collect used coffee cups for a diversion program (Hutchinson et al., 2012). Fifth, some practices are aimed to promote sustainable building design so that restaurants can register for certification in Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) (Hutchinson et al., 2012). Hutchinson et al. (2012), however, recommended calculating the total GHG emissions covering the impacts of the entire supply chain of the fast-food business. It has been found that many organisations only account for those emissions covered by in-house operations.

The downstream (III) or third stream of Chkanikova and Mont's (2011) value chain (appendix 1) includes the practices that fast-food businesses apply toward their customers and local institutions. Researchers have found that some restaurants (1) encourage their guests to separate the waste such as leftover food and packaging (Vu et al., 2017); (2) annually publish sustainability reports on their websites (Hutchinson et al., 2012; Vu et al., 2017); or (3) motivate customers to

reduce the use of disposable hot drink cups by offering a 10-cent discount on travel mug refills (Hutchinson et al., 2012).

Overall, an analysis of sustainability practices among fast-food businesses showed that most of the implemented initiatives in the fast-food industry are concentrated in stream II as identified by Chkanikova and Mont (2011) or "in-house" within the scope of the company's operations. However, it became more evident for many companies that a business should achieve sustainability across its entire supply chain (Shokri et al., 2014) that accounts for both direct impacts caused by the company's operations and the indirect impacts that originated from the upstream suppliers (Smith, 2013). Moreover, two analysed studies addressed the assessment of supply chain of the companies (Shokri et al., 2014; Vu et al., 2017), and two other studies considered supply chain involvement when requiring local sourcing of materials for a restaurant's operations (Hutchinson et al., 2012; Pinard et al., 2014b). The life cycle of fast-food restaurants' goods and services in the entire value-chain has to be considered when identifying critical aspects that form a company's sustainability (Smith, 2013). Due to the supply chain's complexity and fragmentation, life cycle assessment (LCA) was found to be the most challenging task for the fast-food industry (Shokri et al., 2014).

The author's finding of the literature review is that practices of carbon footprint assessment in the overall analysed practices were poorly identified. The issue of GHG emissions was mentioned in four studies (Hutchinson et al., 2012; Pinard et al., 2014 Shokri et al., 2014; Vu et al.; 2017) in three contexts. The first context was the approval of certification for the design of low-energy buildings (Vu et al., 2017). The second context was establishing a sustainability program; however, Hutchinson et al. (2012) pointed out that the fast food industry failed to implement transparent and consistent sustainability plans. And in the third context the fast-food chains were determined to have regular checking procedures as a measure for the reduction of GHG emissions (Shokri et al., 2014). In the research conducted by Hutchinson et al. (2012), the carbon footprint assessment was mentioned as one of the environmental initiatives implemented by a studied fast-food chain. But still, they criticised the chain for inconsistency between the company's claim of reducing its total carbon footprint and the company's opposite result of increased emissions over the year. Hutchinson et al. also pointed at the absence of guidance for the consumer as the carbon footprint was not reported per product. Besides, the calculation of GHG emissions did not include indirect impacts in the assessment but only included the impact within the scope of its operations. Therefore, the company was advised to assess its carbon footprint "in a more detailed fashion so that the next time one joins the line at a fast-food restaurant's drive-thru, for example, they would be conscious of how that may affect rising ocean levels and ultimately the health of our planet" (Hutchinson et al., 2012, p. 529). To conclude, it is evident that the environmental sustainability practices implemented by fast-food restaurants require a fresh view that will allow businesses to benefit by improving their environmental performance (Chou et al., 2012; Revell & Blackburn, 2007).

Thus, this thesis literature review concludes that the carbon footprint assessment is recognised as an essential tool for sustainability improvement. However, the existing literature lacks sufficient research on the business practice for climate change mitigation. Therefore, this thesis had an opportunity for an in-depth analysis of the potential motivations, drivers, challenges, and barriers to adopting practices for reducing carbon emissions and transitioning to business promoting climate commitment development in the fast-food industry.

The analysis of academic literature also found that the available research lacks analysis of the developmental perspective of a fast-food business adoption of environmental sustainability with the focus on climate mitigation. As such, the thesis fills this gap by exploring the climate

commitment development path of MAX Burgers (chapter 4) from the perspective of drivers and barriers (chapter 5).

# 2.3 Drivers of the fast-food industry's engagement in environmental commitment practices

Generally, restaurant businesses are influenced by external or social pressures to adopt environmental sustainability strategies. It should be evident that the legitimation or the desire of an organisation to comply with governmental regulations should be a primary reason as it is claimed to be for regular businesses (Bansal & Roth, 2000; Kim, 2009; Perramon et al., 2014; Zailani et al. 2012). However, research has found that regulations do not heavily require restaurants to reduce their environmental impacts (Chou et al., 2012; Jang, 2016; Revell & Blackburn, 2007). For that reason, academic researchers suggest that providing incentives would be an essential driver to encourage restaurants to implement environmental sustainability innovation practices (Ayuso, 2007; Bohdanowicz, 2005; Chou et al., 2012). Further, restaurant businesses claim that the influence of customers and public concerns is the critical driver for engagement in environmental sustainability practices (Bansal & Roth, 2000; Jang, 2016; Perramon et al., 2014). For example, when people decide to keep up with health-oriented trends, they shift their dietary choices toward healthy products and services (Jang et al., 2011; Longart, 2010; Perramon et al., 2014). This shift could induce restaurants to consider new market opportunities (Hoffman, 2005a) by implementing green strategies.

Nevertheless, Chou et al. (2012) found that social influences like external pressures (customers), internal pressures (shareholders), and networks (counterparts) have little influence on restaurants' intention to start green practices. But rather, top management's attitude toward green practices, sufficient budgets to implement measures, management accepting innovative ideas, and management's cooperation with research and environmental institutions were discovered to significantly impact the intention of a restaurant business to adopt green practices (Chou et al., 2012; Jang, 2016). Indeed, the results of the study conducted by Choi and Parsa (2007) proved that restaurant managers have higher preferences for and involvement in green practices. Moreover, driven by managers motivations, such practices do not tend to influence the menu prices increase (Choi & Parsa, 2007). The drivers of restaurants moving to environmental practices in the available literature vary from one study to another, possibly due to the studies' sampling scope that considers restaurant businesses of various sizes and geographical and political contexts (Chu & Schroeder, 2010). What can undeniably be a nature of business logic to accept the idea of shifting to environmentally sustainable practices is improving profitability. That is realised by three possible ways (Bansal & Roth, 2000; Jang, 2016; Kim, 2009). First, profit can be made from reducing costs by taking resource efficiency measures (Chou et al., 2012; Perramon et al., 2014). Second, diversifying income streams by designing new products for markets, promoting themselves as an "eco-friendly" company and thus, attracting more clients can additionally create profit. And third, managing risks and possible threats from both internal and external pressures caused by various stakeholders such as employees, customers, the media, and governments can reduce losses. Risk management, in turn, drives organisational changes and the implementation of different practices as having legal compliance procedures, codes of conduct, and other types of responses that aim to prevent reputational calamity (Perramon et al., 2014).

Additionally, in the existing literature, drivers that lead to sustainable business model innovations (SBMI) are asserted to be different from those that drive products or process innovation and the adoption of environmental and green practices. Long et al. (2018) found SBMI involves changes to a firm's foundational values and is often radical and transformative with profound implications. Moreover, the literature of business models for sustainability

discusses additional factors that assist the driving forces to a faster transition to more sustainability. These factors include collaboration, a clear narrative and vision, continuous innovation, a foundation of sustainability, a necessity for profitability, and serendipitous external events (Long, Looijen, & Blok, 2018).

Due to the absence of obligations under the Kyoto Protocol and national regulations to reduce GHG emissions, not many companies are proactive in the reduction of climate change risks and are able to take advantage of opportunities from repositioning to climate-oriented activities (Chu & Schroeder, 2010). The early corporate initiatives that aimed to reduce GHG emissions have been argued to serve as strategies to elevate the corporate reputation (Hoffman, 2005). For example, Greenpeace criticized McDonald's in Denmark on the compensation of costly protests on the use of refrigerants that contain freon and hydrofluorocarbons, which contribute to global warming. The fast-food company, together with activists, policy experts, suppliers, and partners, organised a "refrigeration summit" that raised the topic of less-polluting activities. As a result, in 2003, a fast-food restaurant in Denmark announced that they were first in the sector that started using refrigerants without elements harming the climate. However, it seems that this action was just the reaction of one company toward locally-raised criticism. Would companies implement any climate-related strategies without public pressure? From a wide perspective, drivers explicitly related to the implementation of GHG reduction strategies have been discussed in the works of Hoffman (2005, 2006), Kim (2009), Okereke (2007), and Chu and Schroeder (2012). Their studies suggest that the top three motivations to implement climaterelated strategies were implications for increasing a company's profitability, influential regulations, and an enhanced corporate reputation (Hoffman, 2005, 2006; Kim, 2009; Okereke, 2007). Okereke (2007) listed five drivers to corporate climate action: (1) energy prices, (2) market shifts, (3) regulatory directives, (4) investor pressure, and (5) technological change. Another study conducted by Chu and Schroeder (2012) found that the three most influential drivers for big corporations to engage with climate action activities are enhancing competitive advantages, reputations, and senior management leadership. For small and medium-sized companies, legislative requirements and supply chain requirements were found to be the most significant drivers (Chu & Schroeder, 2010).

# 2.4 Barriers to the fast-food industry's commitment to environmental sustainability

Institutional theory literature and academic works on innovations widely discuss the factors that inhibit businesses to transition toward sustainability. The fast-food sector has not granted sustainability prompt attention due to the absence of enforcement from policymakers and local authorities (Shokri et al., 2014b), scarce and intermittent green supply chain, non-existent trade pressure (Kasim & Ismail, 2012), and low push from the customer side. The latter is claimed to be due to resistance in accepting the connection between meat consumption and climate change (Kasim & Ismail, 2012; Macdiarmid et al., 2016) or the prevalence of non-green consumers (Graça et al., 2014; Holm & Møhl, 2000). An empirical study on the Taiwanese restaurant industry conducted by Chou et al. (2012) found that restaurants were more willing to change their business models to align with healthy diets, vegetarianism, and wellness than with green or environmental philosophies. Also, another study showed that economic crises and sociotechnical systems associated with the studied sector are commonly not supportive in the business model innovation transition (Long et al., 2018).

In the case of smaller and medium-size fast-food businesses that volunteer initiatives to commit to sustainability, they also encounter specific obstacles, especially related to the supply chain network and internal factors, according to Shokri et al. (2014). In comparison to food retailing, the fast-food supply chain is more complex and has a decentralised supply network because it usually does not have distribution centres. Therefore, it is not able to implement and impose its own distribution policies and strategies. Additionally, the complexity of the fast-food supply chain is related to the various importance, prevalence, and balance between economic, environmental, and social characteristics and the different levels of the chain represented between suppliers and businesses in that chain (Aarnio et al., 2008; Shokri et al., 2014). Besides, a lack of environmental sustainability awareness and competence and environmental illiteracy are often principal barriers in performing integration of environmental initiatives among small and medium-sized businesses (Kasim & Ismail, 2012; Revell & Blackburn, 2007). Additionally, while environmental initiatives require high financial capacities, the majority of fast-food companies in the market are small and medium-sized, where the costs play a crucial role in the decision-making process (Shokri et al., 2014). Thus, cost considerations might pose a barrier to such organisations.

GHG reduction strategies are challenging for the fast-food sector for the following reasons. The first challenge is that product LCA analysis and carbon footprint assessment is more difficult for the fast-food industry as compared to food retailing because of supply chain complexities, fragmentation, and the dispersion of businesses in the sector (Shokri et al., 2014; Wakeland et al., 2012). Secondly, often fast-food companies with ambitious climate-related goals to reduce carbon emissions are faced with the fact that technology somewhat limits the attainment of energy-saving goals (Zhang et al., 2011). Besides, Okereke (2007) and Chu & Schroeder (2010) found the most proactive climate strategies point out the weak policy framework or absence of legal requirements as a barrier to climate actions. For example, Hong Kong lacks minimum thermal efficiency regulations for offices, commercial buildings, and shops. This circumstance leads to energy inefficiency as many Hong Kong stores have huge windows (which cause heat loss and increase energy consumption) and no doors, which lead to a loss of cold air. However, an installation of a door poses a threat to the store of losing clientele to a competitor who did not install a door (Chu & Schroeder, 2010). In another example, some companies complain that the absence of a strong, clear, and robust policy framework that would assure long-term development makes it challenging for them to convince their boards of directors and shareholders in the necessity of investments in low carbon technologies (Okereke, 2007). Other challenging factors that inhibit the development of GHG reduction strategies were related to government actions and the marketplace (Long et al., 2018; Okereke, 2007). Government actions are claimed to be related to political stability in the country of the company's operations and worldwide, and to the roles of regulations commanded by international institutions on the national and domestic regulations. Marketplace uncertainty includes the factors of the economic state in a country, public acceptance and awareness of climate-friendly products, and public purchasing power. As businesses are usually not sure how well new changes in products would be in demand, welcomed, and rewarded by the overall market, they are hesitant to commit to these changes (Long et al., 2018; Okereke, 2007).

# 2.5 An analytical framework for identifying drivers and barriers to climate commitment development

As the existing literature lacks research devoted to the development of climate action plans in the fast-food industry, this chapter attempts to build an analytical framework to discuss barriers and drivers to climate responsibility adoption and development. The framework is based on Lozano's (2015) categorisation of influences into internal (dealing with processes inside the corporation) and external (relations with external stakeholders) impacts. However, unlike Lozano's approach where the divisions were designed for analysis of motivations or drivers only, the thesis author further developed the framework for the application of the analysis of the potential business challenges or barriers. Depending on the content, the internal and external areas of influence might be analysed from both perspectives that serve as the driving force or opposite – the barrier. Thus, each area of influence of the two divisions describes specific characteristics that have been found most commonly representing it. In the analysis section of the thesis, results have been delivered following the developed analytical framework's reasoning.

### Internal influences: Top Management.

**Driver/Barrier.** Senior management leadership (Chu & Schroeder, 2010) or proactive leadership (Long et al., 2018) plays a highly decisive role in opting for engagement with climate change initiatives. Depending on top management beliefs, attitudes, ability to narrate the business's vision (Choi & Parsa, 2007; Chou et al., 2012; Kasim & Ismail, 2012; Long et al., 2018), and a willingness to accept new ideas, an organisation may either be driven or challenged to set decisions for carbon-reducing activities (Griffiths & Petrick, 2001; Kasim & Ismail, 2012; Lusser & Riglar, 1999; Stone et al., 2004). Management's impact is even more influential in times of economic crises and budget cuts. Thus, the stronger the desire of top management to incorporate environmental initiatives and ethics into the structure and culture of their companies, the higher the probability of success in the acceptance of the environmental practices (Faulkner et al., 2005; Kasim, 2007; Kasim & Ismail, 2012). Conversely, the lack of top management commitment and their ignorance of climate issues could pose a barrier to a company's implementation of environmentally friendly practices (Blanco-Portela et al., 2017; Kasim & Ismail, 2012).

### Internal influences: Employees.

**Driver/Barrier.** Academic researchers and businesses discuss that lack of in-house competence and skills challenges many companies to a commitment to climate action (Chou et al., 2012). The company's employees might face illiteracy of environmental sustainability knowledge, or difficulties in implementing LCA or measuring carbon footprint (Kasim & Ismail, 2012; Revell & Blackburn, 2007). Additionally, apathy and fear can inhibit employees' manifestations of change, which might be linked to perceived risks related to job security or insufficient trust (Lozano, 2013).

On the contrary, strong employee connectedness is one of the primary internal organisational factors that could positively influence corporate response to green, environmental, or sustainability issues (Kasim and Ismail, 2012). Additionally, the aspiration of employees might be related to the desire for achieving goals, which serves as a supporting force to organisational change (Long et al., 2018). Change can be supported by introducing environmental education and training for employees, which is critical in the transition to a more sustainable society and future. Environmental education techniques, programmes, and strategies may be used as a mechanism through which the ultimate goal of sound management of environmental resources may be achieved to foster a more sound use of environmental resources. Hence, the motivation to initiate environmental education is significant (Bohdanowicz et al., 2011; Filho, 1997).

### Internal influences: Budget.

**Driver/Barrier.** Raising profit was found to be the highest motivation in the studies of Okereke (2007), Kasim & Ismail (2012), Hoffman (2005, 2006), Kim (2009), and Long et al. (2018). This research shows that companies tend to considerably save on costs once they implement carbon management programs (Okereke, 2007). As such, cost usually drives companies to implement energy-saving activities. Companies with larger financial capacities are more capable of allocating budgets to activities aimed at conserving the environment and improving overall business sustainability (Kasim & Ismail, 2012, Florida et al., 1999). Local sourcing initiatives could be essential but are usually significantly costly for purchasing raw materials (Bansal & Roth, 2000; Kasim & Ismail, 2012; Revell & Blackburn, 2007). Thus, global sourcing remains a

critical issue but is attractive for fast-food chains as it keeps the end price competitive and reasonable for clientele (Kumar et al., 2011).

### Internal influences: Ethical motives.

**Driver.** Driving forces are motivated by a company's stand on ethics, not only as compatible with but as an integral part of a corporate business strategy (Okereke, 2007). Moreover, the literature on business models for sustainability states that change in a company's values defines significant transformations and changes. As such, moral and ethical considerations are often placed as a basis for values formations. Besides, Long et al. (2018) observed that companies with clear, regularly and consistently conveyed visions ensured demand for their sustainable products, strong partnerships, and motivation of the employees of the company. The vision was also noted as needing to be genuine for success. This factor links to a need to create a market and engage with consumers. Thus, ethically motivated companies believe that "it is the right their ethics, core values, and vision (Bansal & Roth, 2000; Long et al., 2018; Okereke, 2007). Therefore, the absence of ethical considerations might be a barrier to climate action plans.

### External influences: Suppliers.

**Driver/Barrier.** Supply chains play a significant role in climate action plan development as they contribute to the carbon emissions footprint of end products and services. However, restaurant businesses that consider a shift to "green ingredients" are challenged with existing insufficient and intermittent green supply chains (Kasim and Ismail, 2012). Moreover, researchers have found that the fast-food sector's supply chains are more complicated as compared to the food retailing industry (Aarnio & Hämäläinen, 2008; Shokri et al., 2014). For that reason, fast-food restaurants face an immense obstacle to imposing environmental policies on their suppliers. Usually, it is suppliers' lack of competence or reluctance to collaborate, or their absence of means to support the carbon reduction strategy, that are the hurdles to change (Aarnio & Hämäläinen, 2008; Kasim & Ismail, 2012; Shokri et al., 2014; Smith, 2013). However, if suppliers were willing to cooperate, restaurants would be capable of shifting to more sustainable and climate-friendly businesses (Chou et al., 2012; Kasim & Ismail, 2012; Kasim & Ismail, 2012).

### External influences: Regulatory influences.

Driver/Barrier. Some studies suggest that legal compliance and governmental regulations significantly impact the corporate adoption of environmental measures (Bansal & Roth, 2000; Chou et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2013; Perramon et al., 2014). Therefore, a driver of regulatory influences refers to the aspiration of a company to improve the conformity of its actions within an established set of regulations, norms, values, or beliefs (Bansal & Roth, 2000). For restaurants, the legal requirements related to carbon emissions seem to be absent or are framed as nonmandatory recommendations. Therefore, the lack of robust policy framework for corporate climate action serves as a barrier for restaurants' engagement, as such action often seems like an "extra" challenge which in some cases leads to a competitive disadvantage (Shokri et al., 2014b, Chu & Schroeder, 2010; Okereke, 2007). For example, in Hong Kong, stores do not have doors and that attracts more customers. However, it leads to inefficient use of electricity since the cold air from inside is continuously released outdoors. Thus, having the government to impose minimum requirements on thermal efficiency for commercial organisations and installation of doors would decrease the loss of cold airflow (Chu & Schroeder, 2010). An additional barrier includes a lack of regulatory incentives (Chou et al., 2012; Chu & Schroeder, 2010; Hillary, 2004; Long et al., 2018; Lozano, 2013; Shokri et al., 2014). For example, when electricity prices are insignificant, there is no incentive for consumers to conserve energy. Many regions lack incentives to shift to renewable resources. In general, an 16

absence of influence from regulatory and governmental bodies severely limits the range of decisions and choices companies could make with their climate strategies (Okereke, 2007).

### External influences: Customers.

**Driver/Barrier.** Market trends that are negated within customers' purchasing behaviours, for example, shifts to greener and healthier food significantly influence a company's decisions to consider new markets to retain and attract new customers and elevate competitiveness (Okereke, 2007; Perramon et al. 2014). Thus, customers with a strong responsibility for climate action might also drive companies to consider carbon-reducing activities to keep the loyalty of their customers and gain more trust. Moreover, the willingness of customers to pay higher prices for greener products is also a supportive factor for companies to offer them (Chou et al., 2012; Kim, 2009; Perramon et al., 2014; Revell & Blackburn, 2007). Conversely, a low push or demand from the customer side (Kasim & Ismail, 2012) can be expressed by the prevalence of non-green consumers that inhibit restaurants from introducing menus that are less environmentally harmful or initiate environmentally friendly activities (Macdiarmid et al., 2016).

#### External influences: Competitiveness.

**Driver/Barrier.** Under the drivers of competitiveness, ecological or climate initiatives are adopted if they serve to enhance a firm's financial performance. Firms motivated by competitiveness actively innovate ecologically benign processes and products to strengthen their market positions (Bansal & Roth, 2000). This area of influence also means enhancing competitive advantage when companies engage with climate action initiatives (Chu & Schroeder, 2010; Porter & Reinhardt, 2007; Okereke, 2007; Bansal & Roth, 2000). The competitive advantage can be gained via cost or differentiation advantages. For example, this advantage occurs when a company offers the same product as its competitor but at a lower price, or when a company sells higher quality services at the same price of a competitor (Chu & Schroeder, 2010; Porter & Reinhardt, 2007). Okereke (2007) mentioned that companies are motivated by competing for credibility and for the opportunity to contribute to developments of climate policy discourses. As an example, many corporations disclose their close engagement with the climate-related programs of the United Nations Environent Programme (UNEP), the European Union Emission Trading Scheme (EU ETS), or the Associations of British Insurers (Okereke, 2007).

### External influences: Public society and media.

**Driver/Barrier.** The power of public influence is immense and is usually expressed by strong concerns over ecological and climate change issues. Awareness that is spread through climate protests and media coverage might drive companies' decisions to engage with environmental and climate actions (Jang, 2016; Kim, 2009; Perramon et al., 2014; Long et al., 2018). Usually, companies react to public concerns to help in retaining or creating a positive image (Perramon et al., 2014). In contrast, risks associated with unfavourable attitudes of a society or bad publicity, such as greenwashing criticisms, may lead to an organisation's avoidance of environmental actions (Bansal & Roth, 2000).

#### External influences: Technological advancements.

**Driver/Barrier.** Innovations in technologies might not be a clear driving force, but they provide the potential for substantial production cost reductions as well as improved product performance that could consequently lead to gaining a competitive advantage (Papathanassiou & Anderson, 2001; Pries, 2003). For this reason, companies operate with risks if they allow competitors to achieve advances in research and development (Okereke, 2007). On the other

hand, insufficient or unavailable technological advancements that support environmental innovations may hinder companies from implementing carbon-reducing initiatives (Chou et al., 2012; Kasim, 2007; Zhang et al., 2011).

# External influences: Other external forces emerged from stakeholders, events, and conditions.

**Driver/Barrier.** In general, all of the serendipitous events that were not covered by the previously mentioned areas of influences that induce an adoption or development of climate initiatives and that are considered as driving forces may fall into this category. A range of examples could be included in the category. For instance, governments' decisions to sign climate treaties and the existence of visible crises such as global warming could fall into this category (Long et al. 2018; Okereke, 2007). In the opposite direction, adverse events can lead to a stepping back or withdrawal of obligations toward corporate climate action. Such events include, for example, an economic crisis or an increase in energy prices can be included as an example. Overall, companies operate depending on circumstances caused by country governance, financial situations of the country, and the influence of international agreements (Blanco-Portela et al., 2017).

The overall internal and external influences in the development of climate commitment work have been depicted in figure 2-1.



Figure 2-1 Internal and external influences that could drive or challenge corporate climate action. Source: Author's adaptation inspired by Lozano (2015).

# 3 Research design and methodology

This chapter first introduces MAX Burgers' company profile and then discusses the overall research approach for this thesis. It also summarises the strengths and limitations of the chosen research design and explains the reasoning of the selected methods through a detailed description of the data collection and analysis.

## 3.1 Overall research design, process, and company profile

The research was conducted on the basis of a single case study of MAX burgers, which represents a unique example of a fast-food business that has reduced its carbon emissions. This family-owned Swedish fast-food chain was founded in 1968 in Gällivare, Sweden by Curt Bergfors and Britta Andersson. The company has expanded to 153 restaurants. The company claims it has been annually growing 17% annually in the last 18 years, and it is the most profitable restaurant chain in Sweden, outperforming McDonald's and Burger King (MAX Official Website, 2018). MAX represents a contradictory yet unique case in the fast-food business because in 2008, it addressed the necessity of climate action as an explicit priority for its business and applied climate action as the central policy in the management and decision-making process. In 2020, the company's climate work profile includes a regular analysis of carbon emissions of food production "from farm to table," carbon-reducing activities within the entire operational line of business, and voluntary carbon compensation throughout its supply chain to support reforestation programs in Africa, Mexico, and Nicaragua. Overall, the company's factsheet profile is depicted in figure 3-1.



Figure 3-1. MAX Burgers' profile.

Source: Based on data from the 2018 MAX Burgers' report on climate positive and corporate website.

As this thesis is based on a unique case study, it only answers the research question that was introduced in section 1.3.

### RQ: How did MAX Burgers become a leader in the fast-food industry in reducing carbon emissions?

This research seeks to develop a holistic, in-depth understanding of the successful example of the Swedish fast-food chain MAX Burgers in developing a climate commitment. The research

question is also based on an analysis of drivers and barriers that MAX Burgers has encountered within its climate responsibility development path.

As the study aims to provide an explanatory outlook on the development of the climate responsibility of a single company, the thesis used a qualitative research method (Creswell, 2007) and followed a mixed research approach (Blaikie & Priest, 2019). To address the thesis problem, the author explored the research gap within environmental sustainability practices of the food industry. Then, the author analysed the reasons and obstacles for the adoption of environmental sustainability plans as there is a lack of studies on climate action plan development in the context of fast-food restaurants. Therefore, taking an abductive approach, the author assumed that investigated motivations and challenges to environmental sustainability apply to the context of the adoption of carbon reduction strategies. Thus, the developed analytical framework based on the available literature assisted the deductive approach interview structure. The deductive approach of the interview questions (appendix 2) facilitated the formulation of explanations via identifying tipping point-events (chapter 4) that influenced the decision-making process at MAX Burgers for the promotion of a low-carbon business. Figure 3-2 describes the overall working process followed during the thesis project.



Figure 3-2. Thesis project's working stages.

## 3.2 Case study research

The case study is an empirical investigation of a contemporary phenomenon that uses multiple sources for evidence (Dul & Hak, 2007; Robert K. Yin, 2009). Case studies usually provide indepth explanatory, exploratory, and descriptive analysis of the dynamics present in a single setting (Eisenhardt, 1989; R. K. Yin, 2014). As such, case studies are usually used to answer "how" and "why" research questions (R. K. Yin, 2014); therefore the case study method is appropriate for this thesis.

## 3.2.1 Case-study design: strengths

The strengths of a single case study research lie in data richness. Case study designs can elucidate the deep significance of a complex data set. Also, they can produce in-depth, detailed, rich, and subtle outlooks of the complex sets of conditions that impact specific events, decisions, or choices as in the case of MAX Burgers (6 & Bellamy, 2014; Gerring, 2006; Robert K. Yin, 2009). A single case study also provides the flexibility that allows capturing interesting nuances that may not have been explored and identified before the study; thus, the research may serve as a critical point for the investigated issue (6 & Bellamy, 2014; R. K. Yin, 2014). Moreover, case studies can track and describe change over time and not just provide a "snapshot" view (Gerring, 2006).

## 3.2.2 Case-study design: limitations

Among the limitations of case study research, the main challenge is analysing and processing a large unstructured data set. In this thesis, the large data set from multiple resources (refer to subsections 3.3.1 & 3.3.2) might limit comprehensive analysis within the given time (6 & Bellamy, 2014; R. K. Yin, 2014). Case study approaches have also been criticised for limited generalizability. Usually, case studies represent a unique phenomenon and the produced results are more often particularistic with incomprehensible applicability to other contexts (6 & Bellamy, 2014; R. K. Yin, 2014). Additionally, case studies have also been noted for their limitations of providing incomplete information and a reliance on self-reported data that might result in misleading conclusions. Since case studies are usually researched by one investigator, the research might be subjective and might lead to biased results (Willig, 2001).

## 3.3 Methods used to collect data

The thesis case study research primarily relied on two data sources for empirical data collection: interviews and the analysis of documents and other "grey literature."

### 3.3.1 Interviews

Semi-structured interviews were conducted to collect data. The questions were pre-planned prior to the interview. However, the interviewer gave the interviewees the chance to elaborate and explain particular issues through the use of open-ended questions (Alsaawi, 2016). The baseline interview questions, which are presented in Appendix 2, guided the general discussion of the interviews. Depending on how the conversation with the interviewee developed author adjusted questions while the remaining discussion followed the analytical framework reasoning.

The data collection included online video interviews because they allow for face-to-face conversations, promote honest responses, enable the establishment of mutual understanding between the researcher and the interviewee, and provide the ability to further investigate the responses (Flanagan et al., 2015). Besides, one-on-one interviews provide extensive responses regarding attitudes, learning, perceptions, feelings, and experiences that are rich, long, and revealing (Taylor, 2000). At the same time, online interviews are restricted to individuals with access to the internet (Curasi, 2001). For this study project, the participants were selected via expert sampling with the following criteria:

- i. The respondent has relevant and robust knowledge of MAX's climate commitment history.
- ii. The respondent has or had some level of influence on decision-making processes for MAX Burgers.
- iii. The respondent currently works for or worked with/for MAX Burgers within the last 20 years.

The criteria for respondent sampling were communicated to a key individual at MAX, the Chief Sustainability Officer, Kaj Török. He provided an expert sampling of 14 individuals who were contacted via email. The email instructed the potential respondent to book a 1-hour time slot via Calendly, an online appointment scheduling software. Seven of the 14 contacted sampled individuals responded and participated in an online, video, face-to-face interview; the other seven contacts did not respond. While the case study interview sampling might be statistically insignificant, the in-depth interviews allowed the researcher to comprehend the rationale for current corporate climate actions that have been voluntarily developed (Chu & Schroeder, 2010).

Three respondents are current internal employees and two are former employees. These five respondents shared views regarding the climate work at MAX they formed while holding positions in the sustainability, marketing, and communications departments. The employees of the communications and marketing department are fully aware of the developmental events of the climate work of MAX Burgers. They represent a key part of the study input as they directly worked with the promotion of carbon labelled products and continuously dealt with public relations regarding the topic. The remaining two respondents are experts from external organisations, U&We and ZeroMission, and each works for MAX Burgers on a specific climate-related activity. Thus, the thesis data was gathered from one external respondent with a carbon footprint analysis perspective, and another external respondent with a carbon offsetting program delivery perspective.

Even though the allocated time for one interview was planned for 60 minutes, the longest interview lasted 97 minutes and the shortest was 52 minutes. The list of interviewees, their titles, their current employment status, the date of each interview, the time spent with each interviewee, and descriptions of each interviewee's profile and their relevance for the study are provided in Appendix 3.

Additionally, the number of each interviewee in the thesis narrative indicates the referencing number cited in the findings and analysis sections of the thesis. The interviews were conducted via Zoom, a video conferencing software. The software was chosen for its audio recording features and its ability to create files in the m4a format. While conducting the interviews, the researcher took notes in Excel sheets that were prepared before each interview.

Before the start of the interviews, each respondent was asked for their consent regarding recording the conversation and citing their names in the thesis project. All seven interviewees permitted the use of their names in the thesis. The researcher recorded each interview, stored the files on a personal computer, and shared the files with the thesis supervisor for further processing via the transcribing software HappyScribe.

## 3.3.2 Grey literature

Multiple types of grey literature materials were analysed for this thesis (table 3-1) as they related to MAX Burgers' climate action plan development and supported the study with inputs regarding the tipping point-events identified during the interviews. Thus, table 3-1 summarises the categories of materials that were analysed during the thesis project.

Category of material	List of materials analysed for thesis
1. Documents, reports,	- 2017 carbon footprint analysis report (Török, Wrenfelt, Dahlgren, & Grant, 2018)
and other materials	- MAX's 2018 climate-positive burger report (MAX Burgers, 2018b)
provided by MAX	- Historical overview of MAX (MAX Burgers, 2020)
	- 2018 MAX Burgers factsheet brochure (MAX Official Website, 2018)
2. Videos	- Presentation on Sustainable Hamburgers by the former MAX's Chief Sustainability
	Officer on TEDxPresidio (TEDxTalks, 2011)
	- Speech on "The New Era of Sustainable Business" by Former MAX's Chief
	Sustainability Officer (SOCAP, 2012)
	- MAX Burger's Climate Positive speech by current Chief Sustainability Officer at the
	Porto Summit in 2019 (Climate Change Leadership, 2019)
	- MAX Burger's presentation by current Chief Sustainability Officer at the World
	Forum for a Responsible Economy 2019, "Climate: Managerial Courage to Tackle
	Environmental Issues" (Réseau Alliances, 2019)

Table 3-1. The categorised list of materials collected and analysed for the thesis project.

3. Podcasts and audios	- Interview of current MAX's Chief Sustainability Officer with Foretagarna on how to
	build a sustainable business (Foretagarna, 2019)
	- MAX's current Chief Sustainability Officer on PODDTOPEN podcast on "The
	World's first climate positive menu. What does that mean?"
4. Reports on	- Report on the interview with MAX's CEO about "Launching the World's First
interviews conducted	Climate-Positive Burgers" (FoodService Europe & Middle East, 2018; Selberg, 2018)
by external	- Report on an interview with MAX's Head of Product Development, "How
organisations	sustainable food concepts can be implemented in the corporate world" (ProVeg, 2019)
5. Materials published	- U&We report on MAX Burgers profile (Wrenfelt, Emilsson, & Dahlgren, 2018)
by external	- ZeroMission report on MAX Burgers climate compensation profile (ZeroMission,
organisations	2019a)
	- UNFCCC' summary on MAX's climate positive menu (UNFCCC, 2019)
6.Previous research	- Published article in the Journal of Sustainable Tourism: "Carbon labels on restaurant
papers based on MAX	menus: do people pay attention to them?" (Babakhani et al., 2020)
Burgers case study	- Bachelor thesis (Linköpings Universitet): "Challenging Green Capitalism: An
	Ideology Critique of MAX Burgers' Environmental Strategies" (Hedenqvist &
	Johansson, 2018)
	- Bachelor thesis (Stockholm University): "Sustainable Communication or
	Communicating Sustainability? Qualitative research studying sustainable marketing
	practices at IBM, MAX Burgers & H&M Sustainable communications" (Ohlsson &
	Riihimäki, 2015)
7. Books	- MAX Burgers case analysis: "Idea behind the Climate on the Menu initiative" in the
	book The New Brand Spirit (Conrad & Thompson, 2013)
	- MAX Burgers case analysis: "Sustainability Advocate Par Larshans: Honoring Core
	Values Catapults Burger Chain" in the book Brave Leaders: Finding The Guts To Make
	Meaningful & Lasting Change (Barchan, 2016)
8. Other materials that	- Newspaper articles
supported the thesis	- Articles published by food restaurant magazines
project	- Articles and reports made on the basis of conferences, speeches, and hearings

## 3.4 Data processing and data analysis

Once interview data was collected, the HappyScribe software package was used for transcribing, correcting, and coding. The software allows a user to comment online in the transcribed text and underline and highlight text in different colors. The transcribing of each interview took on average 6.5 hours. Then, the researcher became thoroughly acquainted with the interview data by reading each transcribed document opened in HappyScribe online and by simultaneously highlighting important events (hereafter "tipping point-events") that influenced MAX's climate responsibility development. The identification of tipping point-events was based on the information provided by the interviewees. For a tipping point-event to be developed, it had to be mentioned by at least two interviewees. As the interviews were semi-structured and openended, the author was flexible to questioning interviewees regarding key facts mentioned by previous interviewees.

After identifying and describing the tipping point-events, the author followed the analysis of drivers and barriers by first classifying them according to the analytical framework's areas of influence. The list of codes examples for the identification of areas of influence is provided in Appendix 4. However, a more open coding approach was used to identify drivers and barriers, seeking to let tipping point-events within the data to emerge. Any information relating to the answering of the research questions was coded. The coding process was accompanied by a continuous comparison of the responses of each interviewee. After all interviews were transcribed, explored, and coded, the researcher visualized the structure of the delivery of the findings by narrating the key "tipping point-events" in their historical order that highlight circumstances that significantly impacted the climate commitment development path at MAX Burgers. In addition, the researcher analysed grey literature data that validated and supported the explored facts, arguments, and described events found from interviews.

# 4 Findings

This chapter presents key findings based on empirical data collected from interviews and a content analysis of grey literature. It dives into narratives of the key tipping point-events of MAX Burgers (MAX) that contributed to the company's development of climate commitments. Subchapters are headed according to the main events in the development of the climate commitment path. This chapter complements the analysis of driving forces and barriers as it presents the reasoning behind external and internal influences. The significance of the chapter is that MAX's motivations, drivers and challenges are related to a particular time of company's climate action development. For reader friendliness and space-saving purposes, findings retrieved from interviews have been referenced in the text in a shortened manner. Thus, reference for an individual interviewee is written in parenthesis indicating "R" for "respondent" followed by the interviewee number presented in Appendix 3. However, the quotes have been cited by interviewees' names and the consent for that purpose has been approved by all participants. Additionally, a personal communications' list can be found in the section following the bibliography. Supporting respondent quotes are framed in italics and referenced by interviewees' names.

# 4.1 Precursors of MAX's climate work: maturity, crisis and time for changes

The analysis of the empirical data revealed the starting point for MAX's climate work. The company's profile prior to the period of climate commitment is crucial for the analysis of drivers and barriers. It describes the company's market position, its maturity level, and its overall experiencing dynamics. Thus, this chapter describes the early tipping point-events that have complemented the climate work development at MAX.

**Restaurant business growth and change of management.** Since its commencement in 1968, MAX's operations were managed by its owner Curt Bergfors. Until 1999, the family business expanded to other types of companies such as hotels, gas stations, gyms, tanning salons, gourmet pubs, and others ventures (MAX Official Website, n.d.). In 1999, the Bergfors family decided to refocus and fully invest in the hamburger business; by that time, the MAX network had grown to around 40 restaurants. In 2002, Richard and Christoffer Bergfors, sons of former managing director Curt Bergfors, took over the operational responsibility for the family business (R1) (Max Burgers, 2020; TEDxTalks, 2011). By the beginning of 2002, the company had grown to nearly 50 restaurants around Sweden (R1, R6). Thus, with the new top management and the attainment of a certain level of organisational maturity as the fast-food business grew from a small restaurant in Gällivare to a broader chain across Sweden, MAX realised the need for organisational changes. The company wanted to either a start with a "fresh alternative" or take a new position in the restaurant industry (R1). MAX aspired to figure out their brand position that they could clearly state to the market.

We matured, and we were thinking about what is our role? What is that MAX should beat? So, it was more like making a clear position statement of who we wanted to be (Török, pers.comm.).

The Bergfors family had a strong desire to bring changes to the fast-food company and considered different versions of how to be a "fresh alternative" in the industry. "Fresh alternative" was considered from improving the way the company treated the staff to making toilets extra clean, adding healthy meals in the menu (R1), and making burgers oval (Esensjö & Petrina Esensjö, 2010). Thus, while looking for a unique concept and testing different variations MAX was in parallel changing organisational culture (R2) and figuring out sustainability work directions (R1, R2, R6, R7).
Leadership gap and change in culture. Along with the company's expansion, during the mid-1990s, MAX profoundly struggled with a staff crisis in its restaurants. The company had high rates of staff turnover and excessive sick leaves (R2). The former Human Resources Director Pär Larshans analysed the company's dynamics with the Swedish labour regulations and concluded that MAX needed to solve a gap in leadership. Thus, to cope with the employee crisis, he suggested that MAX's family owners change the internal culture and, therefore, fill the leadership gap.

And if I can change the culture, adjust the culture, I know that I will have a much longer-lasting way of working (Larshans, pers.comm.).

Thus, Pär Larshans searched for a culture change model to apply to MAX (figure 4-1). According to Pär Larshans, the model was relevant to strengthening leadership.



Figure 4-1. The model for the change in culture applied for the risk reduction and profit improvement at MAX.

Source: Consent approved by Pär Larshans. Pär Larshan's combined adaptation inspired by both the integral theory of Wilber (1998) and spiral dynamics of Beck and Cowan (Beck & Cowan, 1996). Retrieved from interviewee's presentation on MAX sustainability.

Having analysed the model depicted in figure 4-1, MAX acknowledged that refocusing the leadership on the individual was an essential area for their culture change. The core individuals at MAX who needed to be recognised as "heroes" were found to be line managers at restaurants (R2). Thus, MAX worked on the leadership development of line managers by training them according to The Human Element theory, where results are driven by behaviours that are in turn driven by feelings which are, in turn, driven by self-realisation (Esensjö & Petrina Esensjö, 2010; Max Burgers, 2013; SOCAP, 2012). The change in the focus of the leadership from owners and top managers to the line managers allowed MAX to successfully improve employee turnover and customer service and also implement new hiring strategies (R2).

**Communications and gaining trust.** The new hiring program considered disabled persons and immigrants as potential workers at MAX's restaurants. This new program was found to be the critical aspect of gaining trust from the Swedish public. Moreover, respondents 1, 2, 4, and 5 mentioned that MAX was not promoting its social programs in the 2000s but instead was voluntarily supported by external "organisations that were telling MAX's story" (R2) (Ohlsson & Riihimäki, 2015). This method substantially boosted the public's trust of MAX, which was the first lesson that MAX learned that positive word-of-mouth is crucial to build a reputation and gain public trust. In 2003, MAX began a close collaboration with the governmental

organisation Samhall on a hiring program focused on disabled persons (SOCAP, 2012). As the program went into full swing, MAX shared its knowledge with others regarding their social responsibility. Samhall made a series of press releases between 2006 and 2007 about MAX's unique social program in a Swedish labour market focusing on the recruitment of the disabled and later on immigrant human resources. The press releases attracted wide attention and were recognized by Swedish ministers, the media, and public society (R2) (Ohlsson & Riihimäki, 2015). This attention has led to numerous invitations of Pär Larshans to present MAX's social responsibility. During the research for this thesis, Larshans commented that he realised that the key to gaining trust was sharing knowledge as much as possible. He also claimed that "there was one article in the newspaper every day about MAX Burgers in a positive way" (R2). MAX has been awarded several accolades for its initiatives in social responsibility, including the 2007 European Union recognition of MAX's social program as the best in Europe (MAX Burgers, n.d.). Such events, starting with the governmental organisation Samhall spreading positive messages regarding MAX, resulted in trust of public to MAX's brand. This trust in the brand served as a competitive advantage and success factor for MAX by the time the company initiated addressing climate issues (R2).

#### 4.2 The start of MAX's climate commitment work

**MAX's owners' initiative.** Climate commitments began as an initiative of MAX's family owners. In 2006, after watching the documentary film *An Inconvenient Truth* that depicts global warming issues, the Bergfors family realised their fast-food business was "a part of a [climate] problem" (R1-R7). The movie tremendously impacted the Bergfors family and they watched it more than 10 times together with the company's management team (R1, R2, R3, & R4) (Sustainable Brands, 2018; TEDxTalks, 2011). They recognised the need to precisely understand the climate impacts of their own company in order "to be a part of the [climate] solution" (R1-R7). Highly concerned, MAX owners gave the former MAX's Director of Human resources Pär Larshans the task to find out MAX's impact on the climate (TEDxTalks, 2011). Thus, the analysis of the carbon footprint of MAX became the area of responsibility of Pär Larshans. Owners admitted that he was a valuable resource as he spent lots of energy and time developing the victory formula model (figure 4-2) for a social program that aimed to forma of MAX's core values (figure 4-3). The model in figure 4-2 has been proved viable for the climate dimension of sustainability, where instead of a "solution," MAX depicts CO2 emissions (R2).



Figure 4-2. The Victory model designed by Pär Larshans to reduce risks and improve the business profit.

Source: Author's elaboration based on Pär Larshan's presentation on MAX's sustainability work. Consent for the reproduction of the figure given by Pär Larshans.



Figure 4-3. Core values of MAX Burgers. Source: Author's adaptation based on the data given on the MAX Burgers corporate website.

**Establishing partnerships with sustainability consultants.** Challenged with MAX owners' request to come up with the suggestions for addressing climate responsibility, Pär Larshans had to find a solution despite having no experience and competence in work related to climate issues at the time. First, he vigorously started searching for a business model that would align with MAX's vision which focused on future and long-term considerations. As a result, Pär Larshans found a model suitable to MAX's case (figure 4-4) that fit his thinking in seeking the answer to "How can MAX be the winner tomorrow" (R2). For MAX, it was crucial that the model was based on visioning the possible future and that it suggested coming up with creative solutions. The ABCD model was developed by the Swedish sustainability consulting company The Natural Step. Thus, MAX selected this company among other companies for establishing a partnership for sustainability work development.

I had several companies that were giving me offers, but I wanted the premium. I wanted The Natural Step to work with me because I wanted not just to do the calculation [of carbon footprint]. I wanted to have the system changed. I wanted to change the culture. I wanted to change how we acted within MAX Burgers. And that [The Natural Step] was something that out-of-step thought would give me. Because if you want to change something by yourself as a leader, it's very hard to do it by yourself. But if you have an external expert that has high recognition, people will listen to them easier (Larshans, pers.comm.).



Figure 4-4. The Natural Step ABCD model for sustainable business.

Source: Author's adaptation based on Pär Larshan's presentation on MAX sustainability.

However, in 2007, the The Natural Step was the sustainability consultant for McDonald's, MAX's biggest competitor in the Swedish fast-food market, and thus, rejected MAX's initial request for providing consulting services. Later on, the Swedish branch of McDonald's did not renew its contract with The Natural Step. Thus, the company established a collaboration with MAX for the next several years (R1, R2).



Figure 4-5. MAX and sustainability.

Source: Author's adaptation based on data retrieved from the MAX Burgers corporate website.

**Sustainability strategy formation**. Thus, a 2-year partnership with The Natural Step resulted in building a sustainability framework for MAX (figure 4-5). The focal point of the company's business is the guest who chooses MAX products because of their healthy, diverse, and environmentally responsible product options. These product options were designed following the core values of MAX's commandment. Thus, all four components constitute MAX's sustainability plan.

# 4.3 The carbon analysis and the launch of the carbon labelled menu

Carbon footprint analysis. MAX Burgers, together with the The Natural Step and consultants from U&We (R1, R4, R5), was challenged to calculate the climate impact of MAX (SOCAP, 2012). This calculation was the first of its kind in the industry. The first attempt of MAX's carbon assessment was approached to understand whether it was possible to realise it in the first place (R6). Consultants started by drawing a sketch of all the climate impact components for MAX products and setting boundaries and researched the available LCA for each component and raw material. However, all the available information on LCA was given for products made in the United States (US) when MAX sourced raw materials from Sweden. According to Katrin Dahlgren, a climate consultant at U&We, the challenge was to collect different types of data from a diverse range of MAX's suppliers. Regarding access and quality of data, "that's a matter of trust [between supplier and MAX]. I would say that MAX has done a great job of building trust with their suppliers" (R6). Over time as the carbon footprint assessment has become a regular process for the company, MAX worked on establishing reliable communications between data collection from suppliers and its provision to U&We. For that purpose, MAX assigned a specific internal employee to handle data collection; this employee also serves as the communicator between U&We and suppliers on questions of following the guidelines and formulating U&We's requests (R6).

Carbon calculations are based on the global standardised framework of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol (Török et al., 2018). The framework divides the total GHG emissions into three scopes. Scope 1 includes the GHG emissions of the organisation, scope 2 involves purchased energy, and scope 3 embraces all other emissions that cannot be categorised in first two scopes (table 4 -1). As respondents 1 and 5 noted, in MAX's analysis of emissions, it was necessary for MAX to consider potential impacting activities as completely as possible because they realised that many other companies count what has been emitted only within their operations. MAX wanted a full consideration of the business's climate impacts (R1, R5).

GHG emissions scope	MAX's GHG sources	Share of
categories		emissions, %
Scope 1: Direct emissions	- Refrigerants	
	- Leased cars	
Direct chilissions	- Use of natural gas	~1%
Scope 2:	- Electricity consumption	
Purchased energy	- District heating and cooling	
	- Waste	
	- Franchised restaurants	
	- Consumable supplies	
	- Packaging	
Scope 3: Everything else	- Guests' journeys to and from restaurants	
	- Handling of customer waste	
	- Incoming transport of ingredients and materials	~99%
	- Food production	
	- Staff travelling to and from their place of work	
	- Business-related travel	
	- Upstream emissions from the production of electricity and	
	heating	
	- Outgoing transport of food and waste	

Table 4-1. MAX's GHG-causing activities categorised into the GHG Protocol's scoping framework.

Source: Compiled from the 2017 report "Analysis of MAX Burgers AB's carbon footprint" and 2018 report "Climate Positive Burgers."

In the end, according to respondent 2, "it took eight months to conduct the [first] study [on climate impact analysis] and come up with a suggestion of what we can do because nobody has done it before in the world" (R2) (Barchan, 2016). Over the years, the carbon assessment process has substantially improved thanks to developing an understanding of boundaries of LCA's components, the criteria and requirements of the carbon calculation framework, planning, and close collaboration and trust with the parties involved in the process (R7). Therefore, today, MAX and U&We can deliver carbon assessments within four months, starting from data collection in January and calculating the final result in April.

The analysis eventually revealed that scope 3 activities were the biggest source of carbon footprint (table 4-1) and accounts for 99% of the company's total emissions. The analysis of its carbon footprint allowed MAX to realise which activities the company should consider for optimisation policies or rules to make them climate-friendly. Respondents observed that the climate-friendly policy rule eventually led to reducing costs (R1, R2, R3). However, the main result of the analysis showed that beef constitutes the highest contribution to the company's carbon footprint (R1, R2, R4, R6) (Climate Change Leadership, 2019). For MAX, removing beef was not an option, as beef was MAX's core product ingredient. The company's board then decided to focus on the customer side and educate them by putting carbon labels on the products so they could make informed choices and choose products with lower emissions (R1, R2) (Babakhani et al., 2020).

So, what MAX need to target is the beef. So. And how to do it? Well, we can't get rid of the beef because then we will get rid of our customers also. So, in the short-term perspective. Then the decision was "let's include the customer in our change and let's educate the customer as well." So, then we need to put the carbon on the menu. So then, in May 2008, we put the carbon on the menu (Larshans, pers.comm.).

Acknowledgement of supply chain significance in carbon assessment. The success of MAX is in the desire to genuinely comprehend the climate impacts the company causes in the whole value chain. Kaj Török explained that MAX considered all three scopes of GHG Protocol and realised that the proportions of real climate damage come from scope 3 (table 4-1) that many other companies neglect in their carbon footprint calculations.

For MAX, 99.1% of the GHG emissions is in scope 3. And for many companies, it's the same. So, for IKEA, it's 97% in scope 3. For H&M, it's 99.6%. So, when we're thinking about carbon footprint, it's always important to understand which footprint are we talking about? Is it the full value chain that means the full scope? 1, 2, 3? Or is it just scope 1 and 2? Because quite often, companies just look at scope 1 and 2. And when they do that, like Ericsson, for example, the huge tech company. They have reduced their climate impact with 46% they say, but that's 46% of scope 1 and 2. So that means they also have 99.6% in scope 3. So, it's 46% of 0.4%. That's what they have reduced. So, this is important to understand what the difference is between how companies connect to the climate issue (Török, pers.comm.).

The lack of customer awareness prevented the accepting of the carbon labeled menu. The carbon analysis and labelling performed by MAX were the first of their kind in the global fast-food industry market (R2). The media brought wide attention to the launch of carbon labelling and compensating (R5) (ProVeg, 2019). However, the main challenge for MAX was the absence of immediate reaction by the customers as the average customer in 2008 significantly lacked awareness of the connection between carbon dioxide and consumption in general according to respondents 1 and 2.

When it comes to the hurdle there, we did have a problem because the people didn't understand carbon dioxide either. They thought, "oh my, why don't you take away the carbon from the soft drinks?" But that's not that carbon. So, there were questions like that. So, it was really hard to convince about that (Larshans, pers.comm.).

Thus, MAX then understood that the climate commitment path was not a short but a longlasting responsibility, the benefits of which will be gained in the long term.

A project like this is not one day project. It is a project that is supposed to be run for a lot of years, many years to be successful. So, we continued to talk with a lot of newspapers, researchers, politicians and everybody to tell them about what MAX was doing (Forssten, pers.comm.).

Yet, the low reaction to the "educating the customer" idea was perceived as a failure to MAX's owners as the guests did not understand how to benefit from the use of carbon labels on MAX's products (R2).

I remember that the CEO of MAX Burgers was really very clear: "We have worked so long with a start [carbon labelled menu]. You are the director of human resources. Go back and hire people. That is your task. Hire train your managers. You're the head of marketing. You should make people aware of this. So now it's time to market" (Larshans, pers.comm.).

Limited communications. Even though MAX decided to stay committed and focused on long-run strategies, however, there was another challenge for the task delivery. The company management did not allocate financial resources for the marketing and promotion of carbon labelled menu through traditional marketing campaigns and commercial advertising on television (R2). The company was entirely relying on its channels and through communicating with visitors via signs in the restaurants (R5). As such, it was a challenge for MAX to deliver the carbon labelling message to a broader array of potential customers (R1, R5). However, according to Anders Forssten, former Chief of Marketing at MAX, the argument for not having promotion via television was that MAX intentionally did not aim to be loud about it. Because MAX conducts the climate compensation and carbon labelling not for commercial reasons, he claimed it also helped to avoid greenwashing discussions (R5).

Furthermore, MAX relied on the well-known "others telling your story" strategy of promotion MAX's case across-the-board (R2, R5). By 2008, MAX's reputation was widely known as a highly socially responsible company, and that image crucially supported MAX's launch of the carbon labelled menu. Thus, the media made an immediate response and issued press releases about MAX's climate commitment work (R1, R2, R5).

It really didn't start with the environmental dimension. But what we did in work, environment, and the social dimension created a trust for the brand. And then when we put the carbon on the menu and launched a program, we became the example because we were trustworthy. We have already done things before. They will recognise us as different. So even if we put a new thing in place, we were reliable. Trust is a key, key enabler (Larshans, pers.comm.).

**Others telling MAX's story**. However, a year later after MAX's carbon labelled menu launch, Paul McCartney gave a speech at the European Parliament Hearing on the Climate Change and Food Policy titled "Less Meat Less Heat." McCartney used MAX's case of the carbon labelled menu as an example of company climate responsible action (Max Burgers, 2009; SOCAP, 2012; TEDxTalks, 2011). This event was another tipping point for the MAX position at that time as they suddenly became the role model not only for their social responsibility but for climate commitment as well (R2). After that, MAX was announced as the first climate-friendly fast-food

chain in the world, an announcement that attracted the attention of international publicity. Numerous invitations were sent to Pär Larshans, the former MAX Sustainability Officer, to present MAX's story for carbon labelling at different occasions. For example, he spoke at a 2009 event in Stockholm where IPCC scientists gathered to encourage the Swedish Government to sign the Copenhagen Climate Agreement where the former Head of IPCC was also attending (R2). These significant large-scale events gave attention to MAX's efforts. As a result, MAX was awarded the Green Award in London at the end of 2009. That, in turn, brought the broader recognition of the media. Pär Larshans has given presentations about carbon labelling not only to business and policy-oriented audiences but also presented it numerous times at Swedish universities. Thus, MAX's case became not only a subject for the media but a topic for research and lectures in academia (R1, R2).

# 4.4 Time of climate commitment development strategy: reduction of carbon emissions

**The competitive advantage.** Even though MAX had been implementing some of the activities for carbon reduction for a long time, in the 1990s, MAX eliminated the use of plastic foam packaging and only served Swedish beef, chicken, and bacon (R1). Respondent 1 claimed that these initiatives initially started without being planned as part of the climate commitment path to reducing GHG emissions but rather as a feature of competitive advantage.

Some of the things we've done to reduce emissions have been without planning, and I wouldn't say it's reducing emissions. It's more having a competitive advantage. So MAX is the only national burger chain that serves beef and chicken and bacon that's only from Sweden. And that is quite important because Swedish beef has a significantly lower climate impact than comparable EU, maybe 30%, maybe 50%. So that was kind of an unplanned competitive advantage, but it still had a fairly big impact in lowering the emissions compared to competitors (Török, pers.comm.).

Indeed, beef produced in Sweden is known for the lowest use of antibiotics in the entire EU; Sweden also has the strictest regulations on animal welfare in the world. Additionally, the carbon footprint of Swedish beef is much lower than the EU average (MAX Burgers, 2018). In 2008, MAX had its carbon footprint assessed, which gave the company the directions to focus on the initiatives that would substantially reduce carbon emissions throughout the value chain. Also, in 2008, MAX reached out to its employees via an internal newspaper, newsletter, and regular employee meetings to come up with suggestions to reduce carbon emissions in restaurants as well as with ideas on the carbon compensation. MAX's employees were highly involved in the idea generation process (R5). MAX has introduced the following carbon-reducing activities since 2008 (MAX Burgers, 2018):

- In 2008, MAX carbon labelled its menu to allow guests to make informed choices.
- In 2008, all MAX restaurants and offices switched to electricity generated by Swedish windmills.
- In 2009, MAX started to recycle frying oil into biodiesel.
- In 2009, MAX stopped using box packaging for kid's menu meals.
- MAX stopped providing restaurant guests with lids and straws for drinks.
- MAX eliminated the use of palm oil in all restaurants in European operations.
- Since 2008, MAX has worked to decrease food waste from kitchens. Thus, in 2018, it estimated that kitchen food waste accounts for less than 1% of all MAX's wastes.
- MAX continuously introduces energy efficiency measures such as recycling heating and self-adjusting heating and cooling depending on the number of guests in a restaurant.
- In 2016, MAX launched the Green Family menu containing five low carbon meals (elaborated in chapter 4.5)

**Financial advantage of being a climate-driven company.** The analysis of its carbon footprint helped MAX to understand the areas to implement climate-friendly activities. Many of the activities listed above were found to be financially beneficial (R1, R2, R3, R5). Practices such as the removal of packaging from certain meals, a reduction of the amount of beef in burgers, and continuously using energy optimisation measures substantially helped to lower the costs and increase profit (R2, R3).

I would say that that to be honest, many of the activities we did had to do with cutting costs even though that was not the costs driving activities. We ordered a Swedish beef, local one. We took away the unnecessary things we had there. You know, when you buy a kid's meal at McDonald's, you receive a box that costs 1 krona per box. So, we could cut that. We took away packaging material. We took away the amount of beef in our burgers. So many of the activity we did was reducing costs. It didn't cost us money (Larshans, pers.comm.).

A positive side effect with reducing your supply and using less materials that you also save money and that the people start liking MAX, even more for this [climate related] program (Forssten, pers.comm.).

# 4.5 Climate impact reduction: failure of falafel burger and success of Green Family menu

As mentioned by respondent 1, the precursors for the climate-friendly burger were delifresh burger alternatives on the MAX's menu 2003 (SOCAP, 2012; TEDxTalks, 2011); these burgers had less beef to help to make them healthier than climate-friendly (R1). But six years later, in 2009, the fast-food chain had a better understanding of their climate contributions to climate issues. Then, MAX started thinking of designing products with lower carbon footprints and thus, they created a falafel burger, which was their first veggie burger with a low climate impact (R1, R5). However, MAX did not succeed with the falafel burger as "it never sold well enough" (R1), and eventually it was withdrawn from the restaurant's menu three years after its launch in 2012.

If we're going to change our menu, what we sell, our core product, our core offer, all of that we need to. That needs to be popular with our guests, and we cannot decide what our guest wants. We can offer them opportunities, but if they're not on the same page. So, the falafel burger, obviously our guest didn't appreciate it enough for many different reasons (Török, pers.comm.).

However, over the years, MAX has been exploring product development to design meals with reduced carbon impacts (R5). The founder of MAX, Curt Bergfors, worked with product development considerations (R5) and wanted to create a "world burger" that he envisioned with less beef. However, back then, in 2008, the plant-based burger concept was not yet discovered (R5). Thus, MAX tried different substitutes for beef that would have a lesser carbon impact and was welcomed by guests. For example, MAX introduced a chicken burger that was more feasible for the guest to choose instead of a beef burger.

By January 2016, MAX managed to design and launch the whole Green Family menu that served five meals including plant-based vegetarian and lacto-ovo options. According to Kaj Török and the 2018 Climate Positive Burgers Report, the Green Family has been the most profitable and essential product launch MAX did for the reduction of GHG emissions; one respondent stated that "the guests were really impressed with the taste of the green burgers" (R7).



Figure 4-6. MAX's total climate footprint (scope 1, 2, and 3) expressed as grams CO2e per 1 USD in sales. Source: Built on data given in the 2018 report on "Climate Positive Burgers."

As the company expanded between 2013 and 2017, total emissions for scope 1, 2, and 3 have been growing as well. Total emmissions increased from 95,000 tonnes of CO2e in 2013 to 135,000 tonnes of CO2e in 2017. However, most importantly, the company managed to reduce its carbon footprint per 1 US dollar (figure 1-4) by 18% over these four years. As shown in figure 1-4, after the launch of green burgers with a low climate impact in 2016, the CO2 continued decreasing and reached 4.5 grams CO2 per 1 USD at the lowest point (MAX Burgers, 2018b).

Soon after the Green Family launch, the company renamed themselves from "MAX Hamburger Restaurants" to "MAX Burgers" as the restaurant chain extended its product line beyond the red meat-based menu. Respondents explained that "Because we know there can be so many good things between two pieces of bread that don't have to contain red meat" (R1) (Climate Change Leadership, 2019) and, thus, "we are much more than hamburgers, we are other kinds of burgers as well" (R7).

After the launch showed success in sales and climate impact reduction per earned US dollar, the company realised that MAX's efforts to connect climate change with the shift from a beef-made burger to green options were consistent with the company's passion for improving taste. Many of MAX's sustainability efforts reflect the company's focus on guest experiences (figure 4-5) (R1).

So, we know now that the most important thing we can do to reduce our carbon emissions is to make sure green burgers taste at least as well as red beef, red meat burgers. And that means that taste is at the heart of all our change. And that is very interesting to me. I start from science myself. So, to learn something so ephemeral, so hard to define as taste. Well, not just be so important for sales. We knew that before. Not just for how happy the customers were and their willingness to come back. But now also deciding in one way the fate of humanity through climate change. So, that is usually an important part of MAX's culture. To really love our own food and try to make it better all the time. So that means the passion for taste, which is deeply ingrained in the family and in the organisation, that means we can keep on doing what we love and connect that to climate change (Török, pers.comm.).

Additionally, the company foresees that future customers will shift to choosing green alternatives over red meat meals as the taste of the green alternatives keeps improving (R1):

...And I think that in 5 years many people will say, you know what, I'm not eating the beef burger because the green burger tastes better. And some audiences say that today, but not most people.

As shown in figure 4-7, the company's sales proportion between green and red meat menus has significantly changed. Green alternatives are becoming more popular, having reached almost 39% of all sales at MAX in 2018.



Figure 4-7. MAX's sales trend for red meat meals and non-red meat meals.

Source: Built on data given in MAX's 2018 report on "Climate Positive Burgers."

Thus, having results and setting goals for "being a part of a climate solution" is eventually a success factor for MAX in being the leaders in reducing carbon emissions (R1).

If I only would say one thing that has made us a leader and be seen as a leader in this area. It's because we have results (Török, pers.comm.).

After the Green Family menu succeeded with customers, MAX decided to go further and set a goal that 50% of their burgers sold would be beef-less (figure 1-8) and declared that "in 2022, every second meal served should be made without beef" (Climate Change Leadership, 2019; Max Burgers, 2018b). MAX changed its business model from a conventional model associated with a red-meat fast-food company to a company with green burgers "that taste even better than beef" (R1).

There have been three reasons for the success of the 2016 Green Family menu over the falafel burger in 2009 as mentioned by several respondents. Firstly, the target consumers began to demand more green products, mostly due to a general increased awareness of climate issues and an eventual shift in mindsets to sustainable consumption (R1, R2, R6).

The audiences that were looking for a green menu alternative had grown significantly in Sweden. Not just the vegans and vegetarians, but especially the flexitarian is the normal people that just wanted to reduce their meat consumption and consumption and eat more greens (Török, pers.comm.).

Secondly, MAX refocused its product marketing from communicating the "climate" aspect in burgers to emphasising its "taste" (R1, R5).

The second one was that we communicated the second time differently. So instead of saying buy this falafel burger, it's good for the climate, and it's organic. We're saying buy this burger because it tastes awesome. And that's why our guests come to us. We can sometimes we can imagine that people are coming to us because we have the sustainability profile and they do that to some extent. But much more important than the sustainability profile is how they perceive our products (Török, pers.comm.).

Thirdly, product development advanced and the necessary ingredients became available for designing green burgers that tasted better than meat (R1, R6). For example, back in 2009, the beef substitute ingredient most often used in designing low carbon products was texturised soy. It had a specific soy taste that interfered with a beef-like taste. Suppliers did not yet have another available ingredient for the green menu that would cover up the taste of soy. However, by 2016 and today, product quality increased and soy taste became neutral, making it easier for MAX to design the extended Green Family menu (R1).

The success of the green menu was also the result of the will and continuous work of specific individuals at MAX. Jonas Mårtensson, Head of Product Development and Head Chef, was the key person in the task of developing products with lower climate impacts and appealing to guests' taste preferences (R7). He stayed updated on the market and industry trends and the availability of necessary ingredients; he also required MAX's suppliers to meet MAX's needs for raw materials as it was also related to changing the cooking process in the restaurants.

We had our head chef who understood that now is the time. Because he was always, you know, serving the market, understanding what is happening and how can he find this kind of product. So, he has always been working very goal-oriented, how to develop the menu the whole time. And then he started to notice that now we have more products coming in, which tastes really good and which works for us too (Wengelin, pers.comm.).

Kaj Török was a second key person responsible for MAX's sustainability strategy. He searched for sustainable beef production solutions by establishing collaboration with a wide range of stakeholders.

MAX has been involved in projects over the years with other researchers and other stakeholders in trying to define what would be a sustainable beef production. And what would be the most carbon-efficient beef production (Dahlgren, pers.comm.).

# 4.6 Climate neutrality and carbon offsetting projects' critique

In 2008, with the expertise of sustainability consulting agencies The Natural Step and U&We, MAX analysed its total carbon footprint. With that figure calculated, MAX's management decided to strongly align with the mission "to be part of the climate solution"(R1, R2) (FoodService Europe & Middle East, 2018) and thus, advocated for the compensation of their carbon emission. For that purpose, MAX established a partnership with a provider of carbon offsets, ZeroMission, and requested to compensate 100% of the carbon it emitted. Thus, the organisation provides carbon management services to MAX under the facilitation of PlanVivo standard's project of high-quality forests in Uganda "Trees for Global Benefit" (TFGB). The PlanVivo organisation developed a standard for community-based projects using a "payments for ecosystem services" approach and ensured its compensation for MAX following Greenhouse Gas Protocol guidelines (MAX Burgers, 2018b) (R4, R7).

MAX Burgers has never used the term "carbon neutrality" toward their products; but between 2008 and 2018, MAX's promotion claimed they participated in carbon offsetting of 100% of their total GHG emissions according to the world's only independent carbon neutrality international standard, ISO 14021. The standard relies on Greenhouse Gas Protocol's comprehensive standardised GHG measurements and management frameworks (R1). To ensure the correctness of carbon calculations, MAX's carbon analysis receives third-party validation by the international auditing company Ernst & Young (MAX Burgers, 2018b) (R1, R4, R7).

In 2017, MAX was negatively mentioned in an academic paper related to the TFGB project in Uganda, which had been operated since 2003 by Ecotrust, a Ugandan non-governmental organisation (NGO), and PlanVivo, the regional partner. In 2017, Lund University researchers Wim Carton and Elina Andersson published an article that criticised the ongoing small-scale rural development TFGB project in Uganda by applying a structural Marxist subsumption theory. They pointed out that "the management practices of carbon forestry are fundamentally shaped by the requirements of the carbon market, which for all sorts of socioeconomic reasons (not least widespread poverty) are often far from the reality on the ground" (Carton & Andersson, 2017, p. 840). Thus, the paper's conclusion implied the carbon forestry project conflicted with the farmers' ability to meet the project's requirements of "Ecotrust's ideas about 'boutique' offset production" that resulted in "large numbers of farmers to fall short of their contract requirements, with some even removing trees and leaving the project" (Andersson & Carton, 2017, p. 840). In response to their research, another academic paper was issued that discussed the limitations of their applied methodology as focusing only on "conflict ridden, exploitative" nature that "neglect actual benefits" (Purdon, 2018, p.1). In 2018, MAX and the ZeroMission sustainability consultants invited the Lund University research team to MAX's office in Stockholm. The aim was to grasp the depth and details of the researchers' criticism of MAX's carbon offset project, as MAX and ZeroMission have found that the research project was mostly "cherry-picking" and focused on the "dissatisfied" farmers (R4, R7). Thus, MAX and ZeroMission asserted that the researchers did not consider the project's advantages. Additionally, as a response, ZeroMission contacted PlanVivo with concerns to answer if those participating in the TFGB project in Uganda's rural communities encountered socioeconomic and technical challenges in following the carbon sequestering criteria. The time coincided with the regular 5-year audit of PlanVivo's TFGB project and third-party reviewers included in the verification process the questions regarding MAX's concerns that reflected the study findings of Lund University researchers (R4).

# 4.7 Court case: the battle for making voluntary carbon offsetting costs tax-deductible for businesses in Sweden

Another challenging tipping point for MAX and other Swedish companies' climate action development paths was the period between 2014 and 2018. During this time, MAX was defending the costs for carbon offsetting cases as worthy of tax deductions in Sweden's Supreme Court against the National Tax Agency (Skatteverket) (R1, R4). However, the story started with Saltå Kvarn, a Swedish food company that applied for tax reductions for their carbon offsetting costs that were denied by the Swedish Tax Agency (R4) (ZeroMission, 2018a).

In general, the carbon offsetting schemes operate on compliance and voluntary markets. Compliance carbon offset markets are set and regulated under the Kyoto Protocol treaty. The costs allocated, for example, to finance the Clean Development Mechanisms (CDM) Certified Emission Reduction units (CERs) are considered as the direct costs eligible for tax reduction programs. The challenge with carbon offsets on the voluntary market was that the market is unregulated and uncertain (R4, R7). Besides, the voluntary market carbon offsetting scheme fell under neither European Union's Emission Trading System (EU ETS) regulations nor Sweden's

Climate Act and Climate Policy Framework. Therefore, the Swedish Tax Agency argued that the costs of any entity in Sweden for carbon offsetting projects were indicated as voluntary initiatives (R4). Therefore, as they are voluntary corporate initiatives, the costs for voluntary carbon compensation credits have been classified as ones spent for charity and aid purposes (Blinfo, 2018).

Salta Kvarn did not agree with the statement that costs spent for carbon compensating projects was charity and other companies such as Arla and MAX, that also allocate funds to compensate their carbon emissions, did not accept the Swedish Tax Agency's statement, either. Thus, MAX, Arla, and Salta Kvarn separately became embattled in 4-year court cases on the matter; they ended their cases separately due to the companies' different methods and philosophies about product marketing (R4, R6). Johanna Brunge Grant, a consultant for ZeroMission, was consulting MAX in the defending process and stood with MAX. She commented that the tax law in Sweden did not consider tax deductions from the sales of products that harm health such as alcohol and cigarettes or fall into "questionable" categories of businesses like adult video platforms. Thus, "carbon offset ended up in the same corner as alcohol and adult videos." (R4). She has also expressed:

For all our [ZeroMissions'] customers, including MAX, carbon offset has been something that has been part of the marketing and especially for MAX, the carbon offset has been like on their menu, and it's part of a communication to their customer (Grant, pers.comm.).

In four years, MAX and ZeroMission participated in numerous round table discussions with the Swedish government representatives aiming to change a law and make climate initiatives work for other companies plausible and, thus, make voluntary carbon offsets deductible. At some point, the Swedish Supreme Court suggested that that "only emission reductions through the EU ETS units, a cap and trade system within Europe, can become deductible and nothing else" (R4). However, having not been satisfied with the suggestion MAX and ZeroMission pushed the court battle further.

It was like you [the Government Tax Agency] don't understand the way companies thinking. Nobody would ever carbon offset through the EU emission reduction units. It's more for countries, not for a company like MAX (Grant, pers.comm.).

MAX did not consider carbon offsets as aid, charity, or donations, and none of the others involved in court cases did. MAX stated instead that carbon offsetting costs served as trade and thus, were included in the market. Thus, it was a long-lasting challenge for MAX to make Swedish Government representatives understand that the reduction of their carbon emissions was part of their marketing and a core business strategy (R1, R4) (ZeroMission, 2018b). However, in June 2019, MAX received a positive statement from the Swedish Supreme Court. Thus, for MAX, the court victory resulted in a tax refund from the Swedish Tax Agency for the years between 2012 and 2017 (R1) (MAX Burgers, 2018a). More importantly for MAX, the most significant victory was the regulation change in the national tax system to count costs spent for voluntary carbon offset credits as marketing costs that are eligible for tax deduction (R1, R4). In a press release on June 29, 2018, MAX asserted that a ruling from the Supreme Administrative Court concluded that "a company that had expenses for climate compensation and marketed the compensation for the sale of the company's products such as marketing costs it has been allowed a tax deduction" (MAX Burgers, 2018a). The change in Swedish tax law implicated that for all Swedish companies inclining to compensate carbon emissions, 22% of the costs that are taxed will be refunded (R1) (MAX Burgers, 2018a). The only requirement to the new tax regulation was that companies offsetting their carbon emissions have to explicitly apply it as a marketing tool in products sales (R4) (Blinfo, 2018). MAX spent four years working over the

court case with other companies, which eventually resulted in the change of national taxation regulation. These efforts are a testimony to how MAX fulfills its mission "to make the world a little, both by serving the best tasting burgers and by doing good in society and for the world" (FoodService Europe & Middle East, 2018, p.1). Respondents R1, R4, R5, and R6 clearly stated that MAX's initial purpose in engaging in the court process was not the tax refund for their carbon compensation initiatives. Instead, the primary goal was leveraging a change in the tax system that would give small companies a more straightforward path to implement carbon compensation projects.

With the changed legal practice, it is now easier for more companies to create climate-positive products, and it feels fantastic (Török, pers.comm.).

We are happy and relieved that climate compensation has finally become deductible not only for us but for all companies. The change of jurisprudence is a victory for the earth's climate, said Richard Bergfors, CEO of MAX Burgers (MAX Burgers, 2018a).

MAX's purpose with this [court defending case] is not reducing tax. It tried to make a better world actually (Forssten, pers.comm.).

The current sustainability director of MAX, Kaj Török, additionally claimed that MAX considers the court case victory not only as a prize for several companies (Arla, Saltå Kvarn, and MAX). Instead, the country's people and the environment are the ones who eventually won and benefited the most in the long run (R1).

It made it a 21% cheaper for all other companies in Sweden to buy carbon offsets. So that's why we said, Okay, MAX, Arla wins, and MAX wins. But it's really the Swedes and the climate (Török, pers.comm.).

#### 4.8 Climate positivity and urgent call for joining MAX's path

As MAX has expanded, their GHG emissions have expanded as well. On December 12, 2015, at the 21st Conference of the Parties of the UNFCCC, the Paris Agreement was adopted by consensus and signed by more than 190 nations. The agreement announced the world has to enhance the efforts to limit the global temperature rise to 1.5 degrees this century. That announcement has tremendously influenced MAX's family owners and management and led them to develop an idea that would inspire others to become committed to climate issues. Thus, two and a half years later on June 5, 2018, MAX announced plans to offset 110% of the carbon they emit.

If we are to achieve the UN climate goal of keeping the global temperature rise below 2 degrees, it is not enough just to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. What we have already released must also be cleared away' said Kaj Török (MAX Burgers, 2018a).

MAX gave the term "climate positive" to the initiative of sequestering 10% more than the company emitted. In essence, it indicated that MAX purchases 10% more carbon offsets that it produces (Climate Change Leadership, 2019; UNFCCC, 2019). The realisation of a climate positive initiative relied on MAX's partnership and collaboration with highly skilled experts within its climate commitment work. This partnership allows MAX to build a comprehensive analysis of carbon emissions and organise carbon sequestration schemes. MAX assigns its carbon footprint assessment to the consulting company U&We, which follows the Greenhouse Gas Protocol measurement standard. Each year since 2008, U&We collects data from MAX's supply chain, calculate emissions, and passes the final result to ZeroMission. ZeroMission

operates as a provider of carbon offsets as requested and based on the carbon analysis number. Between 2008 and 2018, ZeroMission provided carbon offsets for 100% of MAX's total carbon emissions. Thus, the project in Uganda "Tree for Global Benefit" was sufficiently operating for that purpose. Since 2019, as MAX started promoting climate positive change, ZeroMission provided additional carbon offsetting schemes in Nicaragua and Mexico (figure 4-8).



#### Figure 4-8. MAX's climate work partnership.

Source: Author's elaboration based on data given by respondents 4, 6 and various sources (PlanVivo, n.d.; ZeroMission, 2019b).

During the interview for this thesis, Kai Török commented that since the carbon positive initiative launch time up until April 2020, he made approximately 190 presentations on advocating the climate positive initiative and urged others, including individuals, companies, and societies, to join MAX's climate path. For the latter purpose, MAX came up with three steps on how others can make their products climate positive. First, MAX advises starting with a measurement of what is included in 100% of total emissions throughout the value chain. They admit that value chains are complex, and therefore, advise that companies hire experts to assist with this step. Secondly, MAX recommends committing to continue reducing emissions, warning that the process might turn slow and long. Thirdly, MAX suggests compensating for at least 110% of the total emissions.

Additionally, at the various arrangements, Kaj Török presented that carbon positive initiative cost MAX between 0.25% and 0.4% of their entire turnover to invest into the climate positive menu, which also has been expressed by him as a relatively cheap investment (Climate Change Leadership, 2019; Réseau Alliances, 2019; Sustainable Brands, 2018). Meanwhile, according to former Chief Marketing Officer, the 0.4% of MAX's total annual turnover is "a substantial amount of money" for going climate positive (R5) that accounts approximately 880,000 euro from the total turnover of 220 million euro in 2018 (MAX Burgers, n.d.).

MAX learned their mistakes from previous initiatives when they launched the carbon labelled menu in 2008 and the falafel burger in 2009. They admitted that they needed to correctly communicate the launch of climate-positive burgers to their audience and educate their customers and society on how MAX is connected with climate issues (R1). Thus, as compared to the carbon labelling launch, the carbon positivity initiative was advertised via TV channels (R5). To make it more understandable for the audience on what MAX implies by climate positive, MAX's sustainability manager Kaj Török made the world news announcement a speech on the launch of the climate positive initiative at the Sustainable Brands Fair in 40

Vancouver (Sustainable Brands, 2018). As Kaj Török mentioned, in 2018, MAX started to call its business climate positive. He made the following remark about the shift and the company's transparency.

Between 2008 and 2018, where we're looking at about 85% of the value chains, total footprint. And from that perspective, we were leaders in that we have the widest climate analysis I've seen in the restaurant industry globally. But in 2018, we started measuring the last 15\$ as well. So, we came up to 100% of the value chain. And at that time, we went from 100%, carbon offsetting from the 85% the farmer's land to the guest, and that's 85% of the carbon footprint to 110% of the whole value chain. So that's about a 25% increase. But these things are really difficult to talk about without knowing more details. So that's why we said we used to say 100% carbon offset it and we're open and transparent about what we meant with that. And now we're saying climate positive. And that means we're 110% of everything (Török, pers.comm.).

All the mentioned efforts for climate responsibility made so far by MAX are strongly consistent with its core goal to inspire others to join the climate commitment path.

"We hope that we can inspire other companies to launch climate-positive products and services" said Richard Bergfors at the interview with Food Service Europe & Middle East (2018, p.2).

Table 4-2 depicts findings of the developmental process of achieving the climate action plan via highlighted tipping point-events in the timeline. The table also indicates interviewee sources that mentioned specific events.

Timeline	Identified tipping point-events	The interview sources that shared about the tipping point-event (in bold - major contributors)	
1999-2006	I. Precursors of MAX' climate work: maturity, crisis, and time for changes	<b>Pär Larshans, Kaj Török</b> , Katrin Dahlgren, Marita Wengelin	
2007-2008	II. The start of MAX's climate commitment work	<b>Pär Larshans, Kaj Török,</b> Tony Jakobsson, Johanna Brunge Grant, Anders Forssten, Katrin Dahlgren, Marita Wengelin	
2007-2009	<b>III.</b> Carbon analysis and launch of the carbon labelled menu	Kaj Török, Pär Larshans, Tony Jakobsson, Johanna Brunge Grant, Anders Forssten, Katrin Dahlgren, Marita Wengelin	
2008-2020	<b>IV.</b> Time of climate commitment development strategy: reduction of carbon emissions	Kaj Török, Pär Larshans, Tony Jakobsson, Anders Forssten	
2009-2016	<b>V.</b> Climate impact reduction: failure of falafel burger and success of Green Family menu	Kaj Török, Anders Forssten, Pär Larshans, Marita Wengelin, Katrin Dahlgren	
2008-2018	VI. Climate neutrality and carbon offsetting projects' critique	<b>Johanna Brunge Grant, Marita Wengelin</b> , Kaj Török, Pär Larshans	
2014-2018	<b>VII.</b> Court case: the battle for making voluntary carbon offsetting costs tax-deductible for businesses in Sweden	Johanna Brunge Grant, Marita Wengelin, Kaj Török, Anders Forssten	
2018-2020	<b>VIII.</b> Climate positivity and urgent call for joining MAX's path	Kaj Torok, Johanna Brunge Grant, Katrin Dahlgren	

Table 4-2. The categorised list of materials collected and analysed for the thesis project.

Source: Author's work.

# 5 Analysis of drivers and barriers

This chapter analyses the drivers and barriers of MAX Burgers to the development of climate responsibility that was narrated in the previous findings chapter. The chapter is structured in accordance with the analytical framework that seeks to analyse the driving forces and challenges emerging within the organisation and from external influences.

# 5.1 Internal drivers and barriers

Internally emerged drivers within the organisation drove MAX during the development of climate initiatives and served as motivational leverage and challenging factors; these drivers and barriers are analysed in this section. Each area of influence has been analysed as a driver or barrier based on the provided data by interviewees and supported by grey literature. Thus, some areas of influences only serve as a barrier or driver.

## 5.1.1 Top management

**Driver.** All respondents agreed that MAX's family owners as top management was a crucial influence in the climate action plan initiatives. Throughout the initiative, the family took the lead in driving all climate initiatives at MAX (R1-R7), starting from carbon footprint evaluation to product development and support of carbon positivity.

The owners had the same mission and the values that they would like to contribute to the society, not only be a profitable company but also contribute and be part of the society and also be a part of the solution of the problems that exist in this world (Forssten, pers.comm.).

Respondents 6 and 7 noted that due to the family's leadership capabilities, strong will, and courage in taking risks, brave decisions in the climate-oriented initiatives were made quickly and thoughtfully (R6, R7). When the first attempt to come up with a green burger filled with falafel did not succeed and was eventually removed from the menu, MAX's owners still believed in the idea of greening the menu to reduce its carbon footprint. Then, a few years later, they were at the forefront of the launch of a menu with more extensive offers (R1).

It didn't work like a falafel burger. But we didn't forget. So, we tried something new. A couple of years later. And I think. One of the most important things for us to succeed was the Bergfors family. The family owns MAX. They have been willing to take risks (Török, pers.comm.).

Most importantly, the Bergfors family has been noted to have a strong motivation to keep their family business for an extended period. Therefore, their main goal is to keep the company's profitability at an optimum instead of maximum (R1) (Foretagarna, 2019).

And the family says, you know, "we want to be family-owned for a really, really long time, maybe for a generation. So, we want to strive for optimum profitability right now, not maximum." So, that's actually a little bit funny because MAX doesn't want to go maximum on profitability. So, we go optimum into that. And that means we are really building for the future. And so that's one of the success factors [in leading in climate commitment development] (Török, pers.comm.).

The management's ability to make brave decisions and their courage despite uncertainties and risks was mentioned by external respondent 6 as the success factor for leading in carbon assessment:

One of the things that success factors for MAX are the courage of the organisation, the courage of making the decision beforehand that we are going to do this. We don't know what it will take. We

don't know the cost beforehand. We don't know how much time it will take from us. We don't know how much strain it will put on our suppliers in collecting the data. We want to do this anyway. And that courage, I would say, is a great success factor for them in terms of being in the forefront of carbon footprinting of restaurant services (Dahlgren, pers.comm.).

There are other key management individuals whose leadership capabilities leveraged the implementation of climate initiatives. One of them mentioned by respondents was Pär Larshans, former head of human resources and first sustainability director at MAX. He established networks with experts, the public, and the government at the beginning of the development and implementation of the climate-related activities—that period dated between 2006 and 2015 (R1, R5).

Other [successful factor in leading climate commitment development] has been, of course, strong individuals. We have my predecessor at this post, Pär Larshans has been very eager on doing its job well and been connecting a lot in Sweden (Török, pers.comm.).

Pär Larshans was at the forefront of changing the company's culture. Moreover, his ambitious personality was capable of handling a challenge to reposition himself for tasks such as climate impact assessment while being accountable for human resources management and social responsibility at MAX back in 2008. Larshans' endurance in pushing things until they produced results benefited the company at the beginning of all the changes at MAX (R2). Thus, under his management as the first Chief Sustainability Officer, the company gained a Green Award in London in 2009.

Another key individual, according to the majority of respondents (R1, R3, R4, R6, R7), Kai Török, played a significant role in climate profile development at MAX is. He is the current Chief Sustainability Officer who ensures climate initiatives' implementation and communications in a way that follows the strategic mindset. He has assisted in MAX's strategy formation since 2007, making sure MAX makes people aware of what efforts the company has taken to reduce its impact on the environment. Thus, people find out that MAX is something different from the other burger businesses (R2). Moreover, respondents 4, 6, and 7 mentioned that Kaj Török was a key person in facilitating various projects with researchers and other institutions around what would be sustainable beef production (R6). He organised a series of stakeholder dialogues to build a basis for decision making of a particular climate-related project, initiative, or decision.

He's been working quite interestingly I think with the stakeholders. In stakeholder dialogues where he has invited me, he has invited NGOs, and he has invited scientists. He has invited a broad range of people from different types of societal organisations in order to test ideas with them and say, OK, what would you say if MAX did this? What would you say if MAX wanted to do that? What do you think about the term carbon neutrality and so on? So, he would have a basis for the decisions that needed to be made by the MAX Burgers' decision-makers, the boards (Dahlgren, pers.comm.).

Jonas Mårtensson, Head Chef and Head of Product Development, was also mentioned as a vital person at MAX. He was at the forefront of managing the Green Family product development project. His primary task was to design a product that would be low on carbon emissions and would taste similar to beef (R7). Thus, he searched the right suppliers that could meet MAX's green product requirements.

... So, he [Jonas Mårtensson] was always keeping an eye. "What is going on? How can I find this kind of products? How can I create something that is tasty and has less climate impact than meat burgers?" So, he was always pushing suppliers, you know, "no, we don't want this kind of product. We

want this kind of product. Otherwise, we cannot cook it or prepare it in our restaurants." So, he was pushing the suppliers to develop other kinds of products that would work for us (Wengelin, pers.comm.).

**Barrier**. There has been a slight resistance, disbelief, and absence of interest in climate action expressed by MAX's Head of Purchasing, according to respondent 2. This resistance is connected to the period when the company initially was challenged to design not only a tasty and healthy product but one that would stay consistent with the company's aspiration to stay climate responsible.

It was really the owner to be honest who wanted really to do this [climate commitment]. But the management board did not really believe in it because they were really into selling as many burgers as possible. That was one of the biggest hurdles internally because the Head of the Purchasing was not interested in this at all. He saw this just as a problem (Larshans, pers.comm.).

#### 5.1.2 Employees

**Driver.** Employees at MAX were found to be personally motivated to have a positive impact and seemed willing to bring that to the company (R5).

But luckily, I think almost any person would like to reduce their effect on the environment. So, I think the staff adapted really quickly, and they understood that we need to do something, and they start coming up with their own ideas how can reduce our emissions. The will was pretty strong for everybody. It was easier to get people [employees] thinking about a reduction in environmental impact (Forssten, pers.comm.).

**Barrier.** When owners initially communicated to internal employees about their desire to initiate climate impact assessments, they faced a lack of internal competence in climate questions (section 4.2). Pär Larshans was first tasked with the climate impact assessment. However, he found himself insufficiently experienced with this environmental responsibility as he was responsible for human resources at MAX.

I had not worked with that [climate related work] before because I was trained in economics and engineering. I have worked for ten years with human resources and education. So, I was not really skilled in the environmental aspect of sustainability. So, I needed to understand who I can work with, who will be the best partner for me (Larshans, pers.comm.).

Besides, when climate-related activities were initially introduced to the staff, reaching employee connectedness and focus over the carbon reduction idea was challenging at the beginning according to Anders Forrsten as it seemed time and budget consuming (R5). However, these challenges were internally resolved, partially due to the gained trust from employees. MAX previously implemented a culture change via a new hiring strategy, continuous top-down communications, and the formation of a sustainability vision. These measures seem to have supported MAX's willingness to communicate their climate responsibility (R2). Besides, the current Chief Sustainability Manager, Kaj Török, ensures that strategical thinking connects the different departments at MAX (R1). For achieving this connectivity, MAX organises regular internal meetings with a sustainability council three times a year (R1, R3).

We do also have a sustainability council. And so, we meet three times a year. And that means that we meet all of the top management teams and also some extra important competencies like our main chef and someone extra at the supply chain and so on. At these meetings, we're trying just to create a shared view on what we're doing and what's happening in different parts of the organisation (Török, pers.comm.).

MAX has organised a series of courses and training workshops to educate its staff, so they gain trust in and recognise the values related to climate initiatives (R5) (Conrad & Thompson, 2013). Also, MAX has an internal newspaper for employees; via this publication, MAX is able to ask employees to come up with the solutions and suggestions on how MAX could reduce its carbon emissions. There was a high involvement among all the employees (R5).

### 5.1.3 Budget

**Driver**. Many activities that aimed to reduce the carbon footprint at MAX had cost-reducing effects (R2, R3). Respondent 3 has expressed his surprise on the issue that other companies do not practice carbon-reducing policies if such activities reduce costs or cost the same.

And I have a hard time to understand why all companies don't do the same, if you have a choice between something that is better for the environment and it's pretty much the same cost, whys shouldn't you do it. Anyway, that's how we think and how we do it. (Jakobsson, pers.comm.).

Additionally, respondent 5 highlighted that the grounding motivations for climate commitment activities were not costs considerations as MAX always had the budget to invest in carbon labelling and compensation purposes. However, MAX's internal policies for decision making in building operations, real estate development, and facilities management affairs do follow the climate-friendly plan. They also depend on cost considerations because, as respondent 3 shared, "it [decisions on costs] needs to be neutral or almost neutral or maybe positive in earnings or spendings" (R3).

**Barrier.** As the company was relying on its own channels of marketing between 2008 and 2016, MAX did not consider commercial advertisements via traditional marketing channels such as television. Thus, when the carbon labelled menu was launched and did not receive full attention by customers, it was assumed that insufficient finances for its promotion was a challenge to achieving the desired customers' reaction rates (R2) (Barchan, 2016). However, MAX did not advertise climate-related activities on TV as the climate work was not considered as something to earn from (R5). As the company grew and climate action development improved at MAX within the following years, so did the allocation of budget for the promotion of the climate initiatives (R1).

We haven't had a clear business [climate] plan for MAX at all, actually, but we, of course, have had a budget (Török, pers.comm.).

### 5.1.4 Ethical motives

**Driver.** MAX's robust compatibility with core values was found to be the driver in pushing climate-related initiatives (R4, R5, R7). For example, the tipping point-event (subchapter 4.7) of defending the carbon compensation costs against the national tax agency in court for years proved the company's strong will and consistency to align with its core values (figure 4-3) to be role models and do good for business.

MAX were brave and said: "No, we won't take no for an answer. We think we believe in what we're doing and think this is the right way." So, they were brave enough to take it to the next instance. (Grant, pers.comm.).

We are a value-driven company in reality, instead of trying to think about "will I keep my job as a CEO if we create this report, trying to sell yourself to the board" we focus on doing the right things (Török, pers.comm.).

Moreover, several respondents stated that MAX strongly believes that what they are doing helps the environment (R1, R3, R4, R5, R7).

I think one of the critical success factors for MAX to manage to become trustworthy within sustainability is mainly because it is actually a core value of the company because I don't believe you can be really trustworthy and be really forward and progressive within field. If you don't really believe deeply, believe in what you're doing. So really it has to come from inside the core value. And I believe that is the case actually for MAX as the company and for the owner family. It is really, truly a core value to do good and to serve the world (Wengelin, pers.comm.).

Most important in MAX's core values is being an inspiration and example for other companies (R1, R6, R7); the company's leading efforts in climate action initiatives prove that.

What we can do is a big part. We can do what we do as a company. But the bigger aspect of it is to talk about it. We have to inspire others to follow our way. So, the other part of the sustainability work is to actually put a lot of effort in spreading the word to talk about it. So, and to set an example to inspire others to do more. If we can do it, why can't you do it? You know, we have chosen to do this now. You can also choose to do this now. So, this kind of message we are trying to send to other businesses (Wengelin, pers.comm.).

The empirical analysis of the internal influences as drivers or barriers showed that for some areas of influence only acted as driving factors. This is true for ethical motives (figure 5-1) as the MAX has strong core values with moral motives expressed in their mission which is "to make the world a little better, both by serving the best tasting burgers and by doing good in society and for the world" (Selberg, 2018, p.1).



Figure 5-1. Internal areas of influence toward the development of climate action that served as a driver and/or

barrier.

Source: Author's work.

#### 5.2 Analysis of external drivers and barriers

This subsection analyses the external areas of influences for their qualities as driving forces and barriers. It is important to mention that each area of external influence was analysed in the scope of data availability. Thus, the absence of a driver or barrier identified under each area of

influence should be noted as due to the lack of provided data or only serving as a driver or barrier.

#### 5.2.1 Suppliers

**Barrier**. When the company learned of the climate-impacts caused by their beef products in 2008, MAX decided to develop a green burger with a taste not inferior to beef. But at that time, MAX's ideas on a climate-friendly menu did not align with the pace of ongoing product development (R1, R7). Beef substitutes with low carbon profiles were not yet available to the market. More specifically, the main challenge was finding a supplier that could offer a plant-based substitute for beef. Texturised soy was available at that time, but it did not nearly meet MAX's ingredient taste standards. Thus, driven by innovative ideas, MAX has changed suppliers often within the last decade to the ones who were progressive with product development and could fit MAX's standards for the Green Family menu (R1).

We've changed suppliers, of course. So that falafel burger came from someone in 2009, the barbecue sandwich that where one of our best sellers in 2016 came from someone else. And now the plant beef that we're selling a lot today is coming from a third supplier. So, we're changing that. We're changing our supply chain to some extent. The sauces or the dip sauces are coming mainly from the same supply. So, it's a mix of keeping suppliers and changing them (Török, pers.comm.).

#### 5.2.2 Regulatory influence

**Driver.** There has been a lack of enforcement from regulatory bodies to require companies to reduce their GHG emissions (R1). As the Kyoto Protocol was not designed for businesses, but for countries, change is slow without enforcement (R1, R4). Besides, respondent 1 shared that politicians and governments in Sweden and internationally are not sufficiently addressing the climate change issues. Concerned by this reality, MAX representatives acknowledged the importance of companies' climate responsibility as "there is no chance at all that climate change can be mitigated" (R1). Thus, driven by poor national governance, MAX is conscious of the importance of its business role in voluntarily leading climate initiatives.

If I would go back to 2006 and say, would I have preferred that we did the job or that governments did the job? I would still have preferred the government because that meant we would fix the climate issue. So, what we are operating is a leadership gap. There is a gap between what we need to do in the world and what it's done. (Török, pers.comm.).

**Barrier.** Swedish regulations were also found to be disincentivise corporate climate activities and even to challenge them. MAX once had to stand up for the industry in the Swedish High Court against the national tax agency regarding the costs spent on carbon offsetting projects on the voluntary market (subchapter 4.7).

I think we haven't got that much support from that perspective. We've actually had to fight the system at one time [with National Tax Agency at the Swedish Supreme Court]. So, what they decided was that carbon offsetting was not the top deductive. And I've actually been writing in legal papers and a legal magazine explaining to judges why we're doing this and how it's done. So, from that perspective, I think in one way we can say that's also why we succeeded as leaders, because there was a leadership gap, and someone had to do something. (Török, pers.comm.).

## 5.2.3 Customers

**Driver**: As the core focus of MAX's business is the guest's taste preferences (figure 4-5) MAX puts all its business efforts into achieving the goal "to make the best burger in the world" along with the company's mission "to make the world a little better, both by serving the best tasting burgers and by doing good in society and for the world" (Selberg, 2018, p.1). All respondents highlighted the focus on the guest as a critical driver for MAX's business improvement along with the connection to climate change.

The passion for taste [for the guest taste preference], which is deeply ingrained in the family and in the organisation that means we can keep on doing what we love and connect that to climate change (Török, pers.comm.).

The company believes in its role of educating customers on environmental and climate impacts. By doing so, MAX admits that they have a competitive advantage (R5) (Conrad & Thompson, 2013).

So, we did this labelling and compensating. And we also thought it's very important that we tell the customers so they know what we are doing and how much we are affecting the environment so they can also make their own decisions. So, it's both parts of doing things that are good for the environment, but also educate the customer, so they know that they can actually reduce the emissions by making better choices. So, it's kind of 360 approaches to this problem (Forssten. pers.comm.).

Additionally, it is believed that consumers choose MAX for its sustainability and climate work (R1).

We sometimes can imagine that people are coming to us because we have the sustainability profile and they do that to some extent. But much more important than the sustainability profile is how they perceive our products (Török, pers.comm.).

The company's goal is to influence the customer as it aims to shift the purchasing pattern of a customer from meat-based burgers to "green" burgers with lower carbon footprints. And by doing so, the fast-food chain continuously works on taste development of a plant-based product (R1, R7).

Our goal is to make meat lovers want to eat plant-based meals more often thanks to the great taste of our Green Family burgers. We want to be part of that change, and we want to guide and inspire guests to eat more veggie-based food. So, we hope that we will continue seeing a shift in purchasing habits based on our guests' preferences to eat more 'green' food items. – Head Chef and Head of Product Development at MAX (ProVeg, 2019).

**Barrier:** In 2008, MAX was challenged with customers' unpreparedness to accept the carbon labelled menu in 2008-2009 (R1, R2) and that caused considerable financial losses for MAX (R5).

### 5.2.4 Competitiveness

**Driver**: Apart from the previously-mentioned activities that served as a competitive advantage for MAX and motivated the carbon reduction (thesis section 4.4), it is viable to assume that MAX is motivated by competing for credibility and for the opportunity to contribute to developments in climate policy discourses. MAX is proactively communicating its position on climate advocacy by responding to researchers' critiques (thesis section 4.6) and defending the carbon offsetting costs in the high court against the Swedish tax agency (thesis section 4.7).

They also engage with global occasions such as conferences hosted by UNFCCC (Piccard, 2019; UNFCCC, 2019) and communicating their activities via social media platforms such as YouTube and LinkedIn. MAX also gained a competitive advantage from being a climate-oriented organisation when it negotiated to lease potential restaurant buildings with real estate owners (R3).

We are pretty certain that our climates work as a whole has helped us find locations for new stores. Especially the last couple of years when the climate change topic has been top of mind for almost every people in Sweden, of course except the ones that don't believe in climate change. We think that by communicating our climate initiatives the landlords understand that we are a better choice than our competitors and that make it easier for us to find new locations for new stores. This is just one example of how our climate work also helps our business (Jakobsson, pers.comm.).

Respondent 7 introduced the concept "green muting" to refer to companies who do not disclose their sustainability work. Green muting is considered to be a consequence of avoidance of public blames in greenwashing. Thus, sharing knowledge or the high need to communicate MAX's values were mentioned by several respondents (R1, R2, R5, R6, R7) to be MAX's critical strength over achieving a competetive advantage and leadership in promoting climate responsibility. MAX also believes in the creation of a corporate movement and contributing to "making the world's climate better" (R7).

Some companies work a lot with sustainability, but they don't really talk about it. They don't make market campaigns or whatever on what they are doing. So, we call that green muting. You become silent. You do a lot of good things, but you don't talk about it. So, you green mute your sustainability work. And I think many companies do that because they don't want to be blamed for greenwashing, which is the opposite. So that's about as for companies today that we have to either be blamed for greenwashing or we will be green muting. But for MAX it has never been a choice to green mute what we are doing. Because the family owners still believe that we are just a small company, and we cannot make a change for the climate all by ourselves. We need to create a movement of many, many other companies to step forward and do what they can to make the world's climate better (Wengelin pers.comm.).

#### 5.2.5 Public society and media

**Barrier.** According to respondent 2's memories, when the public saw MAX's carbon labelled menu for the first time twelve years ago, it seemed as a contradictory idea to accept the fact that the fast-food company could take responsibility for climate issues (R2, R4).

We have succeeded with health [menu] because they were great burgers that were something that people understood. But the climate, the environment. Nobody believes that the burger business can be responsible for the climate (Larshans, pers.comm.).

As respondent 7 shared, MAX Burgers often encounters criticism:

So, we're quite used to having all kinds of opinions thrown at us that we have to stand up for it. Some people or media and journalist. Many of them want to criticise us. They only think "this [MAX] company just want to earn money. They [MAX] cannot really do this for the right reasons. They [MAX] are just a big company earning more and more and more money." And if we say something, we do this because it's very important. They [media] think it's just greenwashing. So that is a balance we always work with how to communicate it by being very factful and being very trustworthy in what we are saying. And to have facts that are verifiable and so on, that is very important for us. And of course, that that is also our responsibility, I would say, to do that. Otherwise, we would be lying. And we don't want to lie. We want to really do this 100% correct. So, but of course, it is all a balance. And I think

also being a leader in so many ways in between this field anyway, we expose ourselves for criticism, and we have to be aware of that all the time (Wengelin, pers.comm.).

MAX admits that as a fast-food company voluntarily advocating whether for climate issues resolution or recruiting immigrants, it is MAX's core values that navigate them in taking the role of defending their position and responding to critiques accordingly (R7).

We have the vegans on the one hand and the meat lovers on the other hand. And sometimes they get angry from each side. We are also a Swedish company. But then we have the conservative persons and nationalistic persons that think it's wrong that we hire and recruit people, which has just arrived in Sweden, immigrants coming to Sweden. Because we believe that everybody should work at MAX. It doesn't matter where they come from and what they look like. We want everybody to be included and to have this kind of diversity in the company. So, then you get criticised for that. We're quite used to having all kinds of opinions thrown at us that we have to stand up for it (Wengelin, pers.comm.).

But more importantly, MAX tries to engage with criticism of any type and to understand the right way of communicating their core values to stay true and factful (SOCAP, 2012). The case of engagement with criticism that arose from researchers from Lund University on the carbon offsetting project in Uganda is a good example of this practice (chapter 4.6). The company tried to quickly explore the issue by inviting the team of researchers to the Stockholm office to receive feedback on the issues. Additionally, it is believed that criticism targeted at MAX (Carton & Andersson, 2017; Hedenqvist & Johansson, 2018) often has more of a political concern (R7).

And I think many of these kinds of opinions rely on it as a political opinion actually. A lot of it also. So, it's politics sometimes when we have to face (Wengelin, pers.comm.).

However, MAX also believes in being a corporate activist in climate change problems and highlights the importance of continuously communicating their core values in response to criticism and public concerns (R7).

And I think that what we at MAX are doing with the climate. We are becoming this kind of corporate activists because we're very clear about it. And we don't fail. We just stand by it and keep on communicating. Keep on talking about it over and over and over again. Keep doing things. Keep leading by samples, because that's what we believe in (Wengelin, pers.comm.).

We really need to teach people about what we mean. So, when we're doing something new, the burden of explaining what we mean and what it is falls upon us. So that's a job that we have to do all the time. But we've been willing to do that (Török, pers.comm.).

Regarding the challenges emerging from public society and the media, MAX found its transparency to be critical (R1, R3, R4, R5, R7). The company addresses its transparency by disclosing carbon calculation methods (Török et al., 2018), publishing updates on carbon emissions for each menu product on the company's website (R5) (MAX Burgers, n.d.), publishing reports on the carbon footprint analysis (Török et al., 2018), having an openly available report on climate-positive burgers with clear and reader-friendly explanations, disclosing their consulting partners in climate work and carbon offsetting projects such as U&We and ZeroMission, who also extensively share the information on the MAX's projects on their websites (Wrenfelt et al., 2018; ZeroMission, 2019a). These efforts prove that the company is open for comments, critiques, and suggestions from competent audiences. In turn, the openness helps MAX to better approach their climate responsibility by challenging the methods they chose for assessment and carbon compensation.

Sometimes we are being critized be the by media for our initiatives, but in general, I think we have made it pretty good. Probably that's because one of our strategies in communication has been that we should be 100% transparent with what we do and why we do it (Jakobsson, pers.comm.).

#### 5.2.6 Technological advancement

**Barrier.** It has been found that the application of climate-friendly rules on decisions is limited by technological alternatives available at the real estate, facility management, and buildings market. As "the building and construction businesses is pretty slow in taking or getting alternatives [with low carbon]. So, we [MAX] try to do the best" (R3). As Respondent 3 shared, MAX's decisions in this area are always based on the rule to make choices that are the best possible solutions in the market and that sometimes might clash with the low carbon rule.

Sometimes it's hard to find good alternatives that work. One example is concrete, you need to have it as foundation for the restaurants. Of course, there are alternatives, but they have other problems and when you consider the maintenance and life cycle for the building you end up with the conclusion that sometimes it might be worth to have higher emissions when you build it because you get lower maintenance during the whole lifecycle. So, I think it's pretty complex, and there are in general hard to find good solutions on the markets. But, for example, a good example is that you can use wood as construction material and get a lower CO2 impact. So that's one example of cutting emissions down today without heavily affecting maintenance or life cycle of the building (Jakobsson, pers.comm.).

# 5.2.7 External influences: Other external influences emerged from stakeholders, events and conditions.

**Driver.** In the early 2000s, MAX was figuring out its position on the market while in parallel dealing with its staff crisis. Between 2000 and 2005, the world's biggest fast-food giant McDonald's, who was promoting sustainability concerns on the Swedish market, was acquired by a less sustainability concerned company, which put an end to any initiatives in the area. This event coupled with MAX's search for a "fresh alternative" (R1) on the market seems to have been a supporting signal for MAX that sustainability and climate could be an area for developmental considerations. Therefore, it is assumed that MAX might have been informed to take the lead in the sustainability area on the Swedish and global fast-food markets (R1).

McDonald's used to be really good at the sustainability work in Sweden. But they just sold off to another organisation which wasn't so committed to sustainability. So, I think it was also kind of picking up drop. That tone in our industry was saying 'no one's doing this now, we should do it (Török, pers.comm.).

Other events such as the release of the movie *An Inconvenient Truth* in 2006 and the Copenhagen climate summit in 2009 were found to drive the motivations of MAX to reduce risks related to climate issues. These two occurrences had substantial impacts on MAX's family ownerss consideration of climate responsibility as a part of their business (R1, R2, R4, R5). Other events included Paul McCartney's 2009 speech (MAX Burgers, 2009) at the European Parliament Hearing on Climate Change and Food Policy titled "Less Meat Less Heat" that included MAX's carbon labelling initiative as a positive example (R2, R4, R5). McCartney's speech gave global attention to the company's profile and led to numerous requests and invitations from various stakeholders to share with MAX's climate action implementation experience. Other considerable events were the Paris Agreement in 2015 on the urgency of reduction of GHG emissions and the IPCC report in 2018 on global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels that drove MAX to respond and set carbon-reducing goals and initiate a climate-positive concept (R1).

MAX presented its climate responsibility at many different events that were hosted by the Swedish Parliament, the European Parliament, the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, the UNFCCC, and many other industrial and the academic institutions (R1, R2). These events seem to have supported MAX in enhancing its reputation and gaining media coverage. This attention helped MAX gain public trust in Sweden but also made MAX a role model business in taking brave and ambitious initiatives in social and environmental work of business responsibility (R2, R4, R6, R7).

Figure 5-2 depicts the barriers and drivers that emerged from each external area of influence. Thus, regulatory influence as well as customers were found to both drive and challenge MAX's climate work development. Competitiveness and seredipitious external events only served as drivers. Challenging influences emerged from suppliers, public society, and the media as well as technological advancements.



Figure 5-2. External areas of influence toward the development of climate action that served as a driver and/or barrier.

Source: Author's work.

# 6 Discussion

This section interprets the significance of the results the thesis produced in light of what was already known about the research problem and the fast-food industry's potential to develop a GHG emissions reduction plan. It also reflects upon the methodology followed in the study.

# 6.1 Drivers for MAX's commitment to climate action: The importance of leadership

MAX has encountered various internal and external influences during its climate responsibility development. These influences were analysed as driving or challenging forces. The strongest driver for MAX's climate action development emerged from within the organisation, particularly its owners who are also members of the company's board and top management. This result aligns with studies from Chou et al. (2012) and Jang (2016) who mentioned top management as the most influential driver. The fact that MAX is a family-owned company allows its owners and employees to make quick decisions and more quickly implement climaterelated initiatives. Moreover, the literature this thesis investigated does not distinguish organisations between privately or family owned businesses and other types of business ownership since this topic was not a focus of those studies. However, this thesis indicates that ownership could be an important distinguisher because long-term commitments often require steady ownership; these commitments may not immediately yield economic results. This research implies that there is a risk with publicly traded companies that have to report quarterly earnings to their shareholders; these companies may lack a long-term commitment to climate responsibility. Family ownership may be an important aspect to the development of sustainability plans but has not been a focus of this research.

While it is more common for organizations to be driven towards more climate-friendly actions by external factors such as public protests, regulations, or shifts in customers diets (Jang et al., 2011; Longart, 2010; Perramon et al., 2014), MAX was entirely internally-driven toward decisions about climate sustainability.

Existing literature asserts that the improvement of profitability drives companies to adopt environmental practices (Bansal & Roth, 2000; Jang, 2016; Kim, 2009). However, all of the case study respondents claimed that MAX stands for optimum profitability and not maximum profitability because of the company's goal to sustain its business for generations to come. Instead, the results of the case study align with Long et al.'s (2018) findings that corporate values are radical and support transformations with profound implications. In the case of MAX, core values or ethical motives seem to be (along with top management support) the most influential driver in overall corporate sustainability work for the entire organisation. Thus, when making decisions related to carbon reduction and compensation activities, MAX is guided by its core values (figure 4-3) in "being a role model" for the industry and other organisations. Therefore, MAX actively stood up for business rights in Sweden for tax deductions from the costs of voluntary carbon offsets (chapter 4.7). MAX also openly communicates its climate responsibility work disclosing the standards and methods of carbon footprint analysis, revealing information on the organisations that assist them in carbon assessment and climate compensation issues, and participating in thematic events such as UNFCCC conferences, the Sustainable Brands forum, and similar gatherings.

Relying on its core values and mission "to do the right things for the climate," MAX actively responds to criticism, whether it is raised by academia (chapter 4.6) or the media. Moreover, multistakeholder considerations or openness to collaborate with research institutions, as mentioned in the literature, has been asserted as a critical factor in developing corporate climate

actions (Chou et al., 2012). This research aligns with MAX, as it is "cooperating in different projects with researchers and other institutions around what would a sustainable beef production be, for instance" (R6). For that, MAX organises stakeholder dialogues to build a basis for decision making for a particular climate-related initiative (Conrad & Thompson, 2013). Thus, as mentioned by all the respondents, the company's principles emerged from drivers of "ethical considerations" and "core values" such as transparency, sharing knowledge, and proactive communications with customers and the public, which are the critical success factors of MAX's path in climate work development.

#### 6.2 The importance of time and tipping point-events

The component of time was found to be crucial in the research about fast-food chains' leadership in climate action. Timeline illustration was highlighted by Long et al. (2018) as a necessary step for understanding the exploration of success factors for a certain business transition phase to sustainability. The eight significant events listed in table 6-1 were identified as influential in MAX's climate development path.

Table 6-1. MAX	's climate	development	bath d	enicted i	n timeline.
			p	· · · · · · · ·	

1999 - 2006	I. Precursors of MAX's climate work: maturity, crisis, and time for changes	
	- Restaurant business growth and change of management	
	- Leadership gap and change in culture	
	- Communications and gaining trust	
2007-2008	II. The start of MAX's climate commitment work	
	- MAX's owners' initiative	
	- Establishing partnerships with sustainability consultants	
	- Sustainability strategy formation	
2007-2009	III. Carbon analysis and the launch of the carbon labelled menu	
	- Carbon footprint analysis	
	- Acknowledgement of supply chain significance in carbon assessment	
	- The lack of customer awareness prevented acceptance of carbon labeled menu	
	- Limited communications and other storytelling of MAX's case	
2008-2020	IV. Time of climate commitment development strategy: reduction of carbon emissions	
	- The competitive and financial advantage	
	- Carbon-reducing activities	
2009-2016	V. Climate impact reduction: failure of falafel burger and success of Green Family menu	
2008-2018	VI. Climate neutrality and carbon offsetting projects' critique	
2014-2018	VII. Court case: the battle for making voluntary carbon offsetting costs tax-deductible for	
	businesses in Sweden	
2018-2020	VIII. Climate positivity and urgent call for joining MAX's path	

Source: Author's findings

MAX's climate responsibility is a life-long commitment and has been since the beginning of the initiative. The company's growth, the increase in public trust, and solving the leadership gap by changing the company's culture were all vital parts to initiating the climate action plan. MAX's position on the market has been evolving over time as it started by determining its climate impact, then developed its carbon-labeled carbon menu, and then developed a 100% carbon compensation practice that over time developed to a climate positive initiative. Importantly, the company's will to stand for this position over the last 12 years proved its importance to achieving leadership in addressing climate responsibility.

Therefore, MAX had to stand for its core values as reflected in the climate work and overall sustainability especially at times when MAX encountered challenges that emerged from external influences, such as customers and suppliers at the beginning of climate work between 2008 and

2016, and later from academia and regulatory bodies between 2014 and 2018. A company's willingness to engage with these long-term processes, as depicted on table 6-1, to which MAX has committed enormous attention and resources, continously makes contributions to improvements and has proved to only have positive outcomes.

One important message of the research is that long-term vision, strategy, persistent commitment, and time itself are all crucial to achieving climate action leadership in the fast-food industry. However, the literature that this thesis covered does not sufficiently acknowledge the time aspect. Time plays a vital role as climate action plans take years to be developed for a company to achieve leadership.

# 6.3 Barriers to MAX's commitment to climate action: patience is crucial to win stakeholders over

Identified barriers of external emergence were very influential for MAX's perseverance that took years to overcome as they had a more responsive nature to the already adopted climate initiatives driven by internal influences. Responsiveness implies that external barriers were mainly dependent on the level of preparedness of the particular area of influence (suppliers, regulatory impact, customers, public society, and technological advancements) for MAX's development of climate responsibility that has been addressed by the company's strong desire to contribute to changes in the entire system.

For example, it was critical to the area of influence of "customers" who were identified as a barrier due to an insufficient level of awareness on the possibilities of the use of the carbon labelled menu back in 2008. To address this challenge, MAX has ever since been educating their customers by improving the communications on the carbon labelled menu and changing marketing approaches from promoting the Green Family menu as "low carbon" to "tastes as good as beef."

Similar dynamics were found with suppliers of MAX that depended on contemporary product development advancements and therefore struggled to comply with MAX's ingredient requirements. Over the years as product development improved MAX managed to find suppliers that met their Green Family menu's ingredient requirements. However, the barrier that emerged from suppliers was not related to the complexity of supply chains as mentioned by Aarnio et al. (2008) and Shokri et al. (2014).

As for regulatory impact, the literature claims that absence or deficient national regulations on corporate environmental responsibility usually inhibit companies from initiating or adopting climate action plans (Shokri et al., 2014b). This lack of regulation served both as a driver and barrier for MAX's case. From one point of view, the fast-food chain was challenged by the underdeveloped Swedish tax regulations regarding the consideration of carbon offset costs as tax-deductible because carbon offsets traded on the voluntary market are not regulated. From another point, MAX was driven by the possibility of changing the tax regulations for the voluntary carbon offset, and thus was involved in a law suit with the national tax agency for four years. The fact that MAX contributed to corporate climate policies in Sweden might be a motivation to gain a competitive advantage. However, it does not seem that MAX promoted itself by disclosing its close engagement with climate-related programs organised by prominent institutions like the UNFCCC, UNEP, and EU ETS, as mentioned in other examples given by Okereke (2007). However, MAX does not connect its court victory with the promotion of its products.

For MAX, the public throughout these years served as a constant tester of the company's climate claims, as were the researchers who have criticised MAX's carbon compensation methods for the last 3 years. MAX openly responded by thoroughly exploring the researcher's claims and personally inviting them to the office in Stockholm for discussions on the carbon offsetting project problems. MAX is aware of the risks related to bad publicity and criticism such as green washing, that according to Bansal & Roth (2000) usually tend to stop companies from communicating on or engaging in environmental actions. However, MAX is always ready to address these risks by organising open dialogues and collaborating with various stakeholders. MAX's approach to openness is to communicate their transparency in disclosing detailed information regarding their climate work such as carbon footprint analysis, carbon offsetting projects, and carbon labelling, which has helped MAX improve its climate responsibility.

### 6.4 Reflection on the methodology and results of the study

The methodological approach for answering the research question first started with analysing the tipping point-events that influenced MAX's climate action development. The developmental narrative approach served as the basis for the analysis of drivers and barriers emerging from internal and external influences. This approach also helped identify and classify the drivers and barriers that belong to a particular timeline simplifying the application of the analytical framework. Moreover, the methodology's clarity in the identification of drivers and barriers might be considered as the advantage of the chosen approach and recommended for research of organizational changes or transition to sustainability.

However, the analytical framework is limited to the distinguished areas of influence found during the literature review such as internal or external stakeholders (top management, employees, suppliers, government, customers, competitiveness, and public society), the means (budgets and technological advancements) and business morals (ethical motives). Prior to the application of the analytical framework for the analysis of the drivers and barriers, there was no theory used for identifying the tipping-point events in the developmental process of climate commitment at MAX. As such, produced findings or identified key events in MAX's path to leadership in carbon reduction were limited to the researcher's views. Thus, the resulted drivers and barriers shown in the analysis section could also have been biased by the thesis author's perceptions.

Moreover, the analysis was produced for a single case study in accordance with the analytical framework and has a relatively low generalisability for other geographical and cultural contexts. The case was analysed in the Swedish fast-food industry context. Therefore, it was limited to the specificities of national regulations, socio-economic situations, market dynamics, and the availability of expertise. However, considering that the fast-food chain operates in the context of a developed economy, certain developmental events are likely to be repeated for the businesses of the same sector and size operating in the similar national economies.

# 7 Conclusion

This study set out to understand how a Swedish family-owned fast food chain became a role model in the industry for climate action. In light of a lack of research in the area of carbonreducing initiatives implemented by the fast-food industry, there is a need for exploration of available fast-food business cases that are leaders in climate responsibility agendas. Thus, this thesis used the case of the fast-food chain MAX Burgers to better understand its development of a climate commitment path and analyse the drivers and barriers of this development.

This research showed that over many years, MAX slowly but steadily worked to improve its carbon emmisions and now advocates for beyond 100% climate neutrality ("carbon positivity"). MAX has been on a climate development path for more than 12 years. Today, MAX leads the industry by further developing its climate responsibility to compensating 110% of GHGs that the organisation emits. As reported in this thesis (chapter 4), this development resulted from several critical moments. One important takeaway is that climate action plan development is not a steady and smooth path but rather is a continuous "roller coaster" ride experience with moments of failures and difficulties (see chapters 4.3, 4.5, 4.6 and 4.7).

It is important to note that MAX is privately owned, and the owners were willing to transform MAX into a climate committed company. MAX is not traded on the stock market and therefore does not have to report earnings to the shareholders. Owners make the decisions, and they are aware of all the challenging dynamics the business had to overcome.

Notably, the areas of influence such as ethical motives, competitiveness, and other external influences were analysed as the drivers of change. Meanwhile, influences such as suppliers, public society and media, and technological advancements were found to create challenges in MAX's climate action plan path. However, the areas that were analysed to both drive and challenge the fast-food chain were the top management, employees, budget, regulatory influence, and customers.

MAX can be commended for its climate action development given the absence of national regulations, a non-supportive tax system, and the unpreparedness of the supply chain and consumers at the beginning of its decision to devote the business to carbon-reducing responsibility.

For managers in general, it is important to understand that setting long-term goals and longterm visions are crucial aspects in cases of climate commitment. For other fast-food chains in Sweden, it might be easier to implement the same carbon neutral and positive approach because MAX has already paid its share to change the tax regulations and has pushed the market to comply with climate action plan requirements. Thus, fast-food organisations could also learn from a local competitor like MAX Burgers. For policymakers, this research implies that there should be a separation between leaders and followers made. It is assumed that some companies are internally set up to lead and some are set up to follow. Therefore, policymakers could create incentives for the companies based on the scale of efforts in a climate action plan. Moreover, policymakers should help create new demand for products and services of more sustainable and climate-oriented organizations.

# 7.1 Recommendations for future research

The thesis explored the leadership of a fast-food chain in the process of climate commitment via narrating the developmental process of climate action implementation and an analysis of internal and externally emerged drivers and barriers. This thesis project could be complemented with a comparative study with more cases selected in order to provide broader contexts generalisability. Potential research also includes considerations of various hierarchy levels of participants and different geographical locations. Also, MAX franchises in Norway, Poland, and Denmark could be considered for future studies. A broader range of internal and external stakeholders such as suppliers and line managers could also be studied. Moreover, this thesis could be followed with quantitative research that can provide more information on the perceived significance of drivers and barriers by the broader range of interview sampling. Additionally, as it has been discussed earlier, the importance of ownership should be investigated for a company's commitment and engagement with issues such as climate action plans.

## Bibliography

- 6, P., & Bellamy, C. (2014). Principles of Methodology: Research Design in Social Science. In *Principles of Methodology: Research Design in Social Science*. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446288047
- Aarnio, T., & Hämäläinen, A. (2008). Challenges in packaging waste management in the fast food industry. Resources, Conservation and Recycling. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2007.08.002
- Alsaawi, A. (2016). A Critical Review of Qualitative Interviews. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2819536
- Andersson, E., & Carton, W. (2017). Sälja luft? Om klimatkompensation och miljörättvisa i Uganda. *Politisk Ekologi:* Om Makt Och Miljöer.
- Bansal, P., & Roth, K. (2000). Why companies go green: A model of ecological responsiveness. Academy of Management Journal. https://doi.org/10.2307/1556363
- Barchan, M. (2016). Sustainability Advocate Pär Larshans: Honoring Core Values Catapults Burger Chain. Retrieved May 10, 2020, from https://www.braveleadersproject.com/blog/par-larshans
- Beck, D., & Cowan, C. C. (1996). Spiral dynamics : mastering values, leadership, and change : exploring the new science of memetics. In *Developmental management*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13398-014-0173-7.2
- Blaikie, N., & Priest, J. (2019). Designing Social Research. The Logic of Anticipation (Third). Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Blanco-Portela, N., Benayas, J., Pertierra, L. R., & Lozano, R. (2017). Towards the integration of sustainability in Higher Eeducation Institutions: A review of drivers of and barriers to organisational change and their comparison against those found of companies. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 166, 563–578. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.07.252
- Blinfo. (2018). Deduction for climate compensation. Retrieved May 14, 2020, from https://online.blinfo.se/BlioViewArticle.do?number=webb%7Conline%7C1%7C18:221&q=3498594
- Brennan, L., & Owende, P. (2010). Biofuels from microalgae-A review of technologies for production, processing, and extractions of biofuels and co-products. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2009.10.009
- Brundtland, G. (1987). Report of the World Commision on Environement and Development: Our Common Future. Oxford Paperbacks. https://doi.org/10.2307/2621529
- Busby, M. (2019, January 29). Investors urge KFC, McDonald's and Burger King to cut emissions. The Guardian. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/jan/29/investors-urge-kfc-mcdonaldsand-burger-king-to-cut-emissions
- Carton, W., & Andersson, E. (2017). Where Forest Carbon Meets Its Maker: Forestry-Based Offsetting as the Subsumption of Nature. *Society and Natural Resources*. https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920.2017.1284291
- Chkanikova, O., & Mont, O. (2011). Overview of sustainability initiatives in European food retail sector. In *European Retail Round Table*.
- Choi, G., & Parsa, H. G. (2007). Green practices II: Measuring restaurant managers' psychological attributes and their willingness to charge for the "green practices." *Journal of Foodservice Business* Research. https://doi.org/10.1300/J369v09n04\_04
- Chou, C. J., Chen, K. S., & Wang, Y. Y. (2012). Green practices in the restaurant industry from an innovation adoption perspective: Evidence from Taiwan. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 31(3), 703–711. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2011.09.006
- Chu, S. Y., & Schroeder, H. (2010). Private governance of climate change in Hong Kong: An analysis of drivers and barriers to corporate action. *Asian Studies Review*. https://doi.org/10.1080/10357823.2010.507863
- Climate Change Leadership. (2019). "CLIMATE POSITIVE" How Max Burgers is Inspiring Brands to Do More. Retrieved from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0\_YvSZujFmI
- Conrad, C., & Thompson, M. E. (2013). The New Brand Spirit: How Communicating Sustainability Builds Brands, Reputations and Profits. Retrieved from https://books.google.se/books?id=gyarCwAAQBAJ&lpg=PA233&ots=jitkEx03CG&dq=max burgers

59

has green buildings&pg=PA232#v=onepage&q=max burgers has green buildings&f=false

- Creswell, J. W. (2007). Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative and Mixed Method Aproaches. SAGE *Publications*. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781849208956
- Curasi, C. F. (2001). A critical exploration of face-to-face interviewing vs. computer-mediated interviewing. *International Journal of Market Research*. https://doi.org/10.1177/147078530104300402
- Currie, J., Vigna, S. Della, Moretti, E., & Pathania, V. (2010). The effect of fast food restaurants on obesity and weight gain. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*. https://doi.org/10.1257/pol.2.3.32
- Dul, J., & Hak, T. (2007). Case Study methodology in business research. In *Case Study Methodology in Business Research*. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780080552194
- Eisenhardt, K. M. (1989). Building Theories from Case Study Research. Academy of Management Review. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1989.4308385
- Esensjö, J., & Petrina Esensjö, S. (2010). MAXimizing Human and Organizational Potential with The Human Element. Retrieved May 10, 2020, from https://thehumanelement.com/wpcontent/uploads/2016/03/T918US\_Max\_CaseStudy\_2016\_03.pdf
- FAO. (2016). The State of Food and Agriculture: Climate chnage, agriculture and food security. In FAO. https://doi.org/ISBN: 978-92-5-107671-2 I
- Faulkner, D., Viney, H. P., & Carlisle, Y. M. (2005). Changing corporate attitudes towards environmental policy. Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal. https://doi.org/10.1108/14777830510614349
- Folk, E. (2018). Making Fast Food Chains More Sustainable. Retrieved December 9, 2019, from https://conservationfolks.com/making-fast-food-chains-more-sustainable/
- Food Service Europe & Middle East. (2018). Launching the World's First Climate-Positive Burgers. (5).
- Foretagarna. (2019). # Entrepreneurial pod # 178: How to create a sustainable business? Retrieved from https://www.foretagarna.se/foretagarpodden/2019/juli/foretagarpodden-178/
- Freeman, E. M. (2011). Restaurant Industry Sustainability: Barriers and Solutions to Sustainable Practice Indicators.
- Gadema, Z., & Oglethorpe, D. (2011). The use and usefulness of carbon labelling food: A policy perspective from a survey of UK supermarket shoppers. *Food Policy*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2011.08.001
- Garza, K. B., Ding, M., Owensby, J. K., & Zizza, C. A. (2016). Impulsivity and Fast-Food Consumption: A Cross-Sectional Study among Working Adults. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2015.05.003
- Gerring, J. (2006). Case study research: Principles and practices. In Case Study Research: Principles and Practices. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511803123
- Gill, M., Smith, P., & Wilkinson, J. M. (2010). Mitigating climate change: The role of domestic livestock. Animal. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731109004662
- Godfray, H. C. J., Crute, I. R., Haddad, L., Muir, J. F., Nisbett, N., Lawrence, D., ... Whiteley, R. (2010). The future of the global food system. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0180
- Graça, J., Calheiros, M. M., & Oliveira, A. (2014). Moral Disengagement in Harmful but Cherished Food Practices? An Exploration into the Case of Meat. *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10806-014-9488-9
- Harvey, M., & Pilgrim, S. (2011). The new competition for land: Food, energy, and climate change. Food Policy. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2010.11.009
- Hedenqvist, R., & Johansson, H. (2018). An Ideology Critique of Max Burgers' Environmental Strategies. Linköpings universitet.
- Hitchcock, D., & Willard, M. (2009). The Business Guide to Sustainability: Practical Strategies and Tools for Organizations (illustrate). Earthscan.
- Hoffman, A. J. (2005a). Climate Change Strategy: California Management Review.
- Hoffman, A. J. (2005b). Climate change strategy: The business logic behind voluntary greenhouse gas reductions.
California Management Review. https://doi.org/10.2307/41166305

- Hoffman, A. J. (2006). Getting Ahead of the Curve: Corporate Strategies that Address Climate Change. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1635790
- Holm, L., & Møhl, M. (2000). The role of meat in everyday food culture: An analysis of an interview study in Copenhagen. *Appetite*. https://doi.org/10.1006/appe.2000.0324
- Hutchinson, D., Singh, J., & Walker, K. (2012). An assessment of the early stages of a sustainable business model in the Canadian fast food industry. *European Business Review*, 24(6), 519–531. https://doi.org/10.1108/09555341211270537
- Institute for Sustainability. (n.d.). Defining Sustainability. Retrieved April 10, 2020, from https://www.theinstituteforsustainability.com/
- IPCC. (2014). AR5 Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Chapter 11. AGRICULTURE, FORESTRY

   AND
   OTHER
   LAND
   USE
   (AFOLU).
   Retrieved
   from

   https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/ipcc\_wg3\_ar5\_chapter11.pdf
   FORESTRY
- IPCC. (2019a). Climate Change and Land: Summary for Policymakers. In WHO and UNEP. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781784710644
- IPCC. (2019b). Global warming of 1.5°C. Global Warming of 1.5°C. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470996621.ch50
- Jang, Y. J. (2016). Environmental sustainability management in the foodservice industry: Understanding the antecedents and consequences. *Journal of Foodservice Business Research*. https://doi.org/10.1080/15378020.2016.1185880
- Jang, Y. J., Kim, W. G., & Bonn, M. A. (2011). Generation Y consumers' selection attributes and behavioral intentions concerning green restaurants. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2010.12.012
- Jeffery, R. W., Baxter, J., McGuire, M., & Linde, J. (2006). Are fast food restaurants an environmental risk factor for obesity? *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-3-2
- Jianyi, L., Yuanchao, H., Shenghui, C., Jiefeng, K., & Lilai, X. (2015). Carbon footprints of food production in China (1979-2009). *Journal of Cleaner Production*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.11.072
- Kasim, A. (2007). Corporate environmentalism in the hotel sector: Evidence of drivers and barriers in Penang, Malaysia. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*. https://doi.org/10.2167/jost575.0
- Kasim, A., & Ismail, A. (2012). Environmentally friendly practices among restaurants: Drivers and barriers to change. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*. https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2011.621540
- Kharas, H. (2010). The Emerging Middle Class in Developing Countries. OECD Development Centre Working Paper Series. https://doi.org/10.1787/5kmmp8lncrns-en
- Kim, K. H. (2009). Global Warming: What is Your Business Strategy? Proceedings of the Northeast Business & Economics Association, 92–97. Retrieved from http://w3.bgu.ac.il/lib/customproxy.php?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db= bth&AN=48177659&site=eds-live&authtype=ip,uid&custid=s4309548&groupid=main&profile=eds
- Krishna, R., & Somavarapu, S. (2017). Preference for Restaurant Foods Over Home Made. *STM Journals*, 6(3), 32–48. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Silpa\_Somavarapu3/publication/336669465\_Preference\_for\_Restaurant\_Foods\_Over\_Home\_Made/links/5dab1be6a6fdccc99d91d4de/Preference-for-Restaurant-Foods-Over-Home-Made.pdf
- Kumar, S., Hong, Q. S., & Haggerty, L. N. (2011). A global supplier selection process for food packaging. Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management. https://doi.org/10.1108/17410381111102243
- Lake, I. R., Hooper, L., Abdelhamid, A., Bentham, G., Boxall, A. B. A., Draper, A., ... Waldron, K. W. (2012). Climate change and food security: Health impacts in developed countries. *Environmental Health Perspectives*. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1104424
- Lal, R. (2016). Climate Change and Agriculture. In Climate Change: Observed Impacts on Planet Earth: Second Edition. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63524-2.00028-2

- Lefebvre, É., Lefebvre, L. A., & Talbot, S. (2003). Determinants and impacts of environmental performance in SMEs. R and D Management. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9310.00297
- Legrand, W., Sloan, P., Simons-Kaufmann, C., & Fleischer, S. (2010). A review of restaurant sustainable indicators. *Advances in Hospitality and Leisure*. https://doi.org/10.1108/s1745-3542(2010)0000006013
- Long, T. B., Looijen, A., & Blok, V. (2018). Critical success factors for the transition to business models for sustainability in the food and beverage industry in the Netherlands. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 175, 82–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.11.067
- Longart, P. (2010). What drives word-of-mouth inrestaurants? International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management. https://doi.org/10.1108/09596111011013516
- Lozano, R. (2015). A holistic perspective on corporate sustainability drivers. Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management. https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.1325
- Macdiarmid, J. I., Douglas, F., & Campbell, J. (2016). Eating like there's no tomorrow: Public awareness of the environmental impact of food and reluctance to eat less meat as part of a sustainable diet. *Appetite*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2015.10.011
- MacMahon, A., Smith, K., & Lawrence, G. (2015). Connecting resilience, food security and climate change: lessons from flooding in Queensland, Australia. *Journal of Environmental Studies and Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13412-015-0278-0
- Max Burgers. (n.d.). Official website. Retrieved December 10, 2019, from https://www.maxburgers.com/
- Max Burgers. (2009). Sir Paul McCartney on Max Hamburgare carbon labelling the menu. Retrieved from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Xwa7VFJoC60
- Max Burgers. (2013). Par Larshans' speech at the UNHCR conference. Retrieved from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jHJILztCbEw&feature=youtu.be
- Max Burgers. (2018a). Arla, MAX and the world won, now climate compensation is deductible. Retrieved May 15, 2020, from https://www.max.se/om-max/pressrum/pressreleaser/arla-max-och-varlden-vann--nu-blir-klimatkompensation-avdragsgill/
- Max Burgers. (2018b). Climate Positive Burgers. Retrieved from https://issuu.com/maxhamburgare/docs/max\_climatpositivburger\_low/1?ff&e=25478703/62035519
- Max Burgers. (2020). Max Burger's History. Retrieved March 1, 2020, from https://www.max.se/om-max/historia/
- Max Official Website. (n.d.). Max's History. Retrieved May 11, 2020, from https://www.max.se/om-max/historia/
- Max Official Website. (2018). Franchise brochure. Retrieved March 23, 2020, from https://www.maxburgers.com/global/download files/max-brochure.pdf/
- McGrath, M. (2019, January 29). Fast food giants under fire on climate and water usage. BBC.
- Myers, S. S., Smith, M. R., Guth, S., Golden, C. D., Vaitla, B., Mueller, N. D., ... Huybers, P. (2017). Climate Change and Global Food Systems: Potential Impacts on Food Security and Undernutrition. *Annual Review of Public Health*. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031816-044356
- Noci, G., & Verganti, R. (1999). Managing "green" product innovation in small firms. R and D Management. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9310.00112
- Ohlsson, C., & Riihimäki, J. (2015). Sustainable Communication or Communicating Sustainability?: A qualitative research studying sustainable marketing practices at IBM, Max Burgers & H&M. Retrieved from http://www.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2:895731
- Okereke, C. (2007). An Exploration of Motivations, Drivers and Barriers to Carbon Management:. The UK FTSE 100. *European Management Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2007.08.002
- Pathak, H., Jain, N., Bhatia, A., Patel, J., & Aggarwal, P. K. (2010). Carbon footprints of Indian food items. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2010.07.002
- Perramon, J., Alonso-Almeida, M. del M., Llach, J., & Bagur-Femenías, L. (2014). Green practices in restaurants: Impact on firm performance. *Operations Management Research*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12063-014-0084-y

- Piccard, B. (2019). Global Climate Action Awards Ceremony. Retrieved December 11, 2019, from https://unfccccop25.streamworld.de/webcast/global-climate-action-awards-ceremony
- Pinard, C. A., Byker, C., Serrano, E., & Harmon, A. H. (2014a). National Chain Restaurant Practices Supporting Food Sustainability. *Journal of Hunger and Environmental Nutrition*, 9(4), 535–545. https://doi.org/10.1080/19320248.2014.898169
- Pinard, C. A., Byker, C., Serrano, E., & Harmon, A. H. (2014b). National Chain Restaurant Practices Supporting Food Sustainability. *Journal of Hunger and Environmental Nutrition*, Vol. 9, pp. 535–545. https://doi.org/10.1080/19320248.2014.898169
- PlanVivo. (n.d.). Project Network Overview. Retrieved May 14, 2020, from https://www.planvivo.org/project-network/
- Poore, J., & Nemecek, T. (2018). Reducing food's environmental impacts through producers and consumers. *Science*. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaq0216
- ProVeg. (2019, January). MAX BURGERS ON HOW SUSTAINABLE FOOD CONCEPTS CAN BE IMPLEMENTED IN THE CORPORATE WORLD. Retrieved from https://proveg.com/blog/maxburgers-sustainable-food-concepts/
- Purdon, M. (2018). Finding Common Ground: A Critique of Subsumption Theory and Its Application to Small-Scale Forest Carbon Offsetting in Uganda. Society and Natural Resources. https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920.2017.1414908
- Raworth, K. (2017). A Doughnut for the Anthropocene: humanity's compass in the 21st century. *The Lancet Planetary Health*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(17)30028-1
- Réseau Alliances. (2019). Climate: Managerial Courage to Tackle Environmental Issues. Retrieved from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=uZoNktftywY
- Revell, A., & Blackburn, R. (2007). The business case for sustainability? An examination of small firms in the UK's construction and restaurant sectors. *Business Strategy and the Environment*. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.499
- Ritchie, H. (2019). Food production is responsible for one-quarter of the world's greenhouse gas emissions. Retrieved March 15, 2020, from https://ourworldindata.org/food-ghg-emissions
- Rockström, J., Steffen, W., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin, F. S., Lambin, E., ... Foley, J. (2009). Planetary boundaries: Exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society*. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-03180-140232
- Röös, E., Sundberg, C., & Hansson, P.-A. (2014). *Carbon Footprint of Food Products*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-4560-41-2\_4
- Schubert, F., Kandampully, J., Solnet, D., & Kralj, A. (2010). Exploring Consumer Perceptions of Green Restaurants in the US. *Tourism and Hospitality Research*. https://doi.org/10.1057/thr.2010.17
- Scott, M. (2019, February 4). Fast Food Giants Need To Face Up To Climate And Water Risks, Investors Warn. Forbes.
- Selberg, S. (2018). Launching the World's First Climate-Positive Burgers.
- SEPA. (2008). The Climate Impact of Swedish Consumption. Retrieved from https://www.naturvardsverket.se/Documents/publikationer/978-91-620-5992-7.pdf
- Shokri, A., Oglethorpe, D., & Nabhani, F. (2014). Evaluating sustainability in the UK fast food supply chain: Review of dimensions, awareness and practice. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 25(8), 1224– 1244. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMTM-04-2013-0031
- Smith, T. M. (2013). Climate change: Corporate sustainability in the supply chain. Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists. https://doi.org/10.1177/0096340213487310
- SOCAP. (2012). The New Era of Sustainable Business, Powered by The Human Element. Retrieved from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=B9XL5xrysjg
- Statistics Sweden. (2019). Greenhouse gas emissions in Sweden. Retrieved March 10, 2020, from https://www.scb.se/hitta-statistik/sverige-i-siffror/miljo/utslapp-av-vaxthusgaser-i-sverigeut/
- Stehfest, E., Bouwman, L., Van Vuuren, D. P., Den Elzen, M. G. J., Eickhout, B., & Kabat, P. (2009). Climate

benefits of changing diet. Climatic Change. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-008-9534-6

- Stender, S., Dyerberg, J., & Astrup, A. (2007). Fast food: Unfriendly and unhealthy. *International Journal of Obesity*. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0803616
- Sustainable Brands. (2018). A Global Launch of Climate Positive How Max Burgers is Inspiring Brands to Do More. Retrieved from https://vimeo.com/274552631
- Svensson, G., & Wagner, B. (2011). Transformative business sustainability: Multi-layer model and network of efootprint sources. *European Business Review*. https://doi.org/10.1108/09555341111145735
- Svensson, G., & Wagner, B. (2012). Business sustainability and E-footprints on Earth's life and ecosystems: Generic models. *European Business Review*. https://doi.org/10.1108/09555341211270555
- Szuchnicki, A. (2009). *Examining the influence of restaurant green practices on customer return intention*. Retrieved from http://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/thesesdissertations/155/
- Taylor, H. (2000). Does Internet Research Work? International Journal of Market Research. https://doi.org/10.1177/147078530004200104
- TEDxTalks. (2011). TEDxPresidio Par Larsens Sustainable Hamburgers. Retrieved from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=TrP6ygt7Pa0
- Török, K., Wrenfelt, P., Dahlgren, K., & Grant, J. (2018). Analysis of Max Burgers AB's carbon footprint for 2017 report. Retrieved from https://www.maxburgers.com/Global/Download Files/Max metodrapport och resultat klimat 2017 180605 engv9 CW.pdf
- Tzschentke, N. A., Kirk, D., & Lynch, P. A. (2008). Going green: Decisional factors in small hospitality operations. International Journal of Hospitality Management. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2007.07.010
- UNFCCC. (2019). MAX Burgers: Creating the World's First "Climate Positive" Menu | Sweden, Norway, Denmark, Poland. Retrieved March 3, 2020, from https://unfccc.int/climate-action/momentum-for-change/climate-neutral-now/max-burgers
- Vermeulen, S. J., Campbell, B. M., & Ingram, J. S. I. (2012). Climate Change and Food Systems. Annual Review of Environment and Resources. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-020411-130608
- Vu, H. M., Chan, H. K., Lim, M. K., & Chiu, A. S. F. (2017). Measuring business sustainability in food service operations: a case study in the fast food industry. *Benchmarking*, 24(4), 1037–1051. https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-04-2015-0030
- Wagner, B., & Svensson, G. (2014). A framework to navigate sustainability in business networks: The transformative business sustainability (TBS) model. *European Business Review*. https://doi.org/10.1108/EBR-12-2013-0146
- Wakeland, W., Cholette, S., & Venkat, K. (2012). Food transportation issues and reducing carbon footprint. In Food Engineering Series. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-1587-9\_9
- West, L. (2019). Recycling Fast Food Waste. Retrieved April 3, 2020, from ThoughtCo. website: https://www.thoughtco.com/slow-progress-recycling-fast-food-waste-1204147
- Wilber, K. (1998). A more integral approach. In Ken Wilbur in dialogue: Conversations with leading transpersonal thinkers.; A more integral approach.
- Willig, C. (2001). Introducing qualitative research in psychology Adventures in theory and method. *Qualitative Research*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794106058877
- World Bank. (2008). Climate change response strategies for agriculture : challenges and opportunities for the 21st century. *Agriculture and Rural Development Discussion Paper*.
- Wrenfelt, P., Emilsson, H., & Dahlgren, K. (2018). MAX Burgers: Climate smart + Good taste = Profitable. Retrieved from https://www.uandwe.se/customers/klimatsmart-god-smak-lonsamt/
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods (5th ed.). In Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Yin, Robert K. (2009). Case study research : design and methods / Robert K. Yin. In Applied social research methods series: 5. https://doi.org/10.1097/FCH.0b013e31822dda9e
- Zailani, S. H. M., Eltayeb, T. K., Hsu, C. C., & Tan, K. C. (2012). The impact of external institutional drivers and

internal strategy on environmental performance. International Journal of Operations and Production Management. https://doi.org/10.1108/01443571211230943

- ZeroMission. (2018a). Arla got right in the SCJ. Happy news! Retrieved May 15, 2020, from https://zeromission.se/arla-fick-ratt-hfd-glad-nyheter/
- ZeroMission. (2018b). Sweden's Supreme Court discussing carbon offsetting again trade or aid? Retrieved May 15, 2020, from https://zeromission.se/swedens-supreme-court-discussing-carbon-offsetting-trade-aid/
- ZeroMission. (2019a). MAX climate compensation project. Retrieved March 3, 2020, from https://zeromission.se/cases/max-burgers-klimatpositiv/
- ZeroMission. (2019b). MAX launches the world's first climate-positive burger. Retrieved May 14, 2020, from https://zeromission.se/cases/max-burgers-klimatpositiv/
- Zhang, J., Schrock, D., Livchak, A., & Bing, L. (2011). Energy Savings for Quick Service Restaurants. ASHRAE Journal.
- Zion Market Research. (2018). Fast Food Market Augmenting Highly To Reach USD 690.80 Billion In 2022. Retrieved from https://www.zionmarketresearch.com/news/fast-food-market

#### **Personal Communications**

Török, Kaj. Chief Reputation Officer & Chief Sustainability Officer at MAX Burgers. Former Strategy Consultant at The Natural Step. Formal interview. Sweden, 3 April 2020.

Larshans, Pär. Chief Sustainability Corporate Responsibility & Public Affairs Officer at Ragn-Sells. Former Head of Human Resources and Chief Sustainabiluty Officer at MAX Burgers. Formal interview. Sweden, 17 April 2020.

Jakobsson, Tony. Vice head of operations Sweden and Norway at MAX Burgers. Formal interview. Sweden, 21 April 2020.

Brunge Grant, Johanna. Climate Strategist at ZeroMission. Formal interview. Sweden, 21 April 2020.

Forssten, Anders. Former Chief Marketing Officer at MAX Burger. Formal interview. Sweden, 22 April 2020.

Dahlgren, Katrin. Consultant and coowner at U&We. Formal interview. Sweden, 23 April 2020.

Wengelin, Marita. Head of Public Relations and Corporate Communications. Formal interview. Sweden, 29 April 2020.

# Appendix 1. Three-part value chain classification of environmental sustainability initiatives in the fast-food sector

What and how fast-food businesses choose [I. Upstream]	How fast-food businesses operate [II. Direct in-house impact]	How fast-food businesses work with customers and local institutions [III.Dowstream]
1. Materials	1. Internal environmental policy	1. Encourage customers at
- Sourcing locally or "farm where	2. Energy	all branches to separate
vou are" concept program	- Employees are asked to switch off	waste such as leftover food
implementation	equipment when they are not in use	and packaging.
- Traceable food supply chain	-Energy saving technology in restaurants	<b>2.</b> Publish Sustainability
- Coffee raised sustainably	-Equipment efficiency check	Report
2. Packaging	-Installing more energy-efficient (up to	<b>3</b> . Encourage customers to
- Evaluation of packaging material	30%) variable-speed air compressors	reduce the use of disposable
to ensure correct sizing, weight.	- Installing high-efficiency industrial	hot drink cups by offering
and packing efficiency	battery chargers for forklifts	patrons a 10-cent discount
-Purchasing packaging materials	- Installing high-performance, energy-	on travel mug refills
only made from 100% renewable	efficient lighting in operations	4. Marking the products
sources from sustainable forests.	- Modifying conveyors so they only	8 1
100% recyclable, biodegradable and	operated when required	
made in country of operation	-Installing large fans on ceilings to	
-Only purchasing reusable cups.	circulate heat and cooling thereby	
plates, bowls, and cutlery that	reducing gas consumption	
reduce packaging	-Installing on-demand water heaters.	
3.Management/policy/protocols	lighting retrofits, and new equipment	
- Suppliers' code of conduct	- Installing variable-speed drives on	
(monitoring of suppliers)	some larger motors	
- Selection of a supplier by looking	3. Transportation	
at key performance indicators	- Vehicle maintenance and safety checks	
around pest control, sanitation,	- Reducing the maximum speed of on-	
operations and facility	site trucks	
management, good manufacturing	- Implementation of an anti-idling policy	
practices and product protection,	for all on-site trucks thus reducing fuel	
recovery and food security systems	consumption and airborne emissions	
- Testing food safety and security	- Fuel efficiency of the truck fleet	
practices by supplier	- Efficient Route planning	
-Looking for outstanding	4. Water	
performance in quality control of	- Staff trained to use water responsibly	
suppliers' management processes	- Water usage reduing equipment, such	
- International environmental	as a dedicated fondant chiller	
management standard	5. Waste	
-Purchasing policy by providing	- Switch of cardboard cartons to paper-	
assistance to 2,500 coffee partners	based packaging materials	
4. Other	<ul> <li>Less packaging less litter principle</li> </ul>	
- Assistance to partners to	- Recycling program	
strengthen environmental	- Classification of wastes by providing	
management through education on	different disposal bins in restaurants for	
sustainable tarming techniques such	better recycling	
as recycling water, reducing	-Annual internal waste audits identify	
pesticide usage, and promoting	waste streams and opportunities to	
shade on the cottee farm	reduce, reuse, and divert waste	
	- Participation in deposit-return	
	programs for branded beverage	
	containers	

- Collection of used coffee cups	
for a diversion program	
- Exploration of leftover such as palm	
oil, animal fats, waste products for usage	
as biofuel to power trucks that deliver	
products to stores	
6. Sustainable building design	
- Restaurant registration for Leadership	
in Energy and Environmental Design	
(LEED) certification	
7. Other:	
- Assessment of climate impact (only	
caused within its operations)	
- In-store diversion program (recycling	
and composting solutions) for paper	
packaging (i.e. hot drink cups)	

Source: Compiled by author from various sources (Hutchinson et al., 2012; Pinard et al., 2014b; Shokri et al., 2014; Vu et al., 2017)

### **Appendix 2. Overview of Interview Questions**

The author used the following questions to guide the general discussion in the semi-structured interviews. The remaining discussion was guided by the analytical framework, but the author adjusted the questions and comments based on how the conversation with the interviewee developed.

#### Introduction to questions.

While reading about MAX Burgers we found that initially MAX started with achieving a mission of carbon neutrality. And today MAX Burgers advocate for a mission of carbon positivity. We would like to understand how have MAX Burgers achieved the leadership in carbon reduction mission.

1. Could you please tell us how and why MAX Burgers started the carbon reduction mission and has developed climate work?

2. What have served as successfull factors for MAX Burgers in piloting and further developing the GHG reduction mission?

3. And what external and internal challenges have been encountered by MAX in achieving climate leadership in fast-food industry?

4. What is the role of internal factors in MAX's climate action mission? (top management; employees, budget, ethical motives)

5. What is the role of external factors in MAX climate action plan? (suppliers, regulatory influence, customers, competitiveness, public society, technological advances, external influences)

## Appendix 3. List of interviewed respondents

Number of	a) Title	i. Date of	Reasoning of the interviewee selection
respondent	b)Current/Former	interview	0
and name	c)Internal/External	ii. Duration,	
	,	in minutes	
1.Kaj Török	a) Chief Reputation Officer & Chief Sustainability Officer at MAX Burgers b) Current c) Internal	i.03.04.2020 ii. 71 min	Kaj started advising MAX Burgers while co-partnering with the international non-profit and non-governmental organization "The Natural Step" since 2007. In 2016, Kaj Török joined MAX Burgers as the Director of Information and Sustainability. He has been working with MAX Burgers since the period when the company was developing climate commitment initiatives. Since the launch of climate positivity on 14 June 2018, Kaj has given around 190 presentations on climate positivity. In total, he has worked with MAX Burgers for 13 years; he was an internal employee for the last 2
			3 years.
2.Pär Larshans	<ul> <li>a) Chief</li> <li>Sustainability</li> <li>Corporate</li> <li>Responsibility &amp;</li> <li>Public Affairs</li> <li>Officer at Ragn-</li> <li>Sells</li> <li>b) Former</li> <li>c) Internal</li> </ul>	i.17.04.2020 ii. 67 min	Pär worked at MAX for a total of 29 years in various positions. As Head of Human Resources between 1997 and 2010, he actively worked over MAX's social responsibility development. Pär was among the key players and facilitators of initial sustainability development work at MAX. While working over the sustainability plan, Pär established the first contacts of MAX with the consuling company "The Natural Step" where Kaj Török was assigned to be responsible for strategic work of sustainability development for MAX. Pär was the first Chief Sustainability Officer at MAX Burgers between 2010 and 2015.
3.Tony	a) Vice head of	i.21.04.2020	Tony has a total of 20 years of work experience at MAX Burgers in
Jakobsson	operations in Sweden and Norway at MAX b) Current c) Internal	ii. 52 min	different positions. Responsibilities include areas of real estate development, facility management, building operations, and franchise. He has been working with the establishment of construction facilities and service management. For the last half year, Tony has become responsible for the tactical and strategic work between the departments of marketing, real estate, and human resources.
4.Johanna	a) Climate	i.21.04.2020	Johanna started working with MAX Burgers in 2010. She has been
Brunge Grant	strategist at ZeroMission b) Current c) External	ii. 97 min	active in consulting MAX Burgers over the questions related to PlanVivo standard certificates, carbon offsetting projects in Uganda and Mexico, as well as media and communication concerns.
5.Anders	a) Head of	i.22.04.2020	Anders worked at MAX between 1990 and 2013; for the last 12
Forssten	Marketing b) Former c) Internal	ii. 58 min	years, he was the Cheif Marketing Officer. His position included responsibilities in markeing, PR communications, business development, and markeing via digital platforms.
6. Katrin	a) Consultant and	i.23.04.2020	Katrin has been consulting MAX since 2007 over the climate
Dahlgren	co-owner U&We b) Current c)External	ii. 55 min	impact calculations and preparing the annual assessment of carbon footprint reports.
7. Marita Wengelin	a) Head of Public Relations and Corporate Communications b) Current c) Internal	i.29.04.2020 ii. 66 min	Marita has been working in the restaurant industry for almost 30 years. She joined MAX in 2016 as a Head of Public Relations and Press Officer at the similar time when Kaj as an internal employee. Marita is responsible for building communications, marketing, and publuc relations and has played a key role at MAX in communicating the MAX's case on the tree planting study to the media. For that reason, she has been closely working with Kaj and the team from U&We and ZeroMission over the topic of sustainability in general and climate related topics.

# Appendix 4. Supporting terminology for coding the interviews for analysis of areas of influence

Area of influence	Supporting terminlogy for scoping the codes	Intervews
Top management	"executive," "company boards," "owners," "key	All respondents
	individuals at MAX," "Kaj Török," "Pär	
	Larshans," etc.	
Employees	"line managers," "staff," "employees," etc.	Kaj Török, Pär Larshans, Anders
		Forssten, Tony Jakobsson
Budget	"allocation," "money," "internal finances,"	Kaj Török, Pär Larshans, Anders
	"enough budget," "cost reducing activities,"	Forssten, Tony Jakobsson
	"profit," "sales," etc.	
Ethical motives	"core values," "vision," "right thing to do,"	All respondents
	"genuine," "mission," etc.	
Suppliers	"supply chain," "ingredients," "raw material,"	Kaj Török, Marita Wengelin
	"supplier," etc.	
Regulatory influence	"government," "system," "high court,"	Kaj Török, Johanna Brunge
	"regulations," "tax agency," etc.	
Customers	"visitors," "guests," "consumers," "customers,"	Kaj Török, Pär Larshans, Anders
	etc.	Forssten, Marita Wengelin
Competitiveness	"competetive advantage," "compete," etc.	Kaj Török, Tony Jakobsson
Public society and	"concerns," "criticize," "recognize," etc.	Kaj Török, Pär Larshans, Johanna
media		Brunge, Marita Wengelin
Technological	"product develepment," "technologies,"	Tony Jakobsson
advancement	"solutions," etc.	